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CORPORATE PROFILE

Anchun specialises in integrated chemical systems 
engineering, environmental system engineering 
and technology solutions that are environmentally 
friendly and energy-efficient to the petrochemical 
and chemical industry in People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”) in particular, ammonia and methanol 
industries. Today, we are an one-stop solutions 
provider offering a full scope of services ranging from 
design,  manufacturing to system production and 
project management for our customers.

Anchun is led by our senior management team 
with in-depth knowledge and experiences in 
technology, marketing and management. Anchun 
has a professional and dedicated team of senior and 
national registered engineers with strong capabilities 
in research and developments. Efficient, professional, 
completed integrated business model and diversified 
services, as well as independent intellectual property 
rights in its innovative technologies and products have 
provided Anchun an unique competitive advantage 
in the industry whereby its technologies and products 
are applied to more than 300 enterprises in 31 
provinces and municipalities in PRC. It has made 
Anchun to be one of the leading solutions providers in 
PRC and has a strong market influence on its industry.

Over the years, we have been awarded forty-nine 
(49) patents in PRC, four (4) patents in United States 
and one (1) patent in Canada and also participated 
in the formulation of six (6) standards for chemical 
industry in PRC. Our advanced technologies in 
engineering and environmental designs, and key 
equipment and catalyst technology have us awarded 
two (2) second prize for Scientific and Technological 
Progress in PRC and more than ten (10) first prize of  
Scientific and Technological Progress in Provinces of 
PRC including multiple awards and honours issued 
by government and respective industries which have 
make the competitiveness and innovation of Anchun 
to be advanced than other companies and lead the 
trend for industries’ technology and innovation. 
Anchun is located at the Changsha National Hi-Tech 
Industrial Development Zone in Hunan province 
with a total building area of 95,000 square meters 
which comprising two (2) Science and Technology 
parks with total area of 60,000 square meters and 
has one of the largest equipment and technology 
manufacturing for ammonia and methanol-related 
equipment in PRC. Anchun is listed in the Singapore 
Exchange Mainboard on 25 October 2010.

OUR CORE COMPETENCE 

With a key focus on sustainable development and 
stability, continuously advanced and new technological 
and improvements, Anchun has recorded and 
achieved a stable and sustained performance in 
chemical engineering industry over the past 30 years 
based on our successful and proven business model, 
the “Anchun Model” which has been widely praised 
by China’s petroleum and chemical industries.

	Specialises in integrated chemical systems 
engineering and technology solutions 

	Recognized intellectual property

	Well-qualified and experienced management and 
working teams with solid professional skills

	
	Most well represented ammonia and methanol    

technology provider with established track record 
of accountability and agility 

MARKET OPPORTUNITIES

Increasing emphasis by the Government of China on 
environmental protection and energy saving policies 
will pave the way for demand of systems and solutions 
that reduce carbon emissions, energy consumption 
and air pollution. These have wide impacts on industries 
such as oil and petrochemical, electric power, iron 
and steel, nonferrous metals, coal, building materials, 
chemicals and transportation, as well as state-owned 
enterprises that need to achieve reductions in their 
chemical oxygen demand and emissions of carbon 
dioxide, sulphur dioxide, ammonia, nitrogen oxides 
and other major pollutants to the national average 
levels. On this, Anchun’s outstanding innovation and 
multiple patented technologies and products which 
focus on energy conservation and pollution reduction 
are well position to meet the market’s needs.

As a major technology developer and reactor 
manufacturer in PRC, Anchun strives to capture these 
favourable opportunities in PRC for more efficient 
and more environmentally-friendly in engineering 
systems and solutions.
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WHAT WE OFFER

From System Design to Production and Project Management, we provide Integrated 
Chemical Systems Engineering and Technology Solutions for our clients.

DESIGN 
SYSTEM

SYSTEM
PRODUCTION

& PROJECT
MANAGEMENT

AFTER SALES

OUR
VALUE
CHAIN
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WHAT WE OFFER

AMMONIA 
METHANOL
SYNTHESIS

GAS 
PREPARATION

AMMONIA
Urea and compound 

fertilisers

METHANOL
Methanol fuel and 

other related products 
forenergy uses

GAS
PURIFICATION
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CEO’S MESSAGE

While FY2022 is expected to be 
another challenging year, we are 
geared to continue our momentum 
of exploring new opportunities that 
will further establish the Group as 
a major technology developer and 
reactor manufacturer.

ZHENG ZHI ZHONG 
CEO & Executive Director

ANCHUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.
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CEO’S MESSAGE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased 
to present the Annual Report of Anchun International 
Holdings Ltd. (“Anchun” or together with its 
subsidiary, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 
31 December 2021 (“FY2021”).
Despite the challenges arising from the Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic continued 
throughout 2021, we persevered and reached new 
milestones and explored new opportunities. Through 
our relentless efforts in developing the business, all 
our business segments reported revenue growth with 
total top line increase of 16% to RMB109 million for 
the year under review.
By continuing to align our strategies with the growing 
emphasis on developing products and technologies 
that focus on environmental protection, we made 
notable progress on the eight coking project 
orders and were awarded one turnkey contract for 
engineering, procurement, and construction (“EPC”) , 
and another two for engineering and procurement. 
Alongside our progress in China, we also achieved 
a long-term goal of venturing to new markets with 
projects secured in Thailand and Africa.
Efforts to manage the COVID-19 pandemic have had 
far-reaching consequences such as disrupted supply 
chains, economic volatility, monetary policy, etc. 
In 2021, the purchase price of industrial producers 
of ferrous materials  increased by 20.3% year-on-
year1. These fluctuations translated into delays in 
our procurement, delivery timings and production 
process. On the operations front, we faced power 
outages as regional authorities rationed power to 
meet China’s ‘dual control of energy consumption’ 
policy requirements. This was further compounded 
by government curbs on fertiliser exports and the 
severe flooding that affected millions. Meanwhile, 
the Group reduced its net loss attributable to owners 
from RMB11.4 million  the year before to RMB2.04 
million. 

REACHING MILESTONES
For the year under review, we continued to be 
resilient and forged ahead to overcome challenges 
and deliver on key projects. Highlights for the year 
include our work with Hejin Huayuan Gas Co., Ltd 
where we completed an EPC turnkey project for an 
ammonia synthesis unit with a capacity of 80,000 
Nm3/h coke oven gas which offers comprehensive 
recycling and co-production of LNG, methanol, and 
liquid ammonia.
The Group also completed an ammonia synthesis 
system for fine chemicals and new material recycling 
for Shanxi Yaxin Xinneng Technology Co., Ltd. The 
project ran optimally on first try and met all design 
requirements, an achievement that will further 
strengthen our standing in the coking industry.

STRENGTHENING OUR PORTFOLIO
Our strong track record enables us to ink new 
agreements with new and existing clients alike. New 
major projects in China include our EPC turnkey 
project with Inner Mongolia Guangju New Materials 

1 http://www.stats.gov.cn/xxgk/s j fb/zxfb2020/202201/
t20220112_1826191.html

Co., Ltd. for an ammonia synthesis process system 
of coal coking capable of poly-generation of up to 
5 million tonnes per year. This project is expected to 
begin contributing to Group revenue in financial year 
ending 31 December 2022 (“FY2022”).
We were also awarded two fine chemical high-
pressure reaction kettle series equipment projects. 
One project is for Jiangxi Yuean New Materials 
Co., Ltd. for a carbonyl iron synthesis  reactor series 
equipment, and another with Guangzhou Haohua 
Chemical Engineering Co., Ltd. for a high-pressure 
synthesis reactor series equipment.
As we continued to strengthen our position in 
the domestic market, we also achieved a key 
breakthrough during the year – penetration into 
overseas markets. We have signed on two projects 
beyond China’s borders, one in Thailand where we  
will provide engineering design and equipment of our 
CO isothermal shift technology to a natural gas based 
hydrogen production project. Another in Zambia, 
Africa, we will provide process design package and 
proprietary equipment for a 100,000 tonnes per year 
ammonia plant. Years of ground work in cultivating 
global footprints has brought us ground-breaking 
budding in 2021 and we expect pleasant blossoms 
and fruits to follow in the near future.
In total, the Group’s order book for FY2021 amounted 
to RMB221.7 million, a 25% increase over financial 
year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020”).
As we stay focused on growth amidst the challenging 
environment, we remain firm in our stand of 
maintaining financial stability. Despite the difficulties 
and uncertainties in the market environment, we have 
not made any borrowings from financial institutions 
and our cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 
2021 has increased by RMB37.3 million as compared 
to RMB112.37 million the year before.

GROWING THROUGH INNOVATION
At Anchun, innovation has always been a key driver of 
our progress and we constantly invest in research and 
development (“R&D”) to stay ahead of the curve. For 
the year under review, we were awarded two patents. 
One was for the structure optimization of an existing 
patent, the carbon monoxide (“CO”) isothermal shift 
reactor. The other patent was for the optimisation 
and improvement of the material selection and 
welding process for the existing ammonia synthesis 
waste heat recovery technology, making it more 
competitive in the market.
We have placed emphasis on these patents due 
to their growing relevance. The CO isothermal 
shift reaction technology has been listed as a key 
technology for energy saving and carbon reduction 
in the “14th Five-Year Plan” by the China Nitrogen 
Fertilizer Industry Association. Further optimization 
and improvement of the structure of the CO 
isothermal shift reactor will further adapt it to various 
working conditions and expand the use of the reactor, 
thereby enhancing its market competitiveness. 
In recognition of our contribution to innovation for 
the year, the government has awarded a subsidy 
income of RMB1.13 million which we will reinvest 
into further new technology development. In line 
with industry needs, our R&D focus will centre on the 
‘dual control of energy consumption’ policy which 
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CEO’S MESSAGE

aims to reduce energy intensity and to limit total 
energy consumption  This translates to a greater 
emphasis on greener versions of ammonia, alcohol, 
hydrogen, and further developing green and low-
carbon technologies and products.

OUTLOOK
The coming financial year is expected to be clouded 
by uncertainty as the COVID-19 pandemic remains 
a concern. The International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) 
said in its January World Economic Outlook update 
that global growth is expected to moderate from 
5.9 in 2021 to 4.4 percent in 2022 and may further 
slow to 3.8 in 2023. The IMF said that new Omicron 
COVID-19 variant has caused mobility restrictions to 
be reimposed, rising energy prices, supply disruptions 
and consequently, broad-based inflation2. 
Taking a longer-term view, we remain confident 
of our long-term prospects as the fundamentals 
underpinning the business remain intact. We mainly 
cater to China’s petroleum and chemical industries 
which are key pillars of the economy. These sectors 
have historically made steady progress and as our 
operations and customers are mostly in China, we are 
better positioned to overcome certain supply chain 
challenges.
However, we also temper our outlook with the 
understanding that much of the future remains 
uncertain. Key concerns for FY2022 include further 
increases in raw material prices and supply chain and 
logistics disruptions which may affect our delivery. 
We will continue to refine our working processes 
to minimise the impact of these disruptions while 
building and strengthening our working relationship 
with customers to improve our cooperation in 
managing unforeseen circumstances.
We will continue to keep close tabs on policy updates 
as the Government of China has announced changes 
to fine-tune its ‘dual control of energy consumption’ 
policy requirements which may impact customer 
investment behaviour. Furthermore, we will also keep 
track of significant events such as the United States’ 
Federal Reserve’s expected interest rate hike and the 
projected economic slowdown and inflation in China.

SUSTAINING OUR MOMENTUM
While FY2022 is expected to be another challenging 
year, we are geared to continue our momentum of 
exploring new opportunities that will further establish 
the Group as a major technology developer and 
reactor manufacturer.
A key focus will be in management and development 
of talents as our core competitiveness lies mainly 
with the capabilities of our people. The Group will 
continue attracting suitable candidates to strengthen 
its team and ramp up its technical capabilities. We 
will also enhance our in-depth cooperation with 
universities and research institutes.
Apart from the above, we have also outlined a multi-
pronged strategy for FY2022. The first is to build 
upon our successes in our EPC turnkey projects in 

2 https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2022/01/25/
world-economic-outlook-update-january-2022 

the coking industry and look to secure more such 
contracts and thus increase returns from all three 
major business segments.
Secondly, we will identify new areas of application 
for our patented technologies in the petroleum and 
petrochemical, and modern coal chemical industry by 
strengthening our cooperation with leading domestic 
design schools.
Next, we will continue to build on our R&D efforts 
as we seek new areas of use and application for our 
isothermal reaction technology due to its increasing 
relevance as highlighted above.
We will also be looking to grow our market share in 
the catalyst processing market through identifying 
new areas of application for hydrocarbon catalysts.
In line with the accelerated pace of the energy 
transformation and changes to the energy 
consumption structure, green-energy products such 
as green ammonia, green alcohol and green hydrogen 
are gradually gaining ground and projected to be 
the next focus of the industry. We are also aiming to 
develop solutions in these fields and secure a leading 
position.
In closing, we believe that our multi-layered plans, 
capabilities, and people enable us to chart an optimal 
course through the cloudy outlook and continue 
unlocking new avenues of value and growth for our 
stakeholders.
On the behalf of the Board of Directors, I would 
like to thank our customers, business associates, 
hardworking staff and shareholder for their faith and 
support. We look forward to continuing our journey 
with you to not only overcome but thrive in the years 
to come.

ZHENG ZHI ZHONG
CEO & Executive Director
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REVENUE
(RMB’ MILLION)

GROSS 
PROFIT

(RMB’ MILLION)

PROFIT/
(LOSS) 

AFTER TAX
(RMB’ MILLION)

FY2021

FY2020

FY2019

FY2018

FY2017

FY2021

FY2020

FY2019

FY2018

FY2017

FY2021

FY2020

FY2019

FY2018

FY2017

109.0

93.9

171.0

111.2

65.4

31.1

19.4

34.4

24.4

6.9

(2.04)

(11.4)

11.6

10.5

(38.1)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

YEAR IN REVIEW
For the financial year under review, the Group 
made steady progress, refining its capabilities, 
expanding its market reach, and improving returns 
while managing challenges arising from the ongoing 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Our efforts have yielded a 16% growth in Group 
revenue to RMB109 million for FY2021, a RMB15.1 
million improvement from the RMB93.9 million 
posted for FY2020.

While we still reported a net loss attributable to 
owners of the Company amounting to RMB2.04 
million, it was an improvement as compared to the 
net loss of RMB11.4 million in FY2020.

REVENUE FROM CATALYST BUSINESS SEGMENT
Our Catalyst business saw higher sales of ammonia 
catalysts which was a leading factor behind the 9%, 
or RMB1.0 million increase in revenue from RMB10.9 
million in FY2020 to RMB11.9 million in FY2021.

REVENUE FROM ENGINEERING SERVICES 
BUSINESS SEGMENT
Among the three business segments, our Engineering 
Services business segment recorded the highest 
increase in revenue at 119%. Driven mainly by 
returns from EPC Services and a higher percentage 
of completion of services contracts, this segment 
contributed RMB14.0 million to Group revenue as 
compared to RMB6.4 million in FY2020.

REVENUE FROM CHEMICAL SYSTEMS AND 
COMPONENTS (“CSC”) BUSINESS SEGMENT
The CSC business likewise improved, with revenue 
growing by 8% or RMB6.5 million to RMB83.1 million. 
The increases in FY2021 were largely attributed to the 
higher percentage of completion for CSC contracts 
and an increase in number of contracts in progress.

GROSS PROFIT
In line with the improved turnover, the Group’s gross 
profit increased by 60% or RMB11.7 million, to 
RMB31.1 million in FY2021 from RMB19.4 million in 
FY2020. Gross profit margin also improved from 21% 
in FY2020 to 29% in FY2021.

Gross profit for the Catalyst business increased by 
RMB0.3 million from RMB4.7 million in FY2020 to 
RMB5.0 million in FY2021 mainly due to increase 
of revenue from ammonia catalysts. However, the 
segment’s gross profit margin for FY2021 shrunk by 
1% to 42% due to a decrease in the proportion of 
hydrocarbon catalysts sold which have a higher gross 
margin.

Among the three segments, the CSC business posted 
the highest increase in gross profit with a RMB6.5 
million increase from RMB11.3 million in FY2020 
to RMB17.8 million in FY2021. This was mainly due 
to the higher percentage of completion for CSC 
contracts and higher revenue recognised due to the 
EPC Services. Furthermore, the decrease in allowance 
for inventory obsolescence amounting to RMB3.8 
million also contributed to the overall increase of 

RMB6.5 million. The segment’s gross profit margin 
increased to 21% from 15% mainly due to inventory 
obsolescence allowance and EPC Services which 
contributed higher gross margins.

For the Engineering design business, gross profit 
more than doubled from RMB3.4 million in FY2020 
to RMB8.3 million in FY2021. Gross profit margins 
improved in tandem, increasing by 7% to 59% for 
FY2021, from 52% in the year before. This was mainly 
due to the increase in revenue from EPC services 
which had contributed higher gross margins.

OTHER INCOME & OPERATING EXPENSES 
In FY2021, the Group’s finance and other income 
increased by 7% to RMB7.2 million for FY2021, 
mainly due to increase in the following three items: 
government grants by RMB0.2 million, rental income 
from investment properties by RMB0.1 million, and 
other income by RMB0.2 million.

REVENUE BY 
BUSINESS SEGMENT

76%, 
RMB83.1M

CSC Business

Catalyst Business

Engineering Services

FY2021FY2020

7%, 
RMB6.4M

11%, 
RMB11.9M

12%, 
RMB10.9M

13%, 
RMB14.0M

FY2021

FY2020

81%, 
RMB76.6M
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OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

In line with the Group’s improved sales performance 
for FY2021 and a higher sales staff headcount, sales 
staff’s salary and bonuses increased by RMB1.2 million. 
In addition, old-age insurance increased by RMB0.2 
million, thus resulting in the Group’s marketing and 
distribution expenses going up by RMB1.4 million 
or 27% from RMB5.2 million in FY2020 to RMB6.6 
million in FY2021.

In a similar vein, administrative expenses rose by 7% 
to RMB21.7 million from RMB20.3 million previously. 
This was largely due to higher unallocated plant 
overheads of RMB1.5 million charged to profit or 
loss under administrative expenses. Other notable 
increases include old-age insurance, factory repair 
and maintenance, and safety costs.

Research and development (“R&D) remains a key 
focus for the Group and for the year under review, 
we ramped up our research and development work, 
devoting more resources to the new structural design 
for internal vessel of CO shift reactor improvement 
efforts. As a result, research expenses increased 
by RMB4.9 million or 59% from RMB8.3 million in 
FY2020 to RMB13.2 million in FY2021.

On a separate note, the Group’s tax credit income 
was higher at RMB0.33 million for FY2021 mainly due 
to increase of income tax refund.

FINANCIAL POSITION
The Group’s non-current assets which comprised of 
property, plant and equipment, investment property, 
intangible assets, right of use assets, deferred tax 
assets and prepayments, decreased by RMB5.7 
million or 8% from RMB75.2 million as at 31 December 
2020 to RMB69.5 million as at 31 December 2021.

Likewise, the Group’s property, plant and equipment 
decreased by RMB6.1 million or 10% from RMB57.9 
million as at 31 December 2020 to RMB51.9 million 
as at 31 December 2021. This was attributed mainly 
due to depreciation charges of RMB8.7 million, and 
reclassification of property, plant and equipment 
to investment property of RMB2.6 million due to a 
change in use to a rental plant. The decrease was 
partially offset by additions during the year.

In contrast, current assets increased by 23% or 
RMB61.5 million to RMB333.8 million as at 31 
December 2021, from RMB272.3 million as at 31 
December 2020. Key factors for the rise include the 
increase in bills receivable of RMB28.8 million and 
the increase in cash and bank equivalents of RMB37.3 
million. These were partially offset by the decrease in 
trade and other receivables of RMB6.7 million due 
to settlements with our customers and settlements 
of outstanding bills receivable, and the decrease in 
contract assets of RMB6.5 million due to amounts 
being transferred to receivables when contractual 
payment milestones were reached.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s current liabilities 
amounted to RMB129.4 million, which is RMB58.4 
million or 82% higher than the RMB71.0 million as at 
31 December 2020. The increase in contract liabilities 
by RMB53.9 million was due to more progressive 
amounts received from customers according to 
the contracted payment terms before revenue can 
be recognised according to the Group’s revenue 
recognition policy. The reminder of the increase was 
due to a RMB3.6 million increase in trade and other 
payables due to increase of purchase of raw materials 
for new sale contracts, and a RMB1.3 million increase 
in other liabilities mainly due to increase provision of 
staff’s bonuses.

CASH FLOW
A welcome contrast with FY2020, the Group’s cash 
and cash equivalents increased by RMB37.3 million 
in FY2021. This was attributed to cash generated 
from operating activities of RMB42.3 million, net cash 
used in investing activities of RMB4.2 million and 
cash used in financing activities of RMB0.66 million.

ORDER BOOK
For the year under review, the Group has nearly 
doubled its order book. As at 31 December 2021, 
it stood at approximately RMB223.6 million, as 
compared to RMB118.6 million on 31 December 
2020. Within the order book, non-fertiliser contracts 
amounted to RMB182.8 million (31 December 2020: 
RMB90.7 million), attesting to our continued success 
in diversifying into the non-fertiliser industry.

Looking ahead, we are cautiously optimistic of our 
prospects for FY2022. The groundwork has been laid 
for further progress and we will keep close tabs on 
the pandemic and other challenges to adequately 
respond to challenges and opportunities alike.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Xie Ming is our Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Chairman and was last re-elected as a Director on  
29 April 2019. She was re-designated from Executive 
Director and CEO to Executive Chairman on 1 June 
2018. Subsequently, she re-designated to Non-
independent Non-executive Chairman on 1 December 
2020. She worked for specialty chemical companies 
and a research institute in the USA for 13 years prior 
to joining Anchun, first as an analytical chemist in the 
Health & Science Center of Louisiana State University, 
the research laboratory of INVISTA and then as a Sr. 
Chemist for Champion Technologies. Xie Ming earned 
her EMBA from Rice University, USA in May 2013. 
She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Specialty Chemical 
Engineering from Jiangsu Institute of Petrochemical 
and Chemical Engineering, China and a Master Degree 
in Science from Department of Chemistry, University of 
Louisiana at Monroe, USA.

Zheng Zhi Zhong is our Executive Director and Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and was last re-elected as a 
Director on 19 June 2020. He is responsible to execute 
the strategic business directions set by the Board, 
oversee the daily operations and business development 
of the Group, manage and lead the project management 
department. He was re-designated from Executive 
Director and Chief Operating Officer to Executive 
Director and CEO on 1 June 2018. He is currently 
the Legal Representative of the PRC subsidiary of the 
company, Hunan Anchun Advanced Technology Co., 
Ltd (“Hunan Anchun”). He has more than 20 years 
of extensive experience working in the industry and 
gained expertise in the areas of chemical engineering 
process design and programming, instrumentation 
and control system, information management, project 
management, reactor manufacture, marketing and 
sales. He started his career with Hunan Anchun in 1993 
as a Process Technology Programmer. Leveraging on 
his computer science knowledge, he worked closely 
with chemical engineers to develop the first generation 
computation software for Anchun’s key technologies. 
His main contribution includes the process design and 
programming of “IIIJ D Type Adiabatic Inner-cooling 
Split-flow Internals of Ammonia Synthesis Reactor” 
and “Process and Application of Syn-gas Purification 
AlcoholHydrocarbon Technology”, which won the 
National Scientific and Technological Progress Award 
(2nd-highest honours). Zheng Zhi Zhong is a certified 
Senior Engineer. He assumed the roles of IT Manager, 
Project Manager, Assistant General Manager, Deputy 
Manager and Executive manager in the past 28 years 
with Hunan Anchun. He also holds some social posts, 
including Standing Director of China Nitrogen Fertilizer 
Industry Association, Standing Director of Hunan 
Association for Science and Technology, Standing 
Director of Hunan Petroleum Association and Vice 
President of Hunan Petroleum and Chemical Industry 
Association. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer 
Science and Technology from Shenyang Industrial 
University.

XIE MING
Non-Independent, 
Non-Executive 
Chairman

Appointed on
2 November 2009

ZHENG ZHI ZHONG
Executive Director 
and Chief Executive 
Officer 

Appointed on 
1 June 2014
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Dai Feng Yu is our Executive Director and was last  
re-elected on 26 April 2021. She is responsible for overall 
research and development (“R&D”) including provision 
of basic supporting technologies, initiating new R&D 
projects and management of the company’s proprietary 
intellectual property rights. She has more than 30 
years of experience in the chemical industry. Between 
1988 and 1993, she was a R&D staff in Changsha 
Chromic Salts Factory responsible for catalysts quality 
improvement and new product development. Between 
1993 and 1998, she was head of the laboratory of 
Anchun Energy Saving and was responsible for the 
research and development of catalysts as well as the 
introduction of catalysts to the market. In 1998, when 
operations of Anchun Energy Saving ceased and Hunan 
Anchun was established, she remained The Head of 
the Laboratory of Hunan Anchun and was subsequently 
promoted to Deputy General Manager to be in charge 
of the overall R&D matters and management of Hunan 
Anchun’s proprietary intellectual property rights in 2002. 
She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Catalyst 
from East China University of Science and Technology 
(formerly known as the East China Institute of Chemical 
Technology). She was qualified as a registered senior 
engineer in 2001. She is also an expert database 
member of the National Energy Conservation Center 
and a standing director of the China Chemical Industry 
Environmental Protection Association.The significant 
awards that Dai Feng Yu has won include the 2003 
National Scientific and Technological Progress Award 
(2nd-highest honours) by the State Council in 2004, 
the Excellent Engineering Consultancy Award (2nd-
highest honours) by the China Petroleum and Chemical 
Engineering Survey and Design Association in 2006 ,the 
Outstanding Individual of Hunan Province contributed 
to scientific and technological progress by the Economic 
Committee of Hunan Province in 2008, and the 2016 
China Nitrogen Fertilizer Industry Technology Progress 
Award (First-prize) by China Nitrogen Fertilizer Industry 
Association.

Xie Ding Zhong is our Founder, Non-Executive Director, 
and member of the Nominating Committee, and was 
last re-elected as a Director on 19 June 2020. He was 
re-designated from Non-Executive Chairman to Non-
Executive Director on 1 June 2018. He has accumulated 
more than 40 years of experience in the chemical 
industry. Between 1961 and 1974, Xie Ding Zhong was 
a lecturer in the chemical engineering faculty of Hunan 
University. From 1975 to 1976, he was a technician in 
Dongting Nitrogen Fertiliser Factory. Between 1976 and 
1993, he was the chief engineer in Fertiliser Industry 
Company of Hunan Province, where he took charge of 
the production, R&D and system design of the small-
sized nitrogen fertiliser manufacturers and provided 
solutions to technological problems as well as promoted 
technical innovation in Hunan Province. Between 1993 
and 1998, he was the legal representative and general 
manager cum general engineer of Anchun Energy Saving 
in charge of the overall operations and management. In 
1998, when operations of Anchun Energy Saving ceased, 
he set up Hunan Anchun with our founding management 
team and then employees to carry on the business, and 
he has since then been the legal representative and 
general manager cum general engineer responsible for 
directing the strategic directions and growth of Hunan 
Anchun. Xie Ding Zhong graduated with a Bachelor’s 
degree in Chemical Engineering from Hunan University 
in 1961. In November 1999, he was qualified as a 
registered senior engineer (research fellow), which is the 
highest rank of engineers in the PRC. He is a committee 
member of various national specialist committees in 
the chemical industry, such as China Nitrogen Fertiliser 
Industry Association and China Petroleum and Chemical 
Engineering Survey and Design Association, etc. He has 
won numerous awards at the national, provincial and city 
levels in recognition of his achievements and contribution 
to the chemical industry. The significant awards that Xie 
Ding Zhong had won include the National Scientific and 
Technological Progress Award (2nd-highest honours) 
by the National Science and Technology Committee 
of PRC in 1995, and the 2003 National Scientific and 
Technological Progress Award (2nd-highest honours) by 
the State Council in 2004, which is regarded as one of 
the most prestigious awards in the PRC in recognition 
of achievement and contribution to scientific and 
technological progress. In addition, in recognition of his 
contributions towards the development of engineering 
technology in the PRC, he has been entitled to a special 
subsidy granted by the State Council since 1991.

DAI FENG YU
Executive Director

Appointed on 
9 September 2010

XIE DING ZHONG
Non-Executive Director

Appointed on 
2 November 2009
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Lee Gee Aik is our Lead Independent Director, 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, and member of the 
Nominating Committee. He was last re-elected on 26 
April 2021. He has over 40 years of extensive and varied 
experience in accounting, audit and tax with both 
KPMG Singapore and KPMG USA Executive Office and 
public accounting practice. He also had controllership 
and financial management role in the hospitality 
industry with a hotel chain from 1993 to 1998. He is 
a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants, United Kingdom, and the Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore. He also 
holds a Master of Business Administration from Henley 
Management College, United Kingdom. He is currently 
an Independent Director of Astaka Holdings Limited, 
SHS Holdings Limited and Uni-Asia Group Limited. 

Tan Min-Li is our Independent Director, Chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee and member of the 
Nominating Committee & Audit Committee, and was 
last re-elected as a Director on 26 April 2019. She is 
currently a partner at CNPLaw LLP (former known 
as Colin Ng & Partners LLP) , a firm of advocates 
and solicitors in Singapore, and has over 15 years of 
experience in the legal profession. Tan Min-Li has 
considerable experience in the areas of initial public 
offerings, regional investments, corporate restructuring, 
cross border joint ventures and mergers and acquisitions 
in the region. She regularly advises on Singapore 
Exchange compliance and corporate governance issues. 
Tan Min-Li heads the Corporate Finance Practice Group, 
Greater China Practice Group and Japan Focus Group 
at CNPLaw LLP. Her principal areas of practice are in 
corporate and financial services with particular emphasis 
on corporate finance and mergers and acquisitions in 
Singapore and the region. Prior to joining CNPLaw LLP 
in 2003, she was a partner with KhattarWong, a firm of 
advocates and solicitors in Singapore, and had also held 
other positions at other law firms since graduation. She 
graduated with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) from the 
National University of Singapore and a Master of Laws 
from University College London, University of London, 
and was admitted as an Advocate and Solicitor of the 
Supreme Court of Singapore in 1992. She currently also 
serves as Independent Director of Union Steel Holdings 
Limited and Ocean Sky International Limited.

LEE GEE AIK
Lead Independent 
Director

Appointed on 
9 September 2010

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TAN MIN-LI
Independent Director

Appointed on
9 September 2010
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Andrew Bek is our Independent Director, and member 
of the Audit Committee, and was last re-elected on 
19 June 2020. Andrew Bek started his career in Arthur 
Andersen & Co and was there from 1988 to 1997. He 
later joined a manufacturing company from 1997 to 
1998 overseeing the accounts and finance department. 
He was with Ernst & Young from Jan 1999 to May 2007. 
He was an Investment Director at OneEquity SG Private 
Limited from July 2007 to Jan 2020. 

Currently, he also serves as an Independent Director of 
a company listed on the SGX-ST Catalist Board. 

He formerly served as an Executive Director of two 
other companies listed on the SGX-ST. He graduated 
with an A Level.

He Ming Yang is our Independent Director, Chairman of 
Nominating Committee and member of Remuneration 
Committee. He was last re-elected on 26 April 2019. 
He is the Professor of the School of Petrochemical 
Engineering at Changzhou University from July 2006 
to present, Dean of the School of Petrochemical 
Engineering at Changzhou University from March 
2010 to April 2017. He researched on Synthesis, 
structure, properties and application of ion exchange 
polymer catalyses, Fine chemicals cleaning production 
processes and technologies and Clean environment and 
energyrelated metal-organic framework material (MOF). 
The project of Professor He Ming Yang researched was 
awarded the National Scientific and Technological 
Progress Award (2nd-highest honors) in 2006. He 
regularly contributes professional articles on national 
newspapers, periodicals and publications. He has also 
gotten many patents.

ANDREW BEK
Independent Director

Appointed on 
1 March 2014

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

HE MING YANG
Independent Director

Appointed on 
1 January 2019
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KEY EXECUTIVES

He Zu Bing is our Chief Financial Officer and was 
appointed to our Group on 20 March 2019. He 
is responsible for our Group overall finance and 
accounting functions. He has over 15 years of finance 
management experience. He worked as the Cost 
Accountant, General Ledger Accountant, Purchaser 
Member of Production Group and Deputy Financial 
Controller in Hunan Anchun since July 2010. He 
worked as the Accounting Manager in Hunan Guoda 
Investment Co., Ltd for more than 4 years since 2006. 
He has experience in enterprise finance management, 
accounting, tax, investment and finance management 
and internal control. He Zu Bing holds a China Certified 
Public Accountant certificate, and also possess the 
intermediate Accountants Certificate.

HE ZU BING
Chief Financial Officer

Li Juan is our Financial Controller and was appointed 
to our Group on 16 May 2017. She is responsible 
for our Group overall finance management. She has 
over 10 years of finance experience. She worked as 
the General Ledger Supervisor in corporations for 
more than 3 years since 2014. She has experience 
in accounting, tax, financing management and 
internal control. Li Juan holds a China Certified 
Public Accountant certificate, and also US Certified 
Management Accountant certificate.

LI JUAN
Financial Controller



1 BOARD STATEMENT 

We are pleased to present our annual 
Sustainability Report of Anchun International 
Holdings Limited and together with its 
subsidiary, Hunan Anchun Advanced Technology 
Co., Ltd. (collectively known as “Group”) 
for our financial year ended 31 December 
2021 (“FY2021”). This report is prepared in 
compliance with the requirements of Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) 
Listing Rules 711A and 711B, and references 
the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) 
Standards, Core option. This report highlights 
the key economic, environmental, social and 
governance (“EESG”) related initiatives carried 
throughout a 12-month period, from 1 January 
to 31 December 2021.

Sustainability is a part of the Group’s wider 
strategy to create long-term value for all its 
stakeholders. As such, the key material EESG 
factors for the Group have been identified 
and cautiously reviewed by the management. 
The data and information provided have not 
been verified by an independent third party. 
We have relied on internal data monitoring 
and verification to ensure accuracy of data 
and information. The board of directors of the 

Group (the “Board”) oversees the management 
and monitoring of these factors and takes them 
into consideration in the determination of the 
Group’s strategic direction and policies. We 
adopt the precautionary principle to minimize 
negative effects of conducting its business 
whenever feasible.

We welcome feedback from our stakeholders 
with regards to our sustainability efforts as this 
enables us to consistently improve our policies, 
systems and results. Please send your comments 
and suggestions to info@anchun.com.

31 March 2022

SUSTAINABILITY 
REPORT

15ANNUAL REPORT 2021   
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2 SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT 

An important starting point in our sustainability 
journey is to identify our stakeholders and material 
factors relevant to our business. The interests and 
requirements of key stakeholders are also taken 
into account when formulating corporate strategies. 
These key stakeholders include, but are not limited 
to shareholders, employees, customers, supplies, 
contractors and authorities.

We adopt both formal and informal channels of 
communication to understand the needs of key 
stakeholders, and incorporate these into our 
corporate strategies to achieve mutually beneficial 
relationships. 

Stakeholders Engagement Platforms Frequency of 
Engagement Key concerns raised 

Employees and Trade Unions Townhall sessions 

Open dialogues among teams 
Intranet portal 

Annually

Monthly
Ad-hoc

Compensation
 including annual
 increments
Health and safety
Training

Customers and consumers Hotline 
Email queries 
Customer visit 
Onsite audit 
Customer survey 

Ad-hoc
Ad-hoc
Quarterly
Annually
Annually

Product safety
Health and safety
Customer service

Suppliers and service providers Face-to-face meetings 
Annual review and feedback sessions 

Weekly
Annually

Positive relationship
Contract, credit and
 payment terms

Investors/Shareholders Group Annual Report 

Annual General Meeting 
Corporate announcements and
 financial results announcements
Informal discussion 

Annually

Annually
Semi-annually

Ad-hoc

Business growth and 
 opportunities
Business performance

Local communities Face-to-face meetings 
Various social events 

Ad-hoc
Quarterly

Impact to community

Media Media releases (e.g. magazine articles) Ad-hoc Business growth and
 transparency

Government and regulators Face-to-face meetings 

Regular reports 
Participation in discussions 

Ad-hoc

Quarterly
Quarterly

Compliance to
 regulations

Trade associations Engagements through business
 partnerships 

Leading working groups in industry
 associations

Quarterly

Annually

Contribute and support 
 the developments of
 industries

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

OUR 
SUSTAINABILITY 
METHODOLOGY

Plan and 
Scope

Engage
Stakeholders

Assess
Materiality

Collect 
Data

Report
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT 

Our sustainability process begins with the 
identification of relevant factors. Relevant factors 
are then prioritized to identify material factors 
which are subject to validation. The end result of 
this process is a list of material factors disclosed in 
the Sustainability Report. Process of which are as 
shown below:

IDENTIFICATION

PRIORITISATION

VALIDATION

REVIEW
Æ

Æ
Æ

The Group has conducted a materiality assessment 
during the year. We engaged our employees 
from different departments, seeking our internal 
stakeholders’ feedback for prioritization of these 
topics. Such materiality review will be conducted 
every year, incorporating inputs gathered from 
stakeholders’ engagements.

In order to determine if a factor is material, we 
assessed its potential impact on the economy, 
environment and society and its influence on the 
stakeholders. Applying the guidance from GRI, we 
have identified the following as our material factors: 

ECONOMIC
Economic Performance

Anti-Corruption

SOCIAL
Occupational Health and Safety

Diversity and Equal Opportunity

Socioeconomic Compliance

ENVIRONMENTAL
Energy

Environmental Compliance

GOVERNANCE
Corporate Governance

Risk Management

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

3 ECONOMIC

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to grow our customers and 
exceed our customers’ expectations and providing 
them with competitive edge products by enhancing 
operational efficiency by incorporating effective 
use of technology, develop performance measures, 
communicate outcomes and results and implement 
necessary changes to provide fast and high-quality 
services at a competitive transactional costs. 

For the financial year under review, the Group 
made steady progress, refining its capabilities, 
expanding its market reach, and improving returns 
while managing challenges arising from the 
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

Our efforts have yielded a 16% growth in Group 
revenue to RMB109 million for FY2021, a RMB15.1 
million improvement from the RMB93.9 million 
posted for FY2020.

While we still reported a net loss attributable to 
owners of the Company amounting to RMB2.04 
million, it was an improvement as compared to the 
net loss of RMB11.4 million in FY2020.

For detailed financial results, please refer to the 
following sections in our Annual Report:- 

 Financial Highlights, page 7
  Operations & Financial Review, pages 8 to 9
  Financial Statements, pages 66 to 129

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group does not tolerate corruption in any 
form. We communicated this externally with our 
customers and suppliers and internally with our 
employees.

We have established anti-corruption policy. We 
prohibit corruption in all forms, including extortion 
and bribery. As set out in our whistle-blowing 
policy, all complaints shall be reported to the Audit 
Committee Chairman and Company Secretary 
of the Company either in person via email to the 
provided address or via an email to designated 
officer that is only accessible by the Audit 
Committee Chairman. We have met the target we 
set last year and similar to FY2019 and FY2020, 
there were no reported incidents of corruption 
during FY2021. 

FY2022 Target: To maintain zero incidents of 
corruption.

GOVERNANCE

Corporate Gover-
nance

Risk Management

SOCIAL

Occupational Health 
and Safety

Diversity and Equal 
Opportunity
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4 ENVIRONMENTAL

ENERGY

The Group is fully aware of its responsibilities for 
nurturing the environment and reducing negative 
environmental impacts at our worksites and the 
environment where we operate. We monitor 
our energy consumption at our work places to 
ensure that we use our resources economically, 
meaningfully and responsibly. 

Electricity Consumption (kWh in million)

9

8
8.08

7

6

5
5.02

4
4.20

3

2

1

0

2019 2020 2021

Our energy consumption in FY2021 was lower than 
the 5.86 million kWh target we set last year. The 
significant decrease in our electricity consumption 
was mainly due to the lower business activities 
on the catalyst processing plant. The production 
equipment for our plant had been enhanced which 
enable us to reduce the amount of electricity used 
and improve production capacity.

FY2022 Target: Based on our projected production 
in FY2022, our target energy consumption is 7.99 
million kWh. 

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE 

China’s rapid economic expansion and past relaxed 
environmental oversight have caused a number of 
ecological problems. With increasing public and 
global pressure, the national government has set 
in place a number of measures to curb pollution 
in the country and improve China’s environmental 
situation. 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Environmental policy is set by the National 
People’s Congress and managed by the Ministry 
of Environmental Protection (MEP) of the People’s 
Republic of China. Under MEP, the Department 
of Policies, Laws and Regulations is in charge of 
establishing and strengthening environmental laws, 
administrative policies and economical regulations. 
It is also responsible for the development of 
national environmental protection policy and macro 
strategy.

At the Group, we have been adhering to local 
and international environmental guidelines. Our 
production facilities and processes have been 
awarded for engineering design with focus on the 
environment: 

 Class A Engineering Design (Ministry of Housing 
and Urban-Rural Construction, PRC) 

 Class A Environmental Engineering Design (Ministry 
of Housing and Urban-Rural Construction, PRC)    

 Pressure Pipeline Design (General Administration 
 of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine, 
 PRC)   

 Pressure Vessel Design (State Administration for 
Market Regulation, PRC)    

 Pressure Vessel Manufacture (State Administration 
 for Market Regulation, PRC) 
 
We are also ISO 9001 ‘Quality Management 
System’ certified (valid until 2023), an international 
guideline that ensure we meet the statutory and 
regulatory requirements while delivering high 
quality products and services to our customers.

We have achieved the target we set last year. There 
were no incidence of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations resulting in significant fines or sanctions 
in FY2021 (FY2020 & FY2019: Nil).  

FY2022 Target: To maintain zero incidents of  
non-compliance. 
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5 SOCIAL

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
Our employees’ safety and health at the workplace 
is one of our top priorities, and our ultimate goal 
is to have a zero-accident workplace. We are 
committed to managing and reducing safety and 
health risks through effective risk management. 
We are also ISO 14001 ‘Environment Management 
System’ and OHSAS 18001 ‘Occupational Health 
and Safety Audit & Certificate’ certified.

As we gradually resumed operations in phases, we 
placed great emphasis on managing the risk of 
COVID-19 outbreak within our facilities. We put in 
place safety measures in our operations like social 
distancing, mask-wearing, temperature checking, 
disinfecting and cleaning our facilities regularly, 
SARS-Cov-2 (COVID-19) Nucleic Acid Test, and 
conducting online meetings, as we began to adjust 
to these new normalcies. 

We regret to announce that we did not achieve the 
target we set last year. In FY2021, although there 
were zero major workplace injury cases, there were 
9 reported cases of minor injury at our operations  
(FY2020 & FY2019: Nil). 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

FY2022 Target: We will continue to focus on 
workplace safety at all times to maintain zero 
incident of major workplace injury and aim for not 
more than 7 cases of minor workplace injury.

DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY
Although the Group’s staff strength is very small, 
Anchun ensures compliance with labour and 
employment laws, including working hours. 
Furthermore, we ensure that no colleagues 
should be discriminated against because of age, 
gender, national origin, disability, religion, sexual 
orientation, marital or maternity status, union 
membership or political opinion, among others. 
Non-compliance in relation to discrimination is 
reportable through our whistleblowing system.  
Below shows the Group’s staff composition chart 
in FY2021. Our headcount increased to 273 in 
FY2021 as compared to 270 in FY2020 (FY2019: 
278). Due to the nature of work, our employees are 
predominately male staff. In this particular aspect, 
the Group does not favour male over female job 
applicants.

Employee Distribution (FY2019 to FY2021)

Gender

Female

Male19%

FY2021

Female

Male

FY2019

Female

Male

FY2020

 Length of Service

60%
FY2021

40%

20%

0%

<5 years 5-10 years 10-15 years

27%
15%

58%
60%

FY2020

40%

20%

0%

<5 years 5-10 years 10-15 years

23%
17%

60%
60%

FY2019

40%

20%

0%

<5 years 5-10 years 10-15 years

24% 28%

48%

Age

FY2021

>50 years

30-50 years

<30 years

35%

56%

9%

FY2020

>50 years

30-50 years

<30 years

32%

61%

7%

FY2019

>50 years

30-50 years

<30 years

22%

70%

8%

81%

18%

82%

19%

81%
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The labor union of the Group is operated by the 
existing employees. All the employees are members 
of the labor union. The labor union focuses on new 
employees orientation, team bonding, festival gift-
giving, and handling employees’ complaints. Our 
employees are not covered by collective bargaining 
agreements but are given the right to exercise 
freedom of association.

In FY2021, the labor union of the Group organized 
a variety of activities, such as providing assistance 
to employees in difficulty, distributing fruits during 
various festivals, and organizing winter fun games.
During the year, the company purchased Changsha 
Employee Medical Mutual Insurance for all our 
employees.

Similar to the past, we have achieved our target 
and there was no reported discrimination in the 
Group in FY2021 (FY2020 & FY2019: Nil). 

FY2022 Target: Zero complaints on discrimination. 
   
SOCIOECONOMIC COMPLIANCE

The Group was not subject to any substantiated 
complaints or incidences of corruption, bribery, 
anti-competitive behaviour, data loss or privacy 
breaches from FY2019 to FY2021, thus also 
achieving the target we set last year. There were 
no incidences of material penalties in relation to 
the sale of banned products, non-compliance with 
marketing and labelling regulations, Product Health 
and Safety, Occupational Health and Safety or 
environmental laws and regulations. 

We abide by the listing rules as stated in the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST on corporate governance 
and believe in the honesty, integrity and vigilance 
of our management and employees.

The Group embraces the philosophy of giving 
back to the community by encouraging proactive 
involvement in the Group’s various corporate 
social responsibility initiatives and environmental 
conservation programs. Contributing time and 
resources, we are committed to aid the development 
and improvement of the society in which we live and 
work.

FY2022 Target: To maintain zero incidents of non-
compliance. 

Memberships

The Group’s contribution to the industry and Hunan 
province is clearly marked by our management 
positions in key associations and professional 
organizations. 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

 Director Unit of China Petroleum & Chemical 
Engineering Survey And Design Association

 Standing Member of China Nitrogen Fertilizer 
Industry Association 

 Standing Member of China Chemical Industry 
Environmental Protection Association      

 Director Unit of China Petroleum Chemical Industry 
 Federation 
 Standing Member of Hunan Society of Chemical 

and Chemical Engineering 
 Director Unit of Hunan Survey and Design 

Association
 Director Unit of Hunan Provincial Association of 

Engineering Consultants 
 Vice President Unit of Hunan Petroleum Chemical 
 Industry Association 
 Member Unit of Chemical Catalyst Division 
 Technical Committee of National Standardization 
 Technical Committee of Chemical  
 Standing Member of Hunan Petroleum Society
 Member Unit of Hunan Association of Special
  Equipment Inspection 
 Vice President Unit of Changsha Special Equipment 
 Safety Management Association
 Member Unit of Changsha Work Safety Association 
	 Member Unit of China Chemical Industry Equipment 
 Association 

6 GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and the Management of the Group are 
committed to the leading practices in corporate 
governance to ensure sustainability of the Group’s 
operations. We believe that our constant drive 
for corporate excellence will allow us to establish 
a more transparent, accountable and equitable 
system, thereby increasing the value of the Group 
and its value to our shareholders. Please refer to 
pages 24 to 55 for details of the Group’s Corporate 
Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is committed to ensuring that the 
Group has an effective and practical enterprise 
risk management framework in place to safeguard 
Shareholders’ interests, and the sustainability of the 
Group as well as provide a basis to make informed 
decisions having regard to the risk exposure and 
risk appetite of the Group. For detailed disclosure 
on our risk management, please refer to page 40. 
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7 GRI STANDARDS CONTENT INDEX

GRI Standard Disclosure Reference/ Description

GRI 101: Foundation 2016

GENERAL DISCLOSURE

GRI 102: General 
Disclosures

102-1 Name of the organization Anchun International 
Holdings Ltd.

102-2 Activities, brands, products and services Pages 1 to 3

102-3 Location of headquarters Refer to Corporate 
Information section

102-4 Location of operations Page 1

102-5 Ownership and legal form Refer to Corporate 
Information section

102-6 Markets served Page 1

102-7 Scale of the organization Pages 19 to 20

102-8 Information on employees and other workers Page 19

102-9 Supply chain Pages 2 to 3

102-10 Significant changes to the organization’s size, structure, 
ownership, or supply chain

None

102-11 Precautionary Principle or approach Page 15

102-12 External initiatives Page 20

102-13 Membership of associations Page 20

102-14 Statement from senior decision maker Page 15

102-16 Values, principles, standards and norms of behaviour Page 20

102-18 Governance structure Page 20

102-40 List of stakeholder groups Page 16

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements None

102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders Page 16

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement Page 16

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised Page 16

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial statements Page 100

102-46 Defining report content and topic Boundaries Page 15

102-47 List of material topics Page 17

102-48 Restatements of information None

102-49 Changes in reporting None

102-50 Reporting period Page 15

102-51 Date of most recent previous report 31 March 2021

102-52 Reporting cycle Annually

102-53 Contact point for questions about the report Page 15

102-54 Claims if reporting in accordance with the GRI Standards Page 15

102-55 GRI content index  Pages 21 to 22

102-56 External Assurance Page 15

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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GRI Standard Disclosure Reference/ Description
MATERIAL TOPICS

GRI 201: Economic 
performance

201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed Page 17

GRI 205: Anti-corruption 205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to corruption Page 17

GRI 302: Energy 302-1 Energy consumption within the organization Page 18

GRI 307: Environmental 
Compliance

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations Page 18

GRI 403: Occupational 
Health and Safety

403-2 Types of injury and rates of injury, occupational diseases, 
lost days, and absenteeism, and number of work-related 
fatalities

Page 19

GRI 405: Diversity and 
equal opportunity

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees Pages 19 to 20

GRI 419: Socioeconomic 
Compliance

419-1 Non-compliance with laws and regulations in the social and 
economic area

Page 20
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REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Anchun International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and together with 
its subsidiary (the “Group”) is committed to maintain high standards of corporate governance by adopting 
and complying, where possible, with the Principles and Provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance 
2018 (the “Code”). Good corporate governance provides the framework for an ethical and accountable 
corporate environment, which will protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders (“Shareholders”) 
and promote investors’ confidence. 

This report describes the corporate governance framework and practices of the Group that were in place 
in the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021”) with reference made to each of the principles 
of the Code. The Company is generally in compliance with the principles and provisions as set out in the 
Code where they are applicable, relevant and practicable to the Group. Where there are any deviations 
from the Code, the Board considered alternative practices adopted by the Group are sufficient to meet the 
underlying objectives of the Code. Appropriate explanations have been provided in the relevant sections 
when there are deviations.

BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: The Company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and 
works with Management for the long-term success of the company.

The primary function of the Board is to provide effective leadership and direction to 
enhance the long-term value of the Group to the Company’s shareholders and other 
stakeholders. The Board oversees the business affairs of the Group. The Board has 
the overall responsibility for reviewing the strategic plans and performance objectives, 
financial plans, key operating initiatives, major funding and investment proposals, 
financial performance reviews and corporate governance practices.

The Board objectively discharges its duties and responsibilities at all times in the interests 
of the Group and hold Management accountable for the overall performance for long-
term success of the Group. All Directors, in the course of carrying out his or her duties, 
exercise due diligence and independent judgement, and act in good faith and in the 
best interests of the Group. 

In order to address and manage conflicts of interest, Directors are required to promptly 
declare any actual, potential and perceived conflict of interest, in relation to a transaction 
or proposed transaction at a Board meeting or by written notification to the company 
secretary (the “Company Secretary”). In addition, the Company has in place procedures 
for Directors to give general notice of any interests in any corporation or firm, in order 
to anticipate possible conflicts of interest between the Director and the Group. This 
procedure is conducted upon appointment and annually, prompting Directors to update 
any change in interests and/or confirm its previous disclosures. Directors that are in 
conflict of interest with the Company, whether actual or potential, are required to recuse 
themselves from discussions and abstain from voting on the matter.

Provision 1.1
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Continuous Training for Directors and Orientation for Incoming Directors

A formal letter will be sent to each new Director, upon his appointment, setting out 
the Director’s statutory duties and obligation. Newly appointed Directors undergo 
an orientation program with materials provided to help them get familiarise with the 
business and organisation structure of the Group. To get a better understanding of the 
Group’s business, the newly appointed Directors will also be briefed on their duties 
and obligations as directors. They are also given the opportunity to visit the Group’s 
operational facilities and meet with the Management to gain better understanding of the 
Group’s business operations. 

Any newly appointed Director who does not have prior experience of a director of a 
listed company in Singapore, will undergo mandatory training pursuant to Rule 210(5)(a) 
of Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) in the 
roles and responsibilities of a director as prescribed by the SGX-ST. 

During FY2021, no new Director was appointed. 

The Directors are kept informed of the applicable laws, rules and regulations, as well as 
changing commercial risks from time to time. Relevant updates or new releases issued by 
the SGX-ST and the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority which are relevant to 
the Directors or new articles/reports (if any) including analyst reports which are relevant to 
the Group are circulated to all the directors from time to time. The Group’s external auditors 
also provide periodic briefing to the Audit Committee (“AC”) on changes or amendments 
to the accounting standards and their impact on the financial statements, if any.

Provision 1.2

Matters Requiring Board Approval

The Board is entrusted with the responsibility for the overall management of the business 
and corporate affairs of the Group. 

The Group has adopted internal guidelines setting out matters reserved for the Board’s 
approval. Within these guidelines, the Board approves transactions that exceed certain 
thresholds. Board’s approval is required for other matters, including, inter alia, the 
following:-

(i) material investments, divestments or capital expenditure;

(ii) changes in the capital of the Company;

(iii) interested person transaction (as defined under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of 
the SGX-ST);

(iv) release of the Group’s half-year results and full-year financial results and release of 
annual reports; 

(v) dividends and other returns to shareholders; and

(vi) capital expenditure.

Provision 1.3
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Delegation of Authority to Board Committees

To facilitate effective management and assist in discharging the Board’s responsibilities, 
the Board has delegated specific authorities to various committees, namely AC, 
Nominating Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”) (each, “Board 
Committee”, and collectively, “Board Committees”). Committees or subcommittees may 
be formed from time to time to address specific areas as and when the need arises. 

All Board Committees, consist of a majority of Independent and Non-Executive Directors 
(or “Independent Directors”), are chaired by Independent Director. Functions of these 
Board Committees including their compositions, authorities and duties are clearly 
written in its terms of reference (“TOR”), which have been approved by the Board. 
The effectiveness of each Board Committee is constantly monitored and reviewed 
on a regular basis to ensure their continued relevance. The TOR in relation to scope, 
responsibilities and functions of the Directors in each Board Committee is provided in 
this Report. 

The Board accepts that while the Board Committees have delegated power to make 
decisions, execute actions or make recommendations in their specific areas respectively, 
the ultimate responsibility for the decisions and actions vests with the Board and the 
Chairmen of each Board Committee will report back to the Board with its decisions and/
or recommendations.

Provision 1.4

Meetings of Board and Board Committees

The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc Board 
meetings are convened as and when they are deemed necessary to address significant 
transactions and issues that may arise in between the scheduled meetings. These 
meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate the individual Director’s planning in view 
of their ongoing commitments.

To ensure maximum Board participation, the Constitution of the Company provides for 
meetings of the Board and Board Committees to be held via tele-conferencing, video-
conferencing, audio or other similar communication equipment. The Board and Board 
Committees may also make decisions via circulation of written resolutions. 

Provision 1.5 
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Details of the Board and Board Committees meetings held during FY2021 and 
attendance of each Director are summarized in the table below: 

Name Designation
Number of meetings attended / 

Number of meetings held
Board AC NC RC

Current Directors

Ms. Xie Ming Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman

4/4 – – 1/1

Mr. Zheng Zhi Zhong Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Officer

4/4 – – –

Ms. Dai Feng Yu Executive Director 4/4 – – –

Mr. Xie Ding Zhong Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director

4/4 – 1/1 –

Mr. Lee Gee Aik Lead Independent Director 4/4 4/4 1/1 –

Ms. Tan Min-Li Independent Director 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1

Mr. Andrew Bek Independent Director 4/4 4/4 – –

Professor He Ming 
Yang 

Independent Director 4/4 – 1/1 1/1

Access to Information

The Directors have unrestricted access to the Company’s Management, records and 
information, and all Board and Board committees’ minutes. Directors are also provided 
with agenda and meeting materials in advance of meetings, which include quarterly 
management accounts and summary data. The Management also endeavours to 
furnish the Board with information concerning the Group prior to meetings and on an  
on-going basis to enable them to make informed decisions and discharge their duties 
and responsibilities. 

Prior to each Board or Board Committee meeting, board papers and files are circulated 
for each meeting and the Board is provided with relevant background or explanatory 
information relating to the business of the meeting and information on major operational, 
financial and corporate issues. This is to give the Directors sufficient time to review 
and consider the matters being tabled and/or discussed. Any other matters may also 
be tabled at the Board meeting and discussed without papers being distributed. The 
Directors are entitled to request additional information as needed to make informed 
decisions. Management is invited to attend Board or Board Committee meetings to 
provide additional insights into matters being discussed, and to respond to any queries 
that the Directors may have. When circumstances require, Board members exchange 
views outside the formal environment of Board meetings.

Provision 1.6
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Access to Management and Company Secretary

The Board has separate and independent access to Management and the Company 
Secretary and where it is necessary for the Directors to seek independent professional 
advice to effectively discharge their duties, the Director can whether as a group or 
individually, seek the requisite advice at the Company’s expenses. 

The Company Secretary is responsible for, among other things, ensuring that the Board’s 
procedures are observed and the Company’s Constitution, relevant rules and regulations, 
including requirements of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, Companies 
Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, are complied with.

The Company Secretary or her representative attends and prepares minutes for all Board 
and Board Committee meetings. As secretary for all Board Committees, the Company 
Secretary assists in ensuring coordination and liaison between the Board, the Board 
Committees and Management. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the 
Board, the Chairman of Board Committees and Management in the development of the 
agendas for the various Board and Board Committee meetings.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a decision of the Board as a 
whole.

Provision 1.7

Board Composition and Balance

Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and 
background in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of 
the company.

The Board is able to exercise objective judgement independently from Management on 
corporate affairs of the Group as Independent Directors constitute half of the Board. As 
such, no individual or small group of individuals dominate the decisions of the Board.

Board Composition and Degree of Independence of the Board

The Board currently comprises eight (8) Directors, four of whom are Independent 
Directors. 

The composition of the Board is as follows: -

Executive Directors
Mr. Zheng Zhi Zhong 
Ms. Dai Feng Yu 

Non-Independent and Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Xie Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Xie Ding Zhong 

Independent Directors
Mr. Lee Gee Aik 
Ms. Tan Min-Li
Mr. Andrew Bek
Professor He Ming Yang

Key information regarding the Directors is also set out in this Annual Report.

Provision 2.1, 
2.2, 2.3, 3.3 

and 4.4
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Although the existing Board composition is not in compliance with Provision 2.2 of the 
Code, which states that the Independent Directors should make up a majority of the 
Board where the Chairman is not independent. Nevertheless, the Independent Directors 
make up half of the Board and the Company had appointed Mr. Lee Gee Aik as the 
Lead Independent Director, to provide leadership in the situations where the Chairman 
is conflicted, and especially when the Chairman is not independent. Therefore, the NC 
is of the view that the Board has sufficient independent element, and its composition is 
appropriate to facilitate effective decision-making.

On an annual basis, the NC will determine the independence of each Director, 
taking into consideration the SGX-ST Listing Manual, as well as whether there is any 
circumstance or relationship that might impact the Director’s independence or perception 
of independence.  Each Independent Director is required annually to complete an 
independence checklist and to declare whether they consider themselves independent 
– even if they have any of the relationships which are deemed to be non-independent 
based on the standards of independence in the Code. Such declarations assist the NC in 
its determination of the Directors’ independence.

All Independent Directors have made declarations on their respective status of 
independence and have confirmed that they do not have any relationships with the 
Company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers that could 
interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Directors’ 
independent business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company. 

Based on the confirmation of independence and self-declaration submitted by the 
Independent Directors, the NC has reviewed and determined that Mr. Lee Gee Aik,  
Ms. Tan Min-Li, Mr. Andrew Bek and Professor He Ming Yang are independent in 
character and judgement and there are no relationships or circumstances which are likely 
to affect, or could appear to affect, the Independent Directors’ judgement. The Board 
has accepted the NC’s assessment of Directors’ independence. 

Each member of the NC and the Board recused themselves from the deliberations on 
their independence.

Under Rule 720(5)(d)(iii) of Listing Manual of SGX-ST that came into effect on 1 January 
2022, the appointment of an Independent Director who has served an aggregate period 
of more than nine years (whether before or after listing) will be subject to a two-tier 
voting process. The continued appointment of such person as an Independent Director 
has to be approved in separate resolution by:
 
(a) all shareholders; and 

(b) shareholders, excluding the directors and the chief executive officer (“CEO”) and 
associates of such directors and CEO.

      
For the purpose of the resolution referred to in (b), the Directors and the CEO, and their 
respective associates, must not accept appointment as proxies unless specific instructions 
as to voting are given. Such resolutions may remain in force until the earlier of the 
following: (i) the retirement or resignation of that director; or (ii) the conclusion of the 
third AGM of the company following the passing of the resolutions.
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The resolutions for the continued appointment of Independent Director, once it is 
approved by the shareholders via a two-tier voting process, will remain in force until the 
earlier of the following (i) the retirement or resignation of the said Independent Director; 
or (ii) the conclusion of the third annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company 
following the passing of the said resolutions.

As of 31 December 2021, three (3) Independent Directors, namely Ms. Tan Min-Li, Mr. 
Lee Gee Aik and Mr. Andrew Bek have served on the Board beyond 9 years from the 
date of their initial appointment. 

In view of the above, the other Directors have been asked to particularly review and 
assess the independence of Ms. Tan Min-Li, Mr. Lee Gee Aik and Mr. Andrew Bek.

After due consideration and with the recommendation of the NC, the Board continues 
to regard Mr. Lee Gee Aik, Ms. Tan Min-Li and Mr. Andrew Bek as independent, 
notwithstanding the length of tenure of their service, after taking into consideration,  
inter alia, the guidelines for independence as provided for under the Code, the absence 
of potential conflicts of interest for the Independent Directors which may arise through, 
inter alia, a shareholding interest in the Company and/or business dealings directly or 
indirectly with the Group, and as they have demonstrated independence in character and 
judgment, through, inter alia, their contributions to Board discussions and deliberations 
and ability and preparedness to exercise independent business judgment and/or 
decisions with the view to the best interests of the Company, without undue reliance, 
influence or consideration of the Group’s interested parties such as the Chairman, the 
other non-independent Directors, controlling shareholders and/or their associates.

The NC and the Board have also evaluated the participation of Mr. Lee Gee Aik,  
Ms. Tan Min-Li and Mr. Andrew Bek at the Board and Board Committee meetings and 
determined that they remain objective and independent minded in Board deliberations. 
Their vast experience enables them to provide the Board and the various Board 
Committees on which they serve, with pertinent experience and competence to facilitate 
sound decision-making and that their length of service does not in any way interfere 
with their exercise of independent judgment nor hinder their ability to act in the best 
interests of the Company. Additionally, Mr. Lee Gee Aik, Ms. Tan Min-Li and Mr. Andrew 
Bek fulfil the definition of independent directors of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and 
the Code. More importantly, the Board trust that Mr. Lee Gee Aik, Ms. Tan Min-Li and Mr. 
Andrew Bek are able to continue to discharge their duties independently with integrity 
and competency. Mr. Lee Gee Aik, Ms. Tan Min-Li and Mr. Andrew Bek have recused 
themselves from all NC and Board deliberations and decisions relating to their continued 
independence.

Ms. Tan Min-Li, Mr. Lee Gee Aik and Mr. Andrew Bek have also voluntarily offered 
themselves to be subject to the two-tier voting process pursuant to Rule 720(5)(d)(iii) of 
Listing Manual of SGX-ST. 

Based on the foregoing, the NC and the Board has recommended to table the 
resolutions for the continued appointment of Mr. Lee Gee Aik, Ms. Tan Min-Li and Mr. 
Andrew Bek as Independent Directors at the AGM held on 26 April 2021, which had 
been approved by shareholders via two tier voting process. 

Alternate Directors

Currently, the Company does not have any alternate director on the Board. 
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Composition and Size of the Board

The Group recognizes and embraces the importance and benefits of having a diverse 
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The Board believes that board diversity 
is more than just about gender diversity and embraces other factors such as a need for 
individuals with different backgrounds, skill sets, life experiences, abilities and beliefs for 
a better Board performance. The NC reviewed the existing attributes and competencies 
of the Board and is satisfied that the Directors as a group have the appropriate mix 
of expertise to lead and govern the Group effectively. The diversity of the directors’ 
expertise and experience allow for the useful exchange of ideas and views providing 
a balance of views at Board and Board Committee meetings. The Board currently 
comprises three female (37.5%) and five male directors (62.5%) who, as a whole have 
relevant competence, in accounting, finance, legal or corporate governance, business 
management, relevant industry knowledge or experience, strategic planning and 
customer based experience. 

The size and composition of the Board and Board Committees are reviewed on an annual 
basis by the NC to ensure that there is an appropriate mix of skills, knowledge, expertise 
and experience, and collectively, possesses the relevant and necessary skills sets and core 
competencies for effective decision-making which the Group may tap on for assistance 
in furthering its business objectives and shaping its business strategies. The NC also 
strives to ensure that the size of the Board is conducive to discussions and facilitates  
decision- making.

As a Group, the current members of the Board bring with them a broad range 
of expertise in areas such as accounting, finance, legal, business and enterprise 
management experience as well as familiarity with regulatory requirements which 
provides core competencies necessary to lead and govern the Group effectively. Each 
Director has been appointed based on the strength of his calibre and experience. The 
Directors’ objective judgment, collective experience and knowledge are invaluable to the 
Group and allow for the useful exchange of ideas and views. 

The NC, with the concurrence of the Board, is of the view that the current Board size 
is adequate, taking into account of the scope and nature of the Group’s operations. 
In addition, the Board and the NC has taken into account, inter alia, the Directors’ 
contributions, scope of work and the wide spectrum of skill and knowledge and are 
satisfied that the current Board’s composition is appropriate for the Group. 

Provision 2.4

Meetings without the presence of Management

The Independent Directors and the Non-Executive Directors confer regularly with the 
Executive Directors and Management to constructively challenge and help to develop 
proposals on strategy, review the performance of the management in meeting agreed 
goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of performance. Where warranted, 
the Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors have conference calls and/
or meetings regularly without the presence of Management or the Executive Directors 
to review any matters that must be raised privately before providing feedback to the 
Chairman of the Board after such meetings. 

Provision 2.5
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and 
Management, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

The Chairman and CEO of the Company are separate persons. Currently, Ms. Xie Ming 
is Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Board, while Mr. Zheng Zhi Zhong is 
Executive Director cum CEO. The Chairman and the CEO are not related, and the roles 
of the Chairman and CEO are kept separate to ensure an appropriate balance of power, 
greater capacity of independent Board decision making and increase accountability.

Furthermore, the Board is of the view that there is a strong independent element on 
the Board to enable exercise of objective judgment of corporate affairs of the Group by 
members of the Board, taking into account factors such as the number of Independent 
Directors on the Board, as well as the size and scope of the Group’s affairs and 
operations.

Provision 3.1

Roles and Responsibilities 

The Chairman plays a key role in promoting high standards of corporate governance, 
ensures that board meetings are held when necessary and sets the board meeting 
agenda (with the assistance of the Company Secretary and in consultation with the 
CEO) and ensures that the Board reviews the Group’s strategic direction, expansion and 
business development plans formulated by the CEO. The Chairman also participates in 
communicating with key stakeholders, including shareholders and Management from 
time to time.

The CEO’s responsibilities, in addition to setting the strategic direction, formulating 
expansion  and business development plans, include managing the day-to-day business 
activities of the Group, executing the strategies and policies approved by the Board, 
reporting to the Board on the performance of the Group, providing guidance to the 
Group’s employees, and encouraging constructive relations between the Management 
and the Board.

Provision 3.2

Lead Independent Director

To promote a high standard of corporate governance, Mr. Lee Gee Aik has been 
appointed as the Lead Independent Director as well as the Chairman of the AC on 
9 September 2010. In accordance with the Code, Mr. Lee Gee Aik is available to 
shareholders when they have concerns where contact through the normal channels 
of the Chairman and CEO has failed to resolve the same, or for which such contact is 
inappropriate. 

Provision 3.3
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Board Membership

Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and  
re-appointment of directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of 
the Board. 

Composition and Terms of Reference of NC

The Board through the delegation of its authority to the NC has ensured that there is a 
formal and transparent process in the appointment and re-appointment of Directors who 
possess the relevant background, experience and knowledge in business, finance and 
management skills.

As at the date of this report, the NC consists of three (3) Independent Directors and 
one (1) Non-Independent and Non-Executive Director. The majority of NC members, 
including the NC Chairman, are independent. The members of the NC are as follows: -

a) Professor He Ming Yang (Chairman)
b) Ms. Tan Min-Li
c) Mr. Lee Gee Aik
d) Mr. Xie Ding Zhong
 
The principal functions of the NC in accordance with its TOR are set out as follows:

(i) to review and recommend the nomination or re-nomination of directors having 
regard to the director’s contribution and performance;

(ii) to determine on an annual basis whether or not a director is independent, guided 
by the guidelines contained in the Code regarding independence;

(iii) to decide whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his 
duties as a Director of the Company, particularly when the Director has multiple 
board representations;

(iv) to evaluate the Board, based on objective performance criteria; 

(v) to review Board succession plans for Directors;

(vi) to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each 
Director to the effectiveness of the Board; and

(vii) to determine the appropriate training and professional development programs for 
the Board.

The NC also determines, on an annual basis, the independence of the Directors. 
Based on the guidelines set out in the Code and the confirmations provided by the 
Independent Directors, the NC has assessed and affirmed the status of the Independent 
Directors as mentioned in relation to Provision 2.1 above.

Provision 4.1 
and 4.2
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Evaluation of the Board

In selecting and appointing a new Director, the NC will have regard to the desired 
competencies of the new Director so that he/she may complement the skills and 
competencies of the existing Board. Candidates may be suggested by Directors or 
Management or sourced from external sources.

The NC, after completing its assessment of the potential candidates, meets with the 
short-listed candidates to assess their suitability, before submitting the appropriate 
recommendations to the Board.

Presently, the Constitution of the Company provides that one third of the Directors for 
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to 
but not less than one third) shall retire from office by rotation at every AGM and are 
subject to re-nomination and re-election at every AGM at least once every three (3) years. 
It is also provided in the Company’s Constitution that the Directors appointed by the 
Board during the course of the year, must retire and submit themselves for re-election 
at the next AGM of the Company following their appointments according to the Article 
88 of the Company’s Constitution. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election by the 
Shareholders at the AGM.

The date of first appointment and last re-appointment for each of the Directors are set 
out below:

Name of Directors
Date of initial 
appointment

Date of last 
re-appointment

Ms. Xie Ming 2 November 2009 26 April 2019

Professor He Ming Yang 1 January 2019 26 April 2019

Mr. Zheng Zhi Zhong 1 June 2014 19 June 2020

Mr. Andrew Bek 1 March 2014 (note 1) 19 June 2020

Mr. Xie Ding Zhong 2 November 2009 19 June 2020

Ms. Tan Min-Li 9 September 2010 26 April 2021

Mr. Lee Gee Aik 9 September 2010 26 April 2021

Ms. Dai Feng Yu 9 September 2010 26 April 2021

Note 1 :  Mr. Andrew Bek also acted as alternate director of a former Director from 2 August 2010 to 1 March 
2014 before he was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 March 2014.  

In accordance with the Article 89 of the Company’s Constitution, Professor He 
Ming Yang, Ms. Xie Ming and Mr. Xie Ding Zhong will be retiring by rotation at the 
forthcoming AGM. After assessing their contributions and performance, the NC has 
recommended, with the concurrence of the Board, that the abovementioned three 
directors be re-elected as Directors of the Company.

Each member of the NC has abstained from voting on any resolution in respect of the 
assessment of his or her performance and contribution for re-appointment as Director.

Provision 4.3
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Commitments of Directors sitting on multiple Board

Although some of the Directors have multiple board representations, the NC and the 
Board were satisfied that sufficient time and attention had been given to the affairs of the 
Company by the Directors. Meetings of the Board and Board Committees are scheduled 
in advance to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to plan their schedules 
accordingly.  

The NC and the Board are of the view that the assessment of whether each Director 
is able to devote sufficient time to discharge his/her duties should not be restricted to 
only the number of board representations as it is for each Director to assess his/her own 
capacity and ability to undertake other obligations or commitments together with serving 
on the Board effectively. The NC, with the concurrence of the Board, has decided not to 
fix a limit on the number of board representations of each director as it considers that the 
board representations presently held by its directors do not impede the performance of 
their duties to the Company.

In arriving at the aforesaid conclusion, the NC had taken into account, inter alia, the 
contributions by the Directors during the meetings and attendance at such meetings. 
Each Director has objectively discharged his/her duties and responsibilities at all times as 
a fiduciary in the interest of the Company.

Provision 1.5 
and 4.5

Board Performance

Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and 
that of each of its board committees and individual directors.

The NC has adopted a formal process to annually assess the performance and 
effectiveness of the Board and its committees, as well as to evaluate the contribution 
of each Director to the effectiveness of the Board. The NC has adopted an assessment 
checklist, which includes various quantitative and qualitative evaluation factors, and 
disseminates the same to each Director for completion. The Board and the NC believe 
that the financial indicators are mainly used to measure the Executive Directors’ and the 
Management’s performance and hence are less applicable to the Independent Directors 
and Non-Executive Directors. All Directors are required to complete and send the 
evaluation forms to the Company Secretary for collation. 

The summary of the assessment results was presented to the NC for review and 
discussion. No external facilitator was engaged by the Company in FY2021.

The NC had conducted the Board’s performance evaluation as a whole, together with the 
performance evaluation of the Board Committees and each Director individually as well 
as Chairman of the Board. The performance criteria, as determined by the NC, cover the 
following areas:

(i) Board Composition and Structure; 
(ii) Conduct of Meetings; 
(iii) Corporate Strategy and Planning; 
(iv) Risk Management and Internal Control; 
(v) Measuring and Monitoring Performance; 
(vi) Training and Recruitment; 
(vii) Compensation; 
(viii) Financial Reporting; 
(ix) Chairman of the Board; 

Provision 5.1 
and 5.2
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(x) Board Committees; 
(xi) Board Contribution; 
(xii) Knowledges and Duties; and 
(xiii) Communication skills with internal and external parties i.e. Shareholders. 

The assessment parameters for each Director include their knowledge and abilities, 
attendance records at the meetings of the Board and Board Committees, and the quality 
of participation at meetings. The NC and the Board have relied on the above-mentioned 
parameters to evaluate the Directors’ contribution individually and have taken such 
evaluation into consideration for the re-nomination of the Directors.

The replacement of a Director, when it occurs, does not necessarily reflect the Director’s 
performance, but may be driven by the need to align the Board with the changing needs 
of the Group’s business and operations.
 
REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director 
and executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual 
directors and key management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or 
her own remuneration.

Composition and Terms of Reference of Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the RC comprises two (2) Independent Directors, Ms. 
Tan Min-Li and Professor He Ming Yang, and one (1) Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director, Ms. Xie Ming.  The Chairman of the RC is Ms. Tan Min-Li. 

The RC, which has written terms of reference, is responsible for: -

(i) recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the directors and key 
management personnel;

(ii) reviewing and determining specific remuneration packages for each Executive 
Director and key management personnel; and

(iii) reviewing all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, 
salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind.

The RC ensures that a formal and transparent procedure is in place for determining 
the remuneration packages of individual Directors and key management personnel. 
All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, 
allowances, bonuses, options and other benefits-in-kind shall be considered by the 
RC to ensure they are fair. Each member of the RC shall abstain from deliberation and 
voting on any resolutions in respect of his remuneration package during its meeting. Any 
recommendations are submitted for endorsements by the entire Board. 

In addition, where employees related to the substantial shareholders and Directors 
are employed, the RC will perform an annual review of such employees to ensure that 
their remuneration packages are in line with the staff remuneration guidelines and 
commensurate with their respective job scope and level of responsibilities.  

Provision 6.1, 
6.2 and 6.3
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In the case of service contracts, the RC will review the compensation commitments in 
relation to the Directors’ or key management personnel’s contracts of service, if any, 
which would entail in the event of termination with a view to ensure that such contracts 
of services, if any, contain fair and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly 
generous.

Access to Remuneration Consultants

No remuneration consultants were engaged by the Company during FY2021. The RC and 
the Board were of the view that the Company does not need to engage remuneration 
consultants as the remuneration for Executive Directors and the key management 
personnel are based on their respective existing service agreements. The RC has full 
authority to obtain any external professional advice on matters relating to remuneration 
as and when the need arises.

Provision 6.4

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel 
are appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of 
the company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the Company.

Remuneration Structure of Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel

In reviewing and determining the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and 
the Group’s key management personnel, the RC considers their responsibilities, skills, 
expertise and contribution to the Group’s performance when designing their respective 
remuneration packages. An appropriate proportion of their remuneration is linked 
to individual and corporate performance to align with the interests of Shareholders to 
promote the long-term success of the Company. All Executive Directors do not receive 
Directors’ fees. 

The RC assesses whether Executive Directors and Management should be granted 
options or shares, and if so, the applicable vesting schedules. 

Provision 7.1

Remuneration Structure of Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors

The Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors do not have service 
agreements with the Company. They are paid fixed Directors’ fees.  In reviewing the 
recommendation for Independent Directors’ and Non-Executive Directors’ fees for  
FY2021, the RC had continued to adopt a framework of base fees for serving on Board 
and Board Committees, as well as fees for chairing Board Committees. The fees take into 
consideration the level of contribution of each Board member, including, the effort and 
amount of time that each Board member may be required to devote to their role and the 
increasingly onerous responsibilities of the Directors. No Director is involved in deciding 
his/her own remuneration. The payment of Directors’ fees is subject to approval of the 
shareholders at each AGM. The Independent Directors have not been over-compensated 
to the extent that their independence is compromised.

Provision 7.2

Remuneration Framework

The Company uses contractual provisions or other measures to reclaim the incentives or 
any related payments from the parties involved should there be any misstatements of 
financial results, or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Group.

Provision 7.3
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Disclosure on Remuneration 

Principle 8: The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of 
remuneration, the procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between 
remuneration, performance and value creation.

Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel

A breakdown, showing the level and mix of each individual Director’s remuneration paid 
in FY2021 is as follows:

Name of Director Fee # Salary Bonus Benefits Total
Below S$250,000 % % % % %

Ms. Xie Ming 100 – – – 100

Mr. Zheng Zhi Zhong – 77 23 – 100

Ms. Dai Feng Yu – 78 22 – 100

Mr. Xie Ding Zhong 100 – – – 100

Mr. Lee Gee Aik 100 – – – 100

Ms. Tan Min-Li 100 – – – 100

Mr. Andrew Bek 100 – – – 100

Professor He Ming Yang 100 – – – 100

# Directors’ fees amounted to S$346,000 for FY2021 has been approved by the shareholders at the AGM 
held on 26 April 2021 (“2021 AGM”). 

A breakdown, showing the level and mix of top key executives in FY2021 is as follows:

Name of Key Management 
Personnel# Salary Bonus Benefits Total
Below S$250,000 % % % %

Mr. He Zu Bing 88 12 – 100

Ms. Li Juan 86 14 – 100

Note: 
# During the financial year under review, there were only two key management personnel. 

The aggregate total remuneration paid to or accrued to key management personnel (who 
are not Directors or CEO) amounted to SGD77,813.

The remuneration of each individual Director and key executive is not fully disclosed as 
the Company believes that disclosure may be prejudicial to its business interests given 
the highly competitive environment it is operating in. The RC has reviewed the practice 
of the industry in weighing the advantages and disadvantages of such disclosure.  As 
a Company with a small and tightly knit team, such disclosure may adversely affect the 
cohesion and spirit of teamwork prevailing amongst the employees of the Group and 
also retaining talent at the Board and top management level. Non-disclosures maintain 
confidentiality of remuneration, prevent poaching and also prevent internal comparison 
and maintain morale.

Provision 8.1 
and 8.3
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Notwithstanding the Company does not disclose the exact remuneration of Directors 
and key management personnel (who are not Director or CEO of the Company), the 
Board is of the view that the Company has provided sufficient transparency on the 
Company’s remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedure for 
setting remuneration and the relationships between remuneration, performance and 
value creation. Other than this, the Company has complied with the rest of the disclosure 
requirements under Provision 8.1 of the Code.
 
The Company has in 2014 adopted an employee share option scheme and performance 
share plan whereby employees and Directors (including Non-Executive Directors and 
Independent Directors) of 21 years old and above, and who are not undischarged 
bankrupts or entered into compositions with their creditors are eligible to participate. 
Controlling Shareholders and Associates of Controlling Shareholders are not eligible to 
participate. The scheme and plan is intended to align the interests of the employees with 
that of the Company’s shareholders.
 
The Company has a remuneration policy, which comprises a fixed component and 
a variable component. The fixed and variable components are in the form of a base 
salary and a variable bonus, respectively, and take into account the performance of the 
Company and the performance of the individual Executive Director and key management 
personnel, to allow for the alignment of their interests with that of Shareholders. 

The performance criteria used to assess the remuneration of Executive Directors and 
key management personnel is based on the revenue and profitability of the Group, 
and their individual leadership. There are currently no long-term incentives for the 
Executive Directors and key management personnel in their service agreements. The 
Executive Directors’ and key management personnel’s short-term incentives (namely 
the performance related variable component) proposed by the Non-Independent Non-
Executive Chairman are reviewed before being recommended by the RC for approval by 
the Board.

Remuneration of Employees who are Substantial Shareholder, or Immediate Family 
Members of Directors, the CEO and/or Substantial Shareholders of the Company

Save for Mr. Xie Ding Zhong, a Non-Executive Director, who is the father of Ms. Xie 
Ming, the Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Board, there is no family 
relationship between any of the Directors and/or the key executive, or between any of 
the Directors, key executive and substantial shareholder. 

In addition, there is no employee who is the substantial shareholder of the Company, 
or an immediate family member of a Director, CEO or a substantial shareholder of the 
Company, and whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000 during the financial year under 
review. 

Provision 8.2
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management 
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the 
interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Risk Management System

The Board as a whole is responsible for risk management and no separate risk committee 
has been established. The Management regularly reviews the Company’s business 
and operational activities and control policies and procedures, and highlights areas of 
significant risks to the Board. The Board then determines the Company’s levels of risk 
tolerance and risk policies, and oversees the design, implementation and monitoring of 
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

To ensure that internal controls and risk management processes are adequate and 
effective, the AC is assisted by various independent professional service providers. 
External Auditors provide reasonable assurance on the true and fair presentation of 
the Group’s financial statements. Internal Auditors provide assurance that controls over 
the key risks of the Group is adequate and effective. The External Auditors carry out 
statutory audits annually in accordance with their audit plan. Control observations noted 
during their audits and their recommendations thereto are reported to the AC. The AC 
will follow up to review the actions taken by Management to address the weaknesses 
highlighted based on the recommendations made by the External Auditors and Internal 
Auditors.

Assistance from Internal Auditors

To enhance the Group’s system of internal controls, the Board appointed an external 
professional firm, namely Peking Certified Public Accountants LLP (“Internal Auditors”), 
to review the Group’s internal controls system and recommend any improvements 
to internal control weaknesses noted, and to expand and enhance on its policies and 
procedures manual.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed 
by External and Internal Auditors and the reviews by the Management and the various 
Board Committees, the AC and the Board are of the opinion, that the Group’s internal 
controls, addressing financial, operational, compliance and information technology 
controls, and risk management systems are adequate and effective as at 31 December 
2021. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that Management maintains a sound system of 
internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. For 
FY2021, based on (i) the Group’s framework of management controls, (ii) the internal 
control policies and procedures established and maintained by the Group and (iii) regular 
audits and reviews performed by the Internal and External Auditors, the Board, with the 
concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the systems of internal controls and risk 
management within the Group are adequate and effective.

Provision 9.1
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The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework 
but recognizes that no cost-effective internal control system will preclude all errors 
and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss due to error, fraud or other irregularities.

Any material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted during the internal 
audit and the recommendations thereof are reported to the AC as part of the review of 
the Group’s internal controls system. 

The Board confirms that based on the internal controls established by the Group, 
work performed by the internal and external auditors, and reviews performed by the 
Management, the Board is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls, including 
financial, operational, compliance, information technology controls and risk management 
systems are adequate and effective to meet the needs of the Group for the type and 
volume of businesses conducted in the current business environment. The Company has 
complied with Rule 1207(10) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

Assurance from CEO, Chief Financial Officer and Financial Controller

The Board has also received the written assurance from the CEO, Chief Financial Officer 
and Finance Controller that: - 

(i) the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements 
of the Group for FY2021 give a true and fair view of the Company’s operations and 
finances; and 

(ii) the Group’s risk management and internal controls system in place are adequate 
and effective.

Provision 9.2

Audit Committee

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee which discharges its duties objectively.

Composition and Terms of Reference of Audit Committee

The AC comprises three (3) Directors, all of whom are Independent Directors. The 
members of the AC are as follows: -

i) Mr. Lee Gee Aik (Chairman)
ii) Ms. Tan Min-Li 
iii) Mr. Andrew Bek

Both Mr. Lee Gee Aik and Mr. Andrew Bek have accounting and/or related financial 
management backgrounds. The Board is of the view that the AC has the necessary 
experience and expertise required to discharge its duties as the majority of its members 
are trained in accounting and financial management.

The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and 
has full access to and co-operation of the Management and full discretion to invite any 
Director or key management personnel to attend its meetings. The AC has reasonable 
resources to enable it to discharge its duties properly.

Provision 10.1 
and 10.2
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The AC meets on a quarterly basis, and on an ad-hoc basis when required, during the 
year. The AC, which has written terms of reference, performs, inter alia, the following 
main functions: - 

(i) review the audit plan and discuss with the External Auditors, their evaluation of 
the system of internal controls, their audit report, their management letter and the 
management’s response;

(ii) review the internal audit plan and discuss with the Internal Auditors, their 
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls;

(iii) review the half yearly results and full year results before submission of the same 
to the Board for approval (including the significant financial reporting issues and 
judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements and any 
announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance); 

(iv) conduct an annual review of the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal 
controls and procedures with the External Auditors, Internal Auditors and the 
Management; 

(v) meet with External and Internal Auditors without the presence of the Management 
at least annually and review the co-operation given by the Company’s officers to 
External and Internal Auditors;

(vi) review the Group’s key risk areas, as identified by the External and Internal 
Auditors in the course of their audits; 

(vii) review the effectiveness, adequacy, scope and results of the external audit, and 
where External Auditors provide non audit services, review the nature, extent 
and cost of such services and the independence and objectivity of the External 
Auditors;

(viii) review the terms of engagement, appointment or re-appointment of the External 
and Internal Auditors and matters relating to their resignation or dismissal; 

(ix) review interested person transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the 
SGX-ST Listing Manual, if any; and

(x) any potential conflicts of interest.

In FY2021, the AC was kept abreast by the External Auditors of changes to accounting 
standards and issues which have a direct impact on financial statements. In the review 
of the Financial Statements for FY2021, the AC has discussed with Management the 
accounting practices adopted for the financial year, including accounting policies, 
accounting estimates and financial statements disclosures have been adopted. The AC 
has also reviewed the judgements made by Management and with the External Auditors 
which might affect the integrity of the financial statements. 
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Provided below is a high-level overview of the matters which were identified as the 
Key Audit Matters (“KAMs”) in the Independent Auditor’s Report on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for FY2021. These KAMs were discussed with the 
Management and External Auditors and in the review carried out by the AC:

Key Audit Matters 
How the AC reviewed and responded to 
the KAMs 

Impairment of trade receivables and 
contract assets
Refer to page 62 in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report

The AC discussed with the Management the 
approach taken to determine the impairment 
for trade receivables and contract assets at  
31 December 2021. The AC also reviewed 
the reasonableness of the basis of impairment 
and factors that influenced management’s 
judgement.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract 
assets was also an area of focus for the 
External Auditors. The External Auditors has 
included this item as a key audit matter in its 
audit report for FY2021.

Revenue from chemical systems and 
components (“CSC”) business and 
chemical engineering and technology 
(“CET”) engineering services
Refer to page 63 in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report

The AC discussed with the Management 
the approach and methodology used to 
determine cost estimates and budgets used 
in their application to measure the progress 
towards completion of contract, for CSC 
revenue recognised over time. The AC also 
discussed and reviewed with the External 
Auditors on the adequacy for provision for 
onerous contracts at 31 December 2021.

Revenue recognition from CSC business and 
CET engineering services was also an area of 
focus for the External Auditors. The External 
Auditors has included this item as a key audit 
matter in its audit report for FY2021.

Following the above review and discussion, the AC recommended to the Board to 
approve the FY2021 Financial Statements. 

The AC review annually the non-audit services provided by external auditors and 
determines whether the provision of such services affects their independence. During 
FY2021, the external auditors of the Group did not provide any non-audit services to the 
Group. The breakdown of fees (audit and non-audit fees) paid to auditors are set out in 
Note 95 of the Consolidated Audited Financial Statement of the Group for FY2021. Ernst 
& Young LLP and its member firms are the auditors of the Company and its subsidiary. 
The Board and AC are of the view that Company is in compliance with Rules 712 and 715 
of the SGX-ST Listing Manual in relation to its External Auditors.

Having reviewed the nature and extent of non-audit services rendered by the external 
auditors to the Company for FY2021, the AC is of the opinion that the nature and extent 
of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors. The AC had therefore recommended to the Board that the auditors, Ernst & 
Young LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming AGM of the 
Company.
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The auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept  
re-appointment.

In recommending the re-appointment of the auditors, the AC considered and reviewed 
various factors including the adequacy of resources, the experience of the auditing firm 
and the audit engagement partner, the firm’s other audit engagements, the number and 
experience of supervisory and professional staff to be assigned to the audit, the size and 
complexity of the Group and its businesses and operations. Following its review, the AC 
has recommended the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as external auditors at the 
forthcoming AGM of the Company. During the FY2021, Mr. Andrew Tan Chwee Peng, the 
new audit engagement partner has been appointed to replace Mr Tan Soon Seng who 
was the audit engagement partner since financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Whistle Blowing Policy

The AC is responsible for oversight and monitoring of the whistleblowing  and, has put 
in place a whistle-blowing policy (“WP Policy”) arrangement whereby the staff of the 
Group may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of 
financial reporting or other matters to the AC Chairman or the Company Secretary or the 
designated officer. Details of the WP Policy, together with the dedicated whistle blowing 
communication channels (such as email contact and address) have been made available 
to all employees. It has a well-defined process which ensures that the identification of the 
whistle-blower is still kept as confidential,  independent investigation of issues/concerns 
raised and arrangements in place for the independent investigation of such matters for 
appropriate follow-up actions to be taken and provides assurance that whistleblower will 
be protected from reprisal within the limits of the law or victimization for whistle blowing 
in good faith. Anonymous reporting will also be attended to and anonymity honored.  
Also, the AC reviews all the whistleblowing complaints (if any) at its quarterly AC 
meetings to ensure appropriate action is taken.

As there is any amendment or modification of the WP Policy regardless in whole or in 
part, at any time without assigning any reason whatsoever, it is subject to the approval 
of the Board of Directors. The latest WP Policy has been enhanced and adopted by the 
Board of Directors via the Board of Directors’ Meeting held on 6 August 2021.  

During FY2021, no whistle-blowing reports were received and reported to the AC 
Chairman or the Company Secretary or the designated officer.

The procedures for whistle-blowing are disseminated to new employees as part of their 
orientation training, with the contact information of the AC Chairman or the Company 
Secretary or the designated officer provided therein. 

Relationship with External or Internal Auditors 

The AC is satisfied that the Company has complied with Rule 712 and Rule 715 of the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST in relation to its auditing firms. No former partner or 
director of the Company’s existing auditing firm is a member of the AC (a) within a period 
of two (2) years commencing on the date of their ceasing to be a partner or director of 
the audit firm; or (b) holds any financial interest in the audit firm.

Provision 10.3
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Internal Audit Function

The AC approves the hiring, removal, evaluation and the fees of the Internal Auditors. 
The Internal Auditors have unfettered access to all the Group’s documents, records, 
personnel and the AC.

The Company has outsourced its internal audit function to Peking Certified Accountants 
LLP. The Internal Auditors’ primary line of reporting is to the AC Chairman.

The role of the Internal Auditors is to assist the AC in ensuring that the internal controls 
of the Group are adequate, effective and functioning as intended, to undertake 
investigations as directed by the AC and to conduct regular in-depth audits of high-risk 
areas. The AC is satisfied that the Internal Auditors are adequately resourced and have 
the appropriate standing to perform its function effectively. The AC is also satisfied that 
the Internal Auditors are suitably qualified and experienced professionals.

Peking Certified Public Accountants LLP is a member of Chinese Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. The internal audit work carried out is guided by the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing issued by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. 

The Internal Auditors had submitted a report to AC on their work conducted for 
FY2021. Management is working to ensure that timely and proper implementation of 
improvement measures are closely monitored and a follow-up review will be carried out 
by the internal auditors at a later. 

The Internal Auditors plan their internal work schedules in consultation with, but 
independent of Management. The audit plan is submitted to the AC for approval prior 
to the commencement of the internal audit work. The AC has reviewed the report of 
the internal audit conducted in FY2021 and is satisfied that the internal audit function is 
adequate and effective.

Provision 10.4

Meeting with External and Internal Auditors

AC meets separately with the External Auditors and Internal Auditors via teleconference 
without the presence of Management to discuss their findings and provide opportunity 
for the External Auditors and Internal Auditors to bring to its attention any significant 
matters encountered during the course of their audit.

Provision 10.5
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and conduct of general meetings

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to 
exercise shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views 
on matter affecting the company. The company give shareholders a balanced and 
understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects

Provision of Information to Shareholders

The Board is mindful of its obligation to release timely and fair disclosure of material 
information and does not practise selective disclosure. In line with the Group’s disclosure 
obligations pursuant to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the Act, the Board’s 
policy is that all Shareholders should be informed simultaneously in an accurate and 
comprehensive manner for all material developments that impact the Group via SGXNet 
on an immediate basis. The Group recognises that the release of timely and relevant 
information is central to good corporate governance and enables shareholders to make 
informed decisions in respect of their investments in the Company and will ensure that all 
information disclosed is as descriptive, detailed and forthcoming as possible.

Shareholders of the Company receive the annual reports and notices of AGMs which 
are also advertised in the newspapers within the prescribed deadlines prior to the 
AGMs. The Board encourages Shareholders’ participation at the AGMs and periodically 
communicates with Shareholders through SGXNet throughout the financial year. 
Similarly, Shareholders receive circulars and notices of Extraordinary General Meetings 
(“EGMs”) which are advertised in the newspapers within the prescribed deadlines prior 
to the EGMs. Shareholders are also informed of the voting procedures prior to the 
commencement of voting by poll.

Proxies

The Company’s Constitution allows an individual Shareholder to appoint not more than 
two proxies to attend and vote on his or her behalf at general meetings. In line with the 
Act, corporate Shareholders of the Company which provide nominee or custodial services 
to third parties, are entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote on their 
behalf at general meetings. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

During 2021 AGM, the shareholders were not able to attend the 2021 AGM physically 
due to COVID-19 pandemic and have appointed Chairman of the Meeting to attend, 
speak and vote on their behalf.

Provision 11.1

Separate resolutions

Separate resolutions on each distinct issue are tabled at general meetings. All resolutions 
at general meetings of the Company are put to vote by poll in line with Listing Rule 
730A. The results of the poll voting on each resolution tabled at general meetings are 
announced after the meetings at SGXNet. The Company has adopted polling as a cost-
effective method of conducting the polls.  

Provision 11.2
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Attendees at General Meetings

All Shareholders are entitled to attend general meetings of the Company and are 
afforded the opportunity to raise questions to the Board, participate effectively and to 
vote at such meetings.

The Board and the Management (including the chairpersons of the AC, RC and NC) are 
present at the general meetings to address any questions that shareholders may have. 
The External Auditors are also present at AGMs to address queries by Shareholders 
regarding the conduct of their audits and the contents of the auditors’ report.

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic whereby the 2021 AGM was held by way of electronic 
means, the shareholders were not able to attend the 2021 AGM physically.

Provision 11.3

Voting in Absentia

Voting in absentia, which is currently not permitted, may only be possible following 
careful study to ensure that the integrity of information and authentication of the identity 
of Shareholders through the web are not compromised, and legislative changes are 
effected to recognize remote voting.

Provision 11.4

Minutes of General Meetings

Under Provision 11.5 of the Code, the Company should publish the minutes of general 
meetings of shareholders on SGXNet and/or its corporate website as soon as practicable 
and such minutes shall record substantial and relevant comments or queries from 
shareholders relating to the agenda of the general meeting, and responses from the 
Board and management. The Company has adopted this practice since its AGM for the 
FY2019. The minutes of general meetings of the Company will be published on SGXNet 
and/or its corporate website at http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/ as soon as 
practicable, for the information of the shareholders.

Provision 11.5

Dividend Policy

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy.  The form, frequency and amount 
of dividend will depend on the Company’s earnings, general financial condition, results 
of operations, capital requirements, cash flow, general business condition, development 
plans and other factors as the Board may deem appropriate.

As disclosed in the Company’s results announcement for FY2021, the Board did not 
recommend any dividend for FY2021 due to the uncertainty and challenging global 
economic crisis following the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic. 

Provision 11.6
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Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilities the 
participation of shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow 
shareholders to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company is committed to maintaining and improving its level of corporate 
transparency of financial results and other pertinent information. Other than the routine 
announcements made in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Manual, the 
Company has issued additional announcements to update shareholders on the activities 
of the Company and the Group to keep the shareholders, investors and market apprised 
of corporate developments and financial performance of the Group.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure. Price-sensitive information is first 
publicly released via SGXNet before the Company meets with any group of investors or 
analysts.

The below section describes the Company usual practice for the conduct of general 
meetings prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020: -

l The Company encourages and values shareholders’ participation at its general 
meetings. At the general meetings, shareholders are given the opportunity to air 
their views and ask Directors or Management questions regarding the Company 
and the Group. The Directors meet or speak with Shareholders regularly, primarily 
through general meetings of Shareholders, to gather their views and address 
concerns.

l The Company puts all resolutions at general meetings to a vote by poll and 
announces the results by showing the number of votes cast for and against each 
resolution and the respective percentages. 

l The Company appoints an independent external party as scrutineer for the poll 
voting process. Prior to the commencement of a general meeting, the scrutineer 
would review the proxies as part of the proxy verification process. The outcome of 
the general meeting (including detailed results of the poll vote for each resolution) 
is promptly disclosed on SGXNET within the same day after the conclusion of that 
meeting. 

In view of COVID-19 situation and heighten safe distancing measures, the Company 
has conducted 2021 AGM wholly by electronic means on 26 April 2021, pursuant to the 
COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, 
Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 
2020 which was gazetted on 13 April 2020 including amended, varied or supplemented 
from time to time (the “Order”). Shareholders were invited to participate in the virtual 
2021 AGM by (a) observing and/or listening to the AGM proceedings via live audio-visual 
webcast or live audio-only stream; (b) submitting questions in advance of the 2021 AGM; 
and (c) appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to attend, speak and vote on 
their behalf at the 2021 AGM. 

Provision 12.1
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For 2021 AGM, the Company had responded the shareholders’ substantial questions 
and announced the Company’s responses to those questions from shareholders via 
SGX-Net on 24 April 2021. The Company has also published the minutes of the AGM 
proceedings, including responses to questions raised by shareholders in advance of 
2021 AGM at its corporate webpage at http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/ and 
SGXNet. 

To minimise physical interactions and COVID-19 transmission risk, the forthcoming 2022 
AGM to be held will also be convened and held wholly by electronic means pursuant 
to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangement for Meetings for 
Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture 
Holders) Order 2020. Such legislation will continue to be in force until revoked or 
amended by Ministry of Law.

Shareholders who wish to exercise their right to vote on any or all of the resolutions at 
the general meeting were required to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting(s) as their 
proxy by submitting the duly completed and signed proxy forms to designated email 
address and mailing address.

Shareholders are encouraged to submit their questions relating to the agenda of the 
AGM in advance prior to the AGM to designated email address and mailing address.

An independent scrutineer will be appointed to validate the proxy forms submitted 
by the shareholders and the votes of all such valid proxies were counted and verified. 
The voting results of all votes cast for or against each resolution will be screened at 
the meeting with respective percentages and these details will be announced through 
SGXNet after the meeting. The Company Secretary prepares the minutes of general 
meeting, which incorporate substantial and relevant comments or queries from 
shareholders and responses from the Board and Management. These minutes will also be 
publicly available at SGX-ST’s website and the Company’s website.

Investor Relations Policy

The Board places great emphasis on investor relations. The Company strives to maintain 
a high standard of transparency and promote better investor communication.  

The Company believes that a high standard of disclosure is essential to raise the level of 
corporate governance. Interim and full year results and press releases are published on 
SGXNet. All information of the Company’s new initiatives is first disseminated via SGXNet 
followed by a press release.

Where there has been an inadvertent disclosure made to a selected group, the Company 
will make the same disclosure publicly to all others as soon as practicable. 

Shareholders may also provide any feedback they may have about the Company to the 
Company’s email at info@anchun.com.

Provision 12.2 
and 12.3
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MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS’ RELATIONSHIPS

Engagement with stakeholders

Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and 
interests of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that 
the best interests of the company are served.

The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and 
interests of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to secure the  
long-term future of the Company. 

The Company’s efforts on sustainability are focused on creating sustainable value for our 
key stakeholders, which include communities, customers, staff, regulators, shareholders 
and vendors.

Nevertheless, the company has announced the price-sensitive information is publicly 
released and is announced promptly and within the mandatory period as required and 
its Sustainability Report 2021 announced together with this Annual Report. Detailed 
information is set out in this Annual Report at pages 15 to 22.

Provision 13.1 
and 13.2

Corporate Website

All material information on the performance and development of the Group and of the 
Company is disclosed in a timely, accurate and comprehensive manner through SGXNet, 
press releases, or the Company’s website at http://www.anchun.com.  

Provision 13.3

Dealing in Securities

In compliance with Rule 1207(19) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, the Company has adopted policies to 
provide guidance to its officers relating to dealings in the Company’s securities.

The Company and its officers are prohibited from dealing in the Company’s shares on short-term 
considerations or when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information. They are also 
not allowed to deal in the Company’s securities during the period commencing one month before the 
announcement of the Company’s financial statements for the half-yearly and full financial year and ending 
on the date of announcement of the relevant results.

The Company and its officers are required to report to the Company Secretary whenever they deal in the 
Company’s shares. The Company Secretary assists the Board in monitoring such share transactions and 
making the necessary announcements.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company does not have a general mandate from Shareholders for recurrent interested person 
transactions. The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transaction with an interested 
person, which sets out the procedures for review and approval of such transaction. 

All interested person transactions will be documented and submitted periodically to the AC for their review 
to ensure that such transactions are carried out on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms 
and are not prejudicial to the Company. 
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Details of the interested person transactions entered into by the Group for FY2021 as required to be 
disclosed pursuant to Rule 1207(17) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST are set out below: 

Name of interested person

Aggregate value of all 
interested person transactions 

during FY2021 (excluding 
transactions less than 

$100,000 and transactions 
conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all 
interested person transactions 
conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 

(excluding transactions less 
than $100,000)

Nil Nil Nil

Material Contracts and Loans

Pursuant to Rule 1207(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the Company confirms that except as 
disclosed in the Directors’ Statement and Financial Statements, there were no other material contracts and 
loans of the Company and its subsidiary involving the interests of the CEO or any Director or controlling 
shareholder, either still subsisting at the end of the financial year or if not then subsisting, which were 
entered into since the end of the previous financial year. 

Update on usage of IPO Proceeds

As at 31 December 2021, the net proceeds from Group’s initial public offering had been utilised in 
accordance with the intended purposes as follows:

Usage of IPO proceeds

Amount 
allocated

(RMB’000)

Amount 
utilised

(RMB’000)
Balance

(RMB’000)

(A) Expand our production facilities and 
capacities

84,238 24,015 60,223

(B) Enhance our R&D capabilities and widen 
our range of innovative and cost-effective 
solutions

15,479 15,479 –

(C) Working capital purposes 33,772 33,772 –

Total 133,489 73,266 60,223

The breakdown of working capital utilization is as follows:-

Usage of IPO proceeds for working capital
Amount utilised

(RMB’000)

For carbon monoxide shift catalyst unit and technology implementations (15,868)

For expanding sales and marketing capabilities and initiatives (6,206)

For developing of Engineering Procurement Constructions business (11,698)

Total (33,772)
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Key Information on Directors seeking Re-election pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of 
the SGX-ST

Professor He Ming Yang, Ms. Xie Ming and Mr. Xie Ding Zhong, are the Directors seeking re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM of the Company - (collectively, the “Retiring Directors” and each a “Retiring Director”). 

The Company has complied with Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual as the information relating to the 
retiring Directors who are submitting themselves for re-election, including their appointment dates, 
directorships held in other listed companies presently and in the past five (5) years, as well as their 
principal commitments, are set out below:- 

Name of Directors He Ming Yang Xie Ming Xie Ding Zhong

Date of Appointment 1 January 2019 2 November 2009 2 November 2009

Date of last 
re-appointment 
(if applicable)

26 April 2019 26 April 2019 19 June 2020

Age 60 years old 49 years old 84 years old

Country of principal 
residence

People’s Republic of 
China

United State of America People’s Republic of 
China

The Board’s comment 
on this appointment 
(including rationale, 
selection criteria, 
and the search and 
nomination process)

The Board has 
considered among 
others, the 
recommendation 
of the Nominating 
Committee and has 
reviewed and considered 
the contribution, 
performance, attendance 
preparedness, 
participation and 
suitability of He Ming 
Yang for re-election as 
Director of the Company 
and concluded that He 
Ming Yang possesses the 
experience, expertise, 
knowledge and skills to 
contribute towards the 
core competencies of the 
Board.

The Board has 
considered among 
others, the 
recommendation 
of the Nominating 
Committee and has 
reviewed and considered 
the contribution, 
performance, attendance 
preparedness, 
participation and 
suitability of  Xie Ming 
for re-election as Director 
of the Company and 
concluded that Xie 
Ming possesses the 
experience, expertise, 
knowledge and skills to 
contribute towards the 
core competencies of the 
Board.

The Board has 
considered among 
others, the 
recommendation 
of the Nominating 
Committee and has 
reviewed and considered 
the contribution, 
performance, attendance 
preparedness, 
participation and 
suitability of Xie Ding 
Zhong for re-election as 
Director of the Company 
and concluded that Xie 
Ding Zhong possesses 
the experience, expertise, 
knowledge and skills to 
contribute towards the 
core competencies of the 
Board.

Whether appointment 
is executive, and 
if so, the area of 
responsibility

Non-Executive Non-Executive Non-Executive

Job title (e.g. Lead 
ID, AC Chairman, AC 
Member etc.)

Independent Director, 
Chairman of Nominating 
Committee cum member 
of Remuneration 
Committee

Non-Independent 
Director and Member of 
Remuneration Committee

Non-Independent 
Director and Member of 
Nominating Committee
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Name of Directors He Ming Yang Xie Ming Xie Ding Zhong

Professional 
qualifications 

As set out in He Ming 
Yang’s profile write-up at 
page 13 of this Annual 
Report.

As set out in Xie Ming’s 
profile write-up at page 
10 of this Annual Report.

As set out in Xie Ding 
Zhong’s profile write-up 
at page 11 of this Annual 
Report.

Working experience 
and occupation(s) 
during the past 10 
years

As set out in He Ming 
Yang’s profile write-up at 
page 13 of this Annual 
Report.

As set out in Xie Ming ’s 
profile write-up at page 
10 of this Annual Report.

As set out in Xie Ding 
Zhong’s profile write-up 
at page 11 of this Annual 
Report.

Shareholding interest 
in the listed issuer 
and its subsidiaries

None Deemed interest of 
10,800,000 Shares held 
by Ace Sence Holdings 
Limited in the Company

Direct Interest of 120,000 
Shares in the Company

Any relationship 
(including immediate 
family relationships) 
with any existing 
director, existing 
executive officer, 
the issuer and/
or substantial 
shareholder of the 
listed issuer or of 
any of its principal 
subsidiaries

None Daughter of Xie Ding 
Zhong, Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director 

Father of Xie Ming, 
Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director 

Conflict of interest 
(including any 
competing business)

None None None

Undertaking (in the 
format set out in 
Appendix 7.7) under 
Rule 720(1) has been 
submitted to the 
listed issuer

Yes Yes Yes

Other principal 
commitments 
including 
directorships

Past (for the last 5 years)
(a) Nil

Present
(a) Levima Advanced 

Materials Corporation
(b) Nantong Xingchen 

Synthetic Material Co. 
Ltd

Past (for the last 5 years)
(a) Nil

Present
(a) Ace Sence Holdings 

Limited 

Past (for last 5 years)
(a) Nil

Present
(a) Ace Sence Holdings 

Limited
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Name of Directors
He Ming Yang Xie Ming Xie Ding Zhong

a. Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy 
law of any jurisdiction was filed against him/her or against a partnership of which he/she was a 
partner at the time when he/she was a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he/she 
ceased to be a partner?

No No No 

b. Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any 
jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person 
or a key executive of that entity or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a 
director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution 
of that entity or, where that entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the 
ground of insolvency?

No No No 

c. Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him?

No No No 

d. Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud 
or dishonesty which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?

No No No 

e. Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach 
of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal 
proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?

No No No 

f. Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil 
proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings 
(including any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?

No No No 

g. Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with 
the formation or management of any entity or business trust?

No No No 

h. Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any 
entity (including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the 
management of any entity or business trust?

No No No 

i. Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal 
or governmental body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of 
business practice or activity?

No No No 
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j. Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of :-

 (i) any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

 (ii) any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or

 (iii) any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or

 (iv) any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, 
in connection with any matter occurring or arising during that period when he was so 
concerned with the entity or business trust?

No No No 

k. Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, 
or has been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or 
any other regulatory authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in 
Singapore or elsewhere?

No No No 
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements of Anchun International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiary 
(collectively, the “Group”) and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

Opinion of the directors

In the opinion of the directors, 

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and the financial performance, changes in 
equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on 
that date; and

(b) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Zheng Zhi Zhong
Dai Feng Yu
Xie Ding Zhong
Xie Ming
Lee Gee Aik
Andrew Bek
Tan Min-Li
He Ming Yang 

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the directors of the Company to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body 
corporate.
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Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of 
directors’ shareholdings, required to be kept under section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967 (the 
“Act”), an interest in shares of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly owned subsidiary) 
as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name of directors

At the 
beginning 
of financial 

year

At the end 
of financial 

year

At the 
beginning 
of financial 

year

At the end 
of financial 

year

The Company
(Ordinary shares of the Company)

Xie Ding Zhong 120,000 120,000 – –

Dai Feng Yu – – 3,999,500 3,974,500

Xie Ming – – 10,800,000 10,800,000

Andrew Bek 1,600,000 1,600,000 – –

By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Xie Ming is deemed to have an interest in 10,800,000 shares 
of the Company through Ace Sense Holdings Limited.

Dawn Vitality International Limited holds 4,144,500 (2020: 4,169,500) shares, of which 170,000 shares are 
held on trust for certain employees under Anchun Performance Share Plan 2014. 

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the 
financial year and 21 January 2022. 

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had 
interests in shares, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either 
at the beginning of the financial year or at the end of the financial year. 



58 ANCHUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

Share options and share awards

In developing long-term incentive schemes, the Company’s main objectives are to provide its employees 
an opportunity to participate in the equity of the Company and to enhance its competitive edge in 
attracting, recruiting and retaining talented key senior management and employees. In line with these 
objectives, the Company has adopted the Anchun Performance Share Plan 2014 (“Anchun PSP”) and 
Anchun Employee Share Option Scheme 2014 (“Anchun ESOS”).

The Company has adopted the Anchun PSP and Anchun ESOS which were approved by the shareholders 
at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 29 April 2014. The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for administering the Anchun PSP and Anchun ESOS. 

In 2014, the Company has granted an aggregate of 1,700,000 share awards under the Anchun PSP to 
certain employees by way of transferring all its treasury shares to Dawn Vitality International Limited to be 
held on trust for such employees (the “EBT shares”). The 1,700,000 EBT shares under the awards were 
consolidated to 170,000 shares following a 10 to 1 ordinary share consolidation exercise effective from 26 
May 2016.

In 2017, employees of the Group became beneficially interested in an aggregate of 144,000 EBT shares 
after fulfilling the three years’ service condition of the awards granted to them in FY2014. Of the remaining 
26,000 EBT shares under the Anchun PSP, the Company has granted awards comprising 17,000 EBT shares 
to an employee on 29 December 2017. The employee will become beneficially interested in the 17,000 
EBT shares after fulfilling the three years’ service condition under the grant of the awards.

In 2018, the Company had granted awards comprising the balance 9,000 EBT shares available for 
allocation to the employees of the Group. As at 31 December 2018, the Company held 417,400 treasury 
shares pursuant to the exercise of its share buyback mandate obtained from shareholders. The Company 
granted an award comprising 160,000 treasury shares to Mr Zheng Zhi Zhong, the Executive Director and 
CEO of the Company on 13 September 2018. The 160,000 treasury shares will be transferred to Mr Zheng 
Zhi Zhong after he has fulfilled the three years’ service condition under the grant of the award.

In 2019, the Company held 1,809,000 treasury shares pursuant to the exercise of its share buyback 
mandate obtained from shareholders. No treasury shares were granted under Anchun PSP during the year.

In 2020, the Company held 2,309,100 treasury shares pursuant to the exercise of its share buyback 
mandate obtained from shareholders. During the year, one employee of the Group became beneficially 
interested in an aggregate of 17,000 EBT shares after fulfilling the three years’ service condition under 
grant of the awards. There were no additional treasury shares granted under Anchun PSP.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company held 2,809,100 treasury shares pursuant to the exercise of its 
share buyback mandate obtained from shareholders. During the year, one employee of the Group became 
beneficially interested in an aggregate of 9,000 EBT shares after fulfilling the three years’ service condition 
under grant of the award. During the year, Mr Zheng Zhi Zhong became beneficially interested in an 
aggregate of 160,000 treasury shares after fulfilling the three years’ service condition under the grant of 
the award. There were no additional treasury shares granted under Anchun PSP.

No directors or employees of the Group received 5% or more of the total number of share awards 
available under the Anchun PSP. Save as disclosed above, there were no share awards granted to directors, 
controlling shareholders of the Company and/or their associates.
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee (“AC”) at the end of the financial year were as follows: 

Lee Gee Aik (Chairman)
Tan Min-Li
Andrew Bek

The AC will meet quarterly to review, inter alia, the following:

l The audit plan and discuss with the External Auditors, their evaluation of the system of internal 
controls, their audit report, their management letter and the management’s response;

l The internal audit plan and discuss with the Internal Auditors, their evaluation of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the internal controls before submission of the results of such review to the Board for 
approval;

l The financial statements and half year results announcements before submission of the same to the 
Board for approval, focusing in particular, on changes in accounting policies and practices, major 
risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance 
with accounting standards as well as compliance with any stock exchange and statutory/regulatory 
requirements;

l The internal control and procedures and ensure co-ordination between the External and Internal 
Auditors and the Management, reviewing the assistance given by the Management to the External 
and Internal Auditors, and discuss problems and concerns, if any, arising from the interim and final 
audits, and any matters which the External or Internal Auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence 
of the Management where necessary);

l The Group’s key risk areas, as identified by the External and Internal Auditors in the course of the 
audits;

l The independence and objectivity of the External Auditors;

l The terms of engagement, appointment or re-appointment of the External and Internal Auditors and 
matters relating to their resignation or dismissal;

l Interested person transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual; 
and

l Any potential conflicts of interest.
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Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor.

On behalf of the board of directors:

Zheng Zhi Zhong
Director

Dai Feng Yu
Director

31 March 2022
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Anchun International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiary (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company 
as at 31 December 2021, statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the balance sheet 
and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and of the consolidated 
financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and 
changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for 
Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the 
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial statements.
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Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s trade receivable and contract assets were significant as these represent 24% of the total assets 
in the consolidated balance sheet. The gross carrying amount of trade receivables and contract assets 
amounted to RMB130.4 million as at 31 December 2021, against which an allowance for expected credit 
losses (“ECL”) of RMB35 million was made. The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade 
receivables and contract assets, which is determined based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and economic environment. These assessments 
inherently involved management judgement including the continuing impact of COVID-19 may have on 
the debtors’ businesses. Accordingly, we determined this as a key audit matter. 

We evaluated the Group’s processes and controls relating to the monitoring of trade receivables and 
contract assets including the review of credit risks of customers. In addition, our audit procedures included, 
amongst others, requesting trade receivable confirmations for selected trade debtors and checking to 
receipts from customers subsequent to the year end. For material contract assets balances, we reviewed 
progress of major contracts, as well as its billing milestones. We discussed with management on the 
recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets and inquired management if there are any known 
customers which are potentially more impacted by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which may then 
affect their ability to repay their debts.

We also evaluated management’s assumptions and estimates used to determine the trade receivables 
and contract assets impairment amount through analysis of ageing and consideration of their specific 
profiles and risks, review of customers’ payment history and correspondences between the Group and the 
customers. We corroborated these assumptions through our review of the customer’s financial position, 
where such information had been made available to us, and also considered the historical payment 
pattern. We evaluated management’s assumptions and inputs used in the computation of historical loss 
rates and assessed the reasonableness of management’s assumptions used in establishing the forward-
looking factors including the continuing impact of COVID-19 may have on customers’ businesses. We also 
checked the arithmetic accuracy of the ECL allowance computation.

The Group’s disclosures on the trade receivables, contract assets and the related risks such as credit 
risk and liquidity risk are in Note 21 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements. We assessed the 
adequacy of the disclosures.



63ANNUAL REPORT 2021   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF ANCHUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Revenue from chemical systems and components (“CSC”) business and chemical engineering and 
technology (“CET”) engineering services

The Group recognises revenue from sale of chemical equipment under the CSC business and from 
rendering of design services under CET engineering services over time by reference to the Group’s 
progress towards completing these contracts. The measure of the progress is determined based the 
proportion of contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs for each contract. The 
determination of total contract costs and costs to complete require significant management judgements 
and estimates, which may have an impact on the amounts of revenue and profits recognised during the 
year. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic related business disruptions have also increased the estimation 
uncertainty relating to budgeted time and cost required to complete ongoing projects. Accordingly, we 
identified this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures include understanding and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal controls with respect to the Group’s project management, the project cost estimation and 
budgeting process, and accounting for revenue from these contracts. We reviewed the robustness of 
management’s budgeting process by comparing the budgeted costs to actual costs incurred for major 
contracts completed during the year. For significant on-going contracts as at 31 December 2021, we 
reviewed the project files and discussed with management the progress of the contracts to determine if 
there are any adverse changes such as delays, penalties or overruns that could have a material impact 
on the estimation of contract costs. We evaluated management’s underlying assumptions made in 
estimating total costs to complete by comparing to actual costs incurred for past similar projects. For 
revisions made to budgeted costs, we discussed with project personnel and management on the rationale 
for such changes and checked the revision of the budgeted costs to supporting documentation. We also 
reviewed management’s assessment and estimation of the additional time and costs needed to complete 
the ongoing projects due to business disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, by taking into 
consideration past performance of the Group’s projects and current market condition due to COVID-19.

We checked the arithmetic accuracy of revenue and profit recognised based on the measure of progress 
calculation. We compared the contract revenue against the estimated total contract costs to assess if there 
is a need to consider provision for onerous loss-making contracts. We assessed the adequacy of provision 
for onerous contract provided by management by comparing unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations 
under a contract and the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

In addition, we evaluated the Group’s procedures and processes for recognising revenue from contracts 
with customers. We reviewed contractual terms and conditions for major contracts with customers. We 
also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in respect of revenue in Note 4 and 28 to the financial 
statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they 
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 
accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

l Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

l Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

l Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

l Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

l Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

l Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have 
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Andrew Tan Chwee 
Peng.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 

Singapore
31 March 2022
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TO THE MEMBERS OF ANCHUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Renminbi)

Group
Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue 4 109,042 93,920

Cost of sales (77,954) (74,502)

Gross profit 31,088 19,418

Other items of income
Finance and other income 5 7,233 6,746

Write-back of impairment losses on financial assets, net 21 910 –

Other items of expense
Impairment loss on financial assets, net 21 – (3,664)

Marketing and distribution expenses (6,558) (5,186)

Administrative expenses (21,759) (20,323)

Research expenses (13,223) (8,322)

Other expenses 6 (67) (110)

Finance costs 7 (4) (10)

Loss before tax 8 (2,380) (11,451)

Income tax credit 9 336 64

Loss for the year, representing total comprehensive  
income for the year attributable to owners of the  
Company (2,044) (11,387)

Loss per share (RMB cents):
Basic 10 (4.25) (23.44)

Diluted 10 (4.25) (23.44)
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Renminbi)

Group Company
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 51,859 57,892 – –

Intangible assets 15 664 896 – –

Right-of-use assets 16 12,248 12,655 – 42

Investment in a subsidiary 13 – – 75,631 75,596

Investment properties 18 3,748 1,710 – –

Prepayments 19 45 1,147 – –

Deferred tax assets 17 906 906 – –

69,470 75,206 75,631 75,638

Current assets
Inventories 20 31,591 27,929 – –

Trade and other receivables 21 63,956 41,872 38,317 47,257

Contract assets 4 81,105 87,629 – –

Prepayments 19 7,506 2,552 59 54

Cash and cash equivalents 22 129,678 92,368 10,349 5,111

Short term deposits 20,000 20,000 – –

333,836 272,350 48,725 52,422

Total assets 403,306 347,556 124,356 128,060
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Group Company
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 32,431 28,849 12,414 12,228

Contract liabilities 4 74,029 20,091 – –

Other liabilities 24 17,065 15,740 695 932

Lease liability 16 – 43 – 43

Provisions 25 – 38 – –

Income tax payable 5,853 6,196 – –

129,378 70,957 13,109 13,203

Net current assets 204,458 201,393 35,616 39,219

Total liabilities 129,378 70,957 13,109 13,203

Net assets 273,928 276,599 111,247 114,857

Equity attributable to owners  
of the Company

Share capital 26(a) 149,278 149,278 149,278 149,278

Treasury/employee benefit trust 
shares 26(b) (3,391) (3,021) (3,391) (3,021)

Other reserves 27 125,817 123,202 (10) 180

Accumulated profits/(losses) 2,224 7,140 (34,630) (31,580)

Total equity 273,928 276,599 111,247 114,857

Total equity and liabilities 403,306 347,556 124,356 128,060
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Renminbi)

Attributable to owners of the Company

Total
equity

Share 
capital 

(Note 26(a))

Treasury/
employee 

benefit 
trust

shares 
(Note 26(b))

Other 
reserves
(Note 27)

Accumulated 
profits

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
Opening balance at 1 January 2021 276,599 149,278 (3,021) 123,202 7,140
Loss for the year, representing total 

comprehensive income for the year (2,044) – – – (2,044)
Contributions by and distributions to 

owners

Grant of equity-settled performance 
shares 35 – – 35 –

Treasury and EBT shares reissued 
pursuant to vesting of performance 
share plan 20 – 245 (225) –

Purchase of treasury shares (615) – (615) – –
(560) – (370) (190) –

Others

Transfer to statutory reserve fund –  
safety production expenditure, net – – – 820 (820)

Transfer to statutory reserve fund, net – – – 1,985 (1,985)
Transfer to staff welfare payable, net (67) – – – (67)

(67) – – 2,805 (2,872)
Closing balance at 31 December 2021 273,928 149,278 (3,391) 125,817 2,224
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Renminbi)

Attributable to owners of the Company

Total
equity

Share 
capital 

(Note 26(a))

Treasury/
employee 

benefit 
trust

shares 
(Note 26(b))

Other 
reserves
(Note 27)

Accumulated 
profits

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
Opening balance at 1 January 2020 294,388 149,278 (2,420) 123,384 24,146

Loss for the year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year (11,387) – – – (11,387)

Contributions by and distributions to 
owners

Grant of equity-settled performance 
shares 57 – – 57 –

EBT shares reissued pursuant to vesting 
of performance share plan 24 – 43 (19) –

Purchase of treasury shares (644) – (644) – –

Dividends paid (Note 33) (5,838) – – – (5,838)

(6,401) – (601) 38 (5,838)

Others

Utilisation of statutory reserve fund – 
safety production expenditure, net – – – (256) 256

Transfer to statutory reserve fund, net – – – 36 (36)

Transfer to staff welfare payable, net (1) – – – (1)

(1) – – (220) 219

Closing balance at 31 December 2020 276,599 149,278 (3,021) 123,202 7,140
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Renminbi)

Attributable to owners of the Company

Total
equity

Share 
capital 

(Note 26(a))

Treasury/ 
employee 

benefit 
trust

shares 
(Note 26(b))

Other 
reserves 
(Note 27)

Accumulated 
losses

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Company
Opening balance at 1 January 2021 114,857 149,278 (3,021) 180 (31,580)
Loss for the year, representing total 

comprehensive income for the year (3,050) – – – (3,050)
Contributions by and distributions to 

owners

Grant of equity-settled performance 
shares 35 – – 35 –

Treasury and EBT shares reissued 
pursuant to vesting of performance 
share plan 20 – 245 (225) –

Purchase of treasury share (615) – (615) – –
(560) – (370) (190) –

Closing balance at 31 December 2021 111,247 149,278 (3,391) (10) (34,630)

Opening balance at 1 January 2020 124,655 149,278 (2,420) 142 (22,345)

Loss for the year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year (3,397) – – – (3,397)

Contributions by and distributions to 
owners

Grant of equity-settled performance 
shares 57 – – 57 –

EBT shares reissued pursuant to vesting 
of performance share plan 24 – 43 (19) –

Purchase of treasury share (644) – (644) – –

Dividends paid (Note 33) (5,838) – – – (5,838)

(6,401) – (601) 38 (5,838)

Closing balance at 31 December 2020 114,857 149,278 (3,021) 180 (31,580)
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Renminbi)

Group
Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Operating activities
Loss before tax (2,380) (11,451)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 8,725 8,942

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 407 492

Depreciation of investment properties 18 581 221

Amortisation of intangible assets 15 344 140

(Write-back of impairment)/impairment losses on financial 
assets, net 21 (910) 3,664

Allowance for inventory obsolescence 20 24 3,841

(Write-back of)/allowance for provision on onerous  
contracts, net 25 (38) 37

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net (73) (220)

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 14 43 95

Finance costs 7 4 10

Finance income 5 (1,679) (1,726)

Grant of equity-settled performance shares 35 57

Unrealised exchange loss 203 251

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 5,286 4,353

Changes in working capital 

(Increase)/decrease in:

Inventories (3,686) (5,422)

Trade and other receivables (21,174) 11,873

Contract assets 6,524 14,917

Prepayments (4,859) 559

Increase/(decrease) in:

Trade and other payables 3,384 (11,556)

Contract liabilities 53,938 2,466

Other liabilities and provision 1,258 (3,510)

Total changes in working capital 35,385 9,327

Cash flows generated from operations 40,671 13,680

Interest received 1,679 1,726

Interest paid (4) (10)

Income taxes refund (7) –

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 42,339 15,396
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Renminbi)

Group
Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment A (4,173) (3,188)

Purchase of intangible assets - software 15 (112) (831)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 97 235

Placement of fixed deposits – (20,000)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (4,188) (23,784)

Financing activities
Purchase of treasury shares 31(c) (615) (644)

Dividends paid 31(c) – (5,838)

Repayment of principal portion of lease liability 31(c) (43) (127)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (658) (6,609)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 37,493 (14,997)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 92,368 107,592

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (183) (227)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 22 129,678 92,368

A. Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Current year additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 5,378 2,235

Less: Payable to creditors (512) (314)

  Prepayments made in prior year (1,147) –

3,719 1,921

Add: Payments for prior year purchase 314 120

  Prepayments made in current year 140 1,147

Net cash outflow for purchase of property, plant and equipment 4,173 3,188
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. Corporate information

 Anchun International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated 
and domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited  
(“SGX-ST”). 

 The registered office of the Company is located at 138 Cecil Street, #12-01A Cecil Court, Singapore 
069538. The principal place of business of the Group is located at No. 539, Lusong Road, Changsha 
National Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone, Changsha City, Hunan Province, People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”) 410205. 

 The principal activity of the Company is an investment holding. The principal activities of the 
subsidiary are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (International) (SFRS(I)).

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below. 

 The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (“RMB’000”), except when otherwise indicated.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except 
in the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The adoption of these standards 
and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group 
and The Company.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

 The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but 
not yet effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning

on or after

Amendments to SFRS(I) 16: Leases: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 
beyond 30 June 2021

1 April 2021

Annual Improvements to SFRS(I)s 2018-2020 1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 3: Business Combinations: Reference to the 
Conceptual Framework 

1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds 
before Intended Use  

1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets: Onerous contracts - Cost of fulfilling a Contract 

1 January 2022

SFRS(I) 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements: 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements and 
SFRS(I) Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to 
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and 
SFRS(I) 1-28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture 

Date to be determined

 The directors expect that the adoption of the standards and amendments above will have no 
material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application.

2.4 Basis of consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, 
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the 
Group has: 

 l Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee) 

 l Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
 l The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

 The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary 
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control 
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains 
control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the 
equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to 
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. 

 If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), 
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. 

 Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying the 
pooling of interest method. 

 Apart from the above, business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 
which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests 
in the acquire at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 

 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability 
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at 
fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss in accordance 
with SFRS(I) 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within scope of SFRS(I) 9 is measured at 
fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

 Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held 
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets 
acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether 
it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews 
the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the 
reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate 
consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

 After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquire are assigned to 
those units. 

 Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) and part of the operation 
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the 
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed 
in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

2.5 Foreign currency

 The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the Company and its 
subsidiary’s functional currency. 

 Transactions and balances

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in RMB and are recorded on initial recognition in 
RMB at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, 
property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

 The cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
property, plant and equipment. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised 
as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

 When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, 
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, 
respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All 
other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as 
follows:

  Years
 
 Buildings 20
 Machinery 5 to 15
 Office equipment and furniture 5
 Motor vehicles 5

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and 
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition 
of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.7 Intangible assets

 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets are not capitalised and expenditure is 
reflected in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

 Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over their estimated useful lives and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as 
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 

 Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in 
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

 Computer software

 Computer software is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment loss. It is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives of 3 years.
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2.8 Investment properties

 Investment properties are properties that are owned by the Group that are held to earn rentals or for 
capital appreciation, or both, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or 
for administrative purposes, or in the ordinary course of business. Investment properties comprise 
completed investment properties and properties that are being constructed or developed for future 
use as investment properties.

 Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. The Group 
has adopted the cost model which is to measure investment properties at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis 
as disclosed in note 18.

 The carrying values of investment properties are reviewed for impairment when event or charges in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 
from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are 
recognised in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

 A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That 
increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit and loss.

2.10 Subsidiary

 A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

 In the Company’s balance sheet, investment in the subsidiary is accounted for at cost less 
impairment losses. 
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2.11 Financial instruments

 (a) Financial assets

  Initial recognition and measurement

  Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the entity becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.

  At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case 
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial 
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

  Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding 
amounts collected on behalf of third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant 
financing component at initial recognition.

  Subsequent measurement

  Investments in debt instruments

  Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model 
for managing the asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The three 
measurement categories for classification of debt instruments are amortised cost, fair value 
through OCI and FVPL. The Company only has debt instruments at amortised cost.

  Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. 
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are 
derecognised or impaired, and through amortisation process.

  De-recognition

  A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the 
asset has expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between 
the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or 
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 

 (b) Financial liabilities

  Initial recognition and measurement

  Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of 
its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

  All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities 
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
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2.11 Financial instruments (cont’d)

 (b) Financial liabilities (cont’d)

  Subsequent measurement

  After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or 
loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through 
the amortisation process. 

  De-recognition

  A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. On de-recognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the 
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

2.12 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not 
held at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts ECLs are based on the 
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective 
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other 
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

 ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit 
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a 
loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

 For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating 
ECLs. Therefore, the group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision 
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

 The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal or external information indicates 
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into 
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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2.14 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

 - Raw materials:  purchase costs on a weighted average basis.

 - Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of 
manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. These costs are assigned on a 
weighted average basis.

 When necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving items to adjust the 
carrying value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.15 Provisions

 General

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources embodying economic resources 
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

 Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost.

 Onerous contracts

 A contract is onerous when the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract 
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. When a contract is onerous, a 
present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a provision.

2.16 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress 
and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the 
assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity 
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
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2.17 Government grants

 Government grants are recognised as a receivable when there is reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. 

 When the government grants relate to an expense item, it is recognised in profit or loss as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs 
for which the grant is intended to compensate. The grants are presented as a credit in profit or loss, 
under a general heading such as “Finance and other income”. 

2.18 Research costs

 Research costs are expensed as incurred.

2.19 Employee benefits

 (a) Defined contribution plans

  The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the 
countries in which it has operations.  

  PRC

  The PRC subsidiary is required to provide certain staff pension benefits to their employees 
under existing PRC laws and regulations. Pursuant to the PRC laws and regulations, defined 
contributions are provided at rates stipulated by PRC regulations and contributed to a pension 
fund managed by government agencies, which are responsible for administering these 
amounts for the subsidiary’s employees. Pension contributions are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the related services are performed. 

  Singapore

  The Company makes contribution to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a 
defined contribution pension scheme. Pension contributions are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which the related services are performed.

 (b) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

  Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of shares as consideration for 
services rendered. The cost of these equity-settled share based payment transactions with 
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the shares at the date on which the 
shares are granted which takes into account vesting conditions. This cost is recognised in 
profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the employee share reserve, over the vesting 
period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of 
the number of shares that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of 
that period and is recognised in employee benefits expense. 
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2.19 Employee benefits (cont’d)

 (b) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (cont’d)

  Vesting conditions

  Vesting condition are conditions that determine whether the entity receives the services that 
entitle the counterparty to receive cash, other assets or equity instruments of the entity under 
a share-based payment arrangement. 

  Vesting conditions are limited to service condition (e.g., requires counterparty to complete a 
specified period of service). 

 (c) Employee leave entitlement

  Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued 
to the employees. The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

2.20 Leases

 The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. 

 (a) As lessee

  The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except 
for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities 
to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying 
assets. 

  Right-of-use assets

  The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the 
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement 
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows:

   Years

  Office space 2 
  Land use rights 33 

  If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the 
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The accounting 
policy for impairment is disclosed in Note 2.9.

  The Group’s right-of-use assets are disclosed in Note 16.
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2.20 Leases (cont’d)

 (a) As lessee (cont’d)

  Lease liability

  At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments 
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected 
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise 
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments 
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the 
option to terminate.  Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are 
recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in 
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

  In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not 
readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In 
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a 
change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a 
change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

  The Group’s lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 16.

  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

  The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases 
of machinery (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies that the lease 
of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered 
to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 (b) As lessor 

  Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. Rental income arising 
from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a 
reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2.21 Revenue

 Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on 
behalf of third parties.

 Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised 
good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. 
A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue 
recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

 (a) Sale of chemical catalyst

  The Group supplies chemical catalyst for consumers, for use in the process of gas-making, 
ammonia synthesis and methanol synthesis.

  Revenue from sale of chemical catalyst is recognised when control of the good has been 
transferred to the customer at a point in time. Control is transferred upon the delivery of 
goods.

  The amount of revenue recognised is based on the contractual price, as the contracts with 
customer do not normally include variable consideration such as right of returns, refunds, 
trade discounts or volume rebates.

 (b) Sale of chemical equipment

  The Group manufactures chemical system equipment including reactors, pressure vessels and 
other auxiliary equipment for consumers.

  Revenue from sale of chemical equipment is recognised when control of the equipment 
has been transferred to customer over time, as the Group has limited practicality of readily 
directing the customised equipment for another use, and has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date. Revenue is recognised over time, based on costs incurred 
to date as a proportion of the estimated total cost to be incurred.

  The Group accounts for contract modifications arising from change orders to modify the 
scope or price of the contract as separate contracts if the modification adds distinct goods or 
services at their standalone selling prices. For contract modifications that add distinct goods 
or services but not at their standalone selling prices, the Group combines the remaining 
consideration in the original contract with the consideration promised in the modification to 
create a new transaction price that is then allocated to all remaining performance obligations. 
For contract modifications that do not add distinct goods or services, the Group accounts for 
the modification as continuation of the original contract and is recognised as a cumulative 
adjustment to revenue at the date of modification.

  The contracts with customer include only assurance-type warranty to assure that the 
equipment complies with agreed-upon specifications and are accounted for as a provision for 
warranty.
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2.21 Revenue (cont’d)

 (b) Sale of chemical equipment (cont’d)

  Progress billings to the customers are based on a payment schedule in the contract and 
are typically triggered upon achievement of specified payment milestones. A contract asset 
is recognised when the Group has performed under the contract but has not yet billed the 
customer. Conversely, a contract liability is recognised when the Group has not yet performed 
under the contract but has received advanced payments from the customer. Contract assets 
are transferred to receivables when the rights to consideration become unconditional. 
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue as the Group performs under the contract.

 (c) CET engineering services

  The Group provides chemical systems engineering and technology design services for the 
production of ammonia and methanol related products.

  Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised when control over the engineering 
design services has been transferred to customer over time, as the customer simultaneously 
receives and consumes the benefits as the Group performs. Revenue is recognised over time, 
based on costs incurred to date as a proportion of the estimated total cost to be incurred.

2.22 Taxes

 (a) Current income tax

  Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and 
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at 
the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates 
taxable income.

  Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates 
to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate.

 
 (b) Deferred tax

  Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the 
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.
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2.22 Taxes (cont’d)

 (b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

  – Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

  – In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary, 
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward 
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

  – Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

  – In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary, 
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred 
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period. 

  Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

  Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit and loss is recognised outside profit 
and loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business 
combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 
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2.22 Taxes (cont’d)

 (c) Value-added-tax (“VAT”) / Goods and services tax (“GST”) 

  Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT/GST except:

  - Where the VAT/GST incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from 
the taxation authority, in which case the VAT/GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

  - Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT/GST included.

2.23 Segmental reporting

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products 
and services which are independently managed by respective segment managers responsible for the 
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment manager reports directly 
to the management of the Company who regularly reviews the segment results in order to allocate 
the resources to the segments and assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on 
each of these segments are shown in Note 28, including the factors used to identify the reportable 
segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.24 Contingencies

 A contingent liability is:

 (a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 
the control of the Group; or 

 (b) a present obligation that arises from past events but not recognised because:

  (i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation; or

  (ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measure with sufficient reliability.

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Group. 

 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group.

2.25 Share capital and share issuance expenses

 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.
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2.26 Treasury shares

 The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost 
and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue 
or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount 
of treasury shares and the consideration received, if reissued, is recognised directly in equity. Voting 
rights related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them 
respectively.

2.27 Current versus non-current classification

 The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheets based on current/non-current 
classification. An asset is current when it is:

 l Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle

 l Held primarily for the purpose of trading

 l Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period

 All other assets are classified as non-current.

 A liability is current when:

 l It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle

 l It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

 l It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period

 The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the 
issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification. The Group classifies all other liabilities as 
non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

3.  Significant accounting judgements and estimates

 The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods. 

3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

 Management is of the opinion that there is no significant judgement made in applying accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.



91ANNUAL REPORT 2021   

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3.  Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of each reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates 
on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances 
and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes 
or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the 
assumptions when they occur.

 (a) Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets

  The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate the ECLs for trade receivables and contract 
assets, for which the matrix is initially based on historical observed default rates. The matrix 
is calibrated to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information which 
incorporated forecast macroeconomic conditions specific to the debtors and the environment 
in which the Group operates. At every reporting date, historical default rates are updated and 
changes in forward-looking estimates are analysed.

  The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast 
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate, and may also not be representative 
of the actual default in the future. The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables and 
contract assets, and information about its ECLs is disclosed in Note 4 and Note 21 to the 
financial statements.

 (b) Contracts and revenue recognition

  The Group recognises contract revenue by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of a performance obligation within the contract, when the outcome of a 
performance obligation can be reasonably measured. The progress is measured by reference 
of the costs incurred to date as a proportion of the estimated total cost to be incurred. 
Significant assumptions are required to estimate the total budgeted contract costs, progress 
towards completion, and remaining costs to completion. 

  For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded revenue of 
RMB97,158,000 (2020: RMB82,975,000) from contracts under CET engineering services and 
CSC business.
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4. Revenue

 (a) Disaggregation of revenue

Catalyst business CSC business
CET engineering 

services Total revenue
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Primary 

geographical 
market

People’s Republic 
of China 11,884 10,945 83,126 76,558 14,032 6,417 109,042 93,920

Major product or 
service lines

Catalyst 11,884 10,945 – – – – 11,884 10,945

Chemical 
equipment – – 83,126 76,558 – – 83,126 76,558

Engineering and 
design services – – – – 14,032 6,417 14,032 6,417

11,884 10,945 83,126 76,558 14,032 6,417 109,042 93,920

Timing of transfer 
of goods or 
services

At a point in time 11,884 10,945 – – – – 11,884 10,945

Over time – – 83,126 76,558 14,032 6,417 97,158 82,975

11,884 10,945 83,126 76,558 14,032 6,417 109,042 93,920

 (b) Judgement and methods used in estimating revenue

  Recognition of revenue from sale of chemical equipment over time

  For the sale of chemical equipment where the Group satisfies its performance obligations 
over time, management has determined that a cost-based input method provides a faithful 
depiction of the Group’s performance in transferring control of the chemical equipment to 
the customers, as it reflects the Group’s efforts incurred to date relative to the total inputs 
expected to be incurred for sale of chemical equipment. The measure of progress is based 
on the costs incurred to date as a proportion of total costs expected to be incurred up to the 
complete construction of the chemical equipment.

  The estimated total construction and other related costs are based on contracted amounts 
and, in respect of amounts not contracted for, management relies on past experience and 
knowledge of the project engineers to make estimates of the amounts to be incurred. In 
making these estimates, management takes into consideration the historical trends of amounts 
incurred to construct other similar chemical equipment.
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4. Revenue (cont’d)

 (c) Contract assets and contract liabilities

  Information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with 
customers is disclosed as follows:

Group
31 December

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Receivables from contracts with customers (Note 21) 14,306 20,984

Contract assets 81,105 87,629

Contract liabilities 74,029 20,091

  During current financial year, the Group has written back impairment losses of RMB2,593,000 
(2020: impairment losses RMB3,664,000) on receivables.

  Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed but 
not yet billed at reporting date for sale of chemical equipment. Contract assets are transferred 
to receivables when the rights become unconditional. During the year, the Group has 
recognised impairment loss on contract assets of RMB1,683,000(2020: Nil). 

  Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to 
customers for which the Group has received advances received from customers for sale of 
chemical equipment

  Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue as the Group performs under the contract.

  (i) Significant changes in contract assets are explained as follows:

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Contract assets reclassified to receivables 44,754 64,462

  (ii) Significant changes in contract liabilities are explained as follows:

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue recognised that was included in the  

contract liability balance at the beginning of  
the year 17,493 11,152
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4. Revenue (cont’d)

 (d) Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligation

  The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially 
unsatisfied) performance obligations as at 31 December 2021 is RMB223,594,000 (2020: 
RMB116,556,000). The Group expects to recognise RMB183,460,000 as revenue relating to the 
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) performance obligations as 
at 31 December 2021 in the financial year 2022 and RMB40,134,000 in the financial year 2023.

5. Finance and other income

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Finance income

Interest income on bank balances and deposits 1,679 1,726

Other income

Government grants^ 1,176 1,021

Sale of scrap materials and parts 1,340 1,690

Rental income from investment properties (Note 18) 2,340 2,214

Net foreign exchange loss, net (183) (251)

Gain from contract penalty 28 25

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 73 235

Write-off of trade payables 600 61

Others 180 25

7,233 6,746

 ^ During the financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company’s subsidiary in the People’s Republic of 
China received cash grants for distinguished enterprise and research and development mainly from Changsha Finance 
Bureau High-Tech Zone. 

6. Other expenses

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 15

Write-off of property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 43 95

Others 24 –

67 110
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7. Finance costs

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Bank charges 4 7

Interest expense on lease liability (Note 16) – 3

4 10

8. Loss before tax

 The following items have been included in arriving at loss before tax:

Group
Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Audit fees

– Auditors of the Company 415 415

– Member firm of EY Global 470 508

– Other auditors 39 41

Non-audit fees

– Other auditors 75 75

Grant of equity-settled performance shares 35 57

(Write-back of)/allowance for provision on onerous 
contracts, net 25 (38) 37

Amortisation of intangible assets 15 344 140

Allowance for inventory obsolescence 20 24 3,841

Expenses relating to short-term leases 16 561 612

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 8,725 8,942

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 407 492

Depreciation of investment properties 18 581 221

Employee benefits expense 11 31,363 28,756

Direct operating expenses arising from investment 
property 18 1,330 479

Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 20 53,122 49,438

(Write-back of impairment)/impairment losses on  
financial assets, net:

– Trade receivables 21 (2,593) 3,664

– Contract assets 21 1,683 –
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9. Income tax credit

 Major components of income tax credit

 The major components of income tax credit for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are:

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Current income tax – continuing operations:

– Over provision in respect of previous years (336) –

Deferred income tax:
– Under provision in respect of previous years – (64)

Income tax credit recognised in profit or loss (336) (64)

 Relationship between tax credit and accounting loss

 The reconciliation between tax credit and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the 
applicable corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Loss before tax (2,380) (11,451)

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profit in the  
countries where the Group operates (418) (1,786)

Adjustments:

– Non-deductible expenses 494 441

– Deferred tax assets not recognised 1,390 2,266

– Effect of partial tax exemption and tax relief (1,466) (921)

– Over provision in respect of previous years (336) (64)

Income tax credit recognised in profit or loss (336) (64)

 Anchun International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”)

 The Company is incorporated in Singapore and is subject to a tax rate of 17% for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 17%). 

 Hunan Anchun Advanced Technological Co., Ltd (“Hunan Anchun”)

 Hunan Anchun was granted the High and New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) by China’s Ministry 
of Finance, the State Administration of Taxation and the Ministry of Science and Technology in 2007. 
The HNTE certification allows Hunan Anchun to be taxed at a concessionary rate of 15% with effect 
from 1 January 2008. 
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10. Earnings per share 

 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, attributable to 
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year.

 Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, attributable to 
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the financial year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the 
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

 The following tables reflect the loss and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted 
losses per share for the years ended 31 December:

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company  

used in the computation of basic and diluted loss per share (2,044) (11,387)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic  
earnings per share computation (‘000) # 48,149 48,580

Effects of dilution of share awards (‘000) – 169

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted  
earnings per share computation (‘000) 48,149 48,749

Basic losses per share (RMB cents) (4.25) (23.44)

Diluted losses per share (RMB cents) (4.25) (23.44)

 #  The weighted average number of ordinary shares takes into account the weighted average effect of changes in treasury 
and EBT shares transactions during the year.

 In 2020, 17,000 EBT shares have been issued to an employee after fulfilling three years’ service 
condition of the awards granted. In 2021, 9,000 EBT shares and 160,000 treasury shares have been 
issued to employees after fulfilling three years’ service condition of the awards granted. 

11. Employee benefits expense

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Employee benefits expense (including directors):
Salaries and bonuses 26,046 25,280

Welfare expense 1,410 1,545

Contribution to defined contribution plans 3,872 1,874

Performance share expense 35 57

31,363 28,756
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11. Employee benefits expense (cont’d)

 Employee share awards

 Performance Share Plan 2014

 The Anchun Performance Share Plan 2014 (“Anchun PSP”) was approved by the shareholders of 
the Company on 29 April 2014. Under the Anchun PSP, certain employees are entitled to a grant of 
performance shares, which will be released to these employees once they have been in service for a 
period of three years from the date of grant.

 Fair value of share awards granted

 The fair value of the shares granted is determined by reference to the published market bid price 
at the respective grant date. The fair value of the services from employees received in exchange for 
the grant of the shares under the Anchun PSP is recognised as an expense in the income statement 
with a corresponding increase in Anchun PSP reserve. The total amount to be recognised over the 
vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the performance shares at the date of 
grant and the number of performance shares expected to be vested by vesting date. At the end of 
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of performance shares that are 
expected to vest on vesting date. Any revision of this estimate is included in the income statement 
and a corresponding adjustment to Anchun PSP reserve over the remaining vesting period. 

 During the financial year, there were no revisions to this estimate of the number of employees who 
will fulfil the three years’ service condition (2020: no revisions). The movement in performance shares 
is disclosed in Note 26(b) to the financial statements.

 Movement of share awards during the financial year

 The following table illustrates the number (No.) of, and movements in, share awards during the 
financial year:

2021 2020
No. (‘000) No. (‘000)

Outstanding at 1 January 169 186

– Vested (169) (17)

Outstanding at 31 December – 169
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12. Related party transactions

 (a) Sale and purchase of services

  In addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 
following transactions between the Company and the related parties took place on terms 
agreed between the parties during the financial year: 

Company
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Service fee charged to a subsidiary 20 20

 (b) Compensation of key management personnel

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Salaries, bonuses and fees 2,645 2,680

Contribution to defined contribution plans 106 91

Performance share expense 35 57

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 2,786 2,828

Comprises amounts paid to:

– Directors of the Company 2,357 2,475

– Other key management personnel 429 353

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 2,786 2,828

  Key management personnel’s interest in employee share awards

  On 13 September 2018, the Company granted an award comprising 160,000 treasury shares 
to one of the Company’s key management personnel under the Anchun PSP. During current 
financial year ended 31 December 2021, 160,000 treasury shares were issued to the key 
management personnel after fulfilling the three years’ service condition under the grant of the 
award. 

  At the end of the reporting period, there are no (2020: 160,000) outstanding share awards 
granted by the Company to the abovementioned key management personnel under the 
Anchun PSP.

Date of award Expiry date 2021 2020
No. of 

outstanding 
shares

No. of 
outstanding 

shares
2018 2021 – 160,000
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13. Investment in a subsidiary

Company
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 75,000 75,000

Anchun PSP 631 596

75,631 75,596

 Details of the subsidiary is as follows: 

Name of company Country of 
incorporation

Principal activities Proportion of 
ownership interest
2021 2020

% %
Held by the Company
Hunan Anchun Advanced 

Technology Co., Ltd 
(“Hunan Anchun”) (1)

PRC Provision of integrated 
chemical systems 
engineering and 
technology solutions to 
the petrochemical and 
chemical industries

100 100

 (1) Audited by Peking Certified Public Accountants (Special General Partnership), Hunan Branch, for PRC statutory 
reporting purpose. Audited by Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP Changsha Branch, for consolidation purpose.
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14. Property, plant and equipment

Buildings Machinery

Office
equipment

and
furniture

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
Cost:
At 1 January 2020 84,727 104,385 5,917 1,623 – 196,652

Additions – 1,473 762 – – 2,235

Disposals – (50) (5) (242) – (297)

Write-off – (660) (374) – – (1,034)

At 31 December 2020  
and 1 January 2021 84,727 105,148 6,300 1,381 – 197,556

Additions – 4,772 463 – 143 5,378

Disposals – (216) (18) – – (234)

Transfer to investment 
property (Note 18) (6,475) – – – – (6,475)

Write-off – (755) (97) – – (852)

At 31 December 2021 78,252 108,949 6,648 1,381 143 195,373

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2020 (43,940) (81,613) (4,886) (1,504) – (131,943)

Depreciation charge for the 
year (4,011) (4,653) (239) (39) – (8,942)

Disposals – 47 5 230 – 282

Write-off – 586 353 – – 939

At 31 December 2020 
and 1 January 2021 (47,951) (85,633) (4,767) (1,313) – (139,664)

Depreciation charge for the 
year (3,755) (4,623) (347) – – (8,725)

Disposals – 197 13 – – 210

Transfer to investment 
property (Note 18) 3,856 – – – – 3,856

Write-off – 717 92 – – 809

At 31 December 2021 (47,850) (89,342) (5,009) (1,313) – (143,514)

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2020 36,776 19,515 1,533 68 – 57,892

At 31 December 2021 30,402 19,607 1,639 68 143 51,859
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15. Intangible assets 

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Cost
At 1 January 2,124 1,914

Additions 112 831

Disposal (191) (621)

At 31 December 2,045 2,124

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January  (1,228) (1,709)

Amortisation charge for the year (344) (140)

Disposal 191 621

At 31 December (1,381) (1,228)

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 664 896

 Intangible assets relate to computer software purchased from vendors and have an average 
remaining amortisation period of 2 years (2020: 2 years). The amortisation of intangible asset is 
included in the “Administrative expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income.

16. Leases

 Group as a lessee

 The Group has land use rights over three plots of state-owned land in the People’s Republic of China 
(PRC) where the Group’s PRC manufacturing and storage facilities reside. The land use rights are not 
transferable.

 The Company has lease contract for office space for a tenure of 2 years.

 The Group also has certain leases of dormitories with lease term of less than 12 months in which the 
Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ recognition exemptions for these leases.
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16. Leases (cont’d)

 Group as a lessee (cont’d)

 (a) Carrying amounts of right-of-use assets

Office
space

Land use 
rights Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
Cost:
At 1 January 2020 266 18,271 18,537

Translation difference (4) – (4)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 262 18,271 18,533

Disposal (262) – (262)

At 31 December 2021 – 18,271 18,271

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2020 (89) (5,292) (5,381)

Depreciation charge for the year (126) (366) (492)

Translation difference (5) – (5)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 (220) (5,658) (5,878)

Depreciation charge for the year (42) (365) (407)

Disposal 262 – 262

At 31 December 2021 – (6,023) (6,023)

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2021 – 12,248 12,248

At 31 December 2020 42 12,613 12,655
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16. Leases (cont’d)

 Group as a lessee (cont’d)

 (a) Carrying amounts of right-of-use assets (cont’d)

Office
space

RMB’000
Company
Cost:
At 1 January 2020 266
Translation difference (4)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 262
Disposal (262)
At 31 December 2021 –

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2020 (89)
Depreciation charge for the year (126)
Translation difference (5)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 (220)
Depreciation charge for the year (42)
Disposal 262
At 31 December 2021 –

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2021 –
At 31 December 2020 42

 (b) Carrying amounts of lease liability

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Group and Company
At 1 January 43 179
Accretion of interest – 3
Payments (43) (130)
Translation difference – (9)
At 31 December – 43

Represented as:
Current – 43
Non-current – –
Total – 43

  The maturing analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 31(b).
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16. Leases (cont’d)

 Group as a lessee (cont’d)

 (c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 407 492

Interest expense on lease liability – 3

Expenses relating to short-term leases 561 612

Total amount recognised in statement of  
comprehensive income 968 1,107

 (d) Total cash outflows

  The Group had total cash outflows for leases of RMB604,000 in 2021 (2020: RMB742,000).

17. Deferred tax

 Deferred tax as at 31 December relates to the following:

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Deferred tax assets:
Unutilised tax losses 906 906

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
As of 1 January 906 842

Tax credit recognised in profit or loss – 64

As at 31 December 906 906

 Unrecognised tax losses 

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has tax losses of approximately RMB19,912,000 
(2020: RMB10,644,000) that are available for offset against future taxable profits. In 2021, 
RMB13,872,000 (2020: RMB4,604,000) of tax losses were not recognised as deferred tax asset due 
to uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the tax 
authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries 
in which the companies operate. In FY2021, if the Group were able to recognise all unrecognised 
deferred tax assets, the profit would increase by RMB2,086,000 (2020: RMB696,000). The tax losses 
will expire from 2024 to 2025 except amount of RMB243,000 (2020: RMB294,000).
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17. Deferred tax (cont’d)

 Unrecognised temporary differences relating to investment in subsidiary 

 At the end of the reporting period, no further deferred tax liability has been recognised for 
withholding tax that would be payable on the remaining undistributed earnings of the PRC 
subsidiary as the Group has determined that undistributed earnings of its PRC subsidiary will not 
be distributed in the foreseeable future for working capital utilisation purpose. Such temporary 
difference for which no deferred tax liability has been recognised aggregates RMB36,687,000 (2020: 
RMB38,555,000) and the deferred tax liability is estimated at RMB1,834,000 (2020: RMB1,928,000).

 There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of dividend in 2020 by the 
Company to its shareholders.

18. Investment properties

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Balance sheet:
Cost
At 1 January 10,551 10,551

Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 6,475 –

At 31 December 17,026 10,551

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January (8,841) (8,620)

Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 14) (3,856) –

Depreciation charge for the year (581) (221)

At 31 December (13,278) (8,841)

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 3,748 1,710

Fair value 19,762 18,305

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Rental income from investment properties:

- Minimum lease payments 2,340 2,214

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and  
maintenance) arising from:

- Rental generating properties (1,330) (479)

 The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment property and no contractual 
obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, maintenance or 
enhancements.
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18. Investment properties (cont’d)

 Valuation of investment property

 The fair value of investment property in Xiang Kai Shi Hua Tower is determined based on 
comparable market transactions that consider the sales of similar properties that have been 
transacted in the open market. 

 The fair value of investment properties in Lufeng Road and Lusong Road are determined based on 
discounted cash flows method. Details of valuation techniques and inputs are disclosed in Note 30 
to the financial statements.

 The investment properties held by the Group as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Description and location Existing Use Tenure of land
Unexpired lease 
term

10th floor, Xiang Kai Shi Hua 
Tower, Changsha, PRC 

Offices Leasehold, 50 years  
lease from 2 August  
1999

28 years
(2019: 29 years)

No. 65, Lufeng Road, Hi-Tech 
Industrial Development Zone, 
Changsha, PRC

Manufacturing Leasehold, 50 years  
lease from 16 August 
2002

31 years
(2020: 32 years)

No. 539, Lusong Road, Hi-Tech 
Industrial Development Zone, 
Changsha, PRC

Manufacturing Leasehold, 50 years  
lease from 28 February 
2007

35 years 
(2020: Nil)

19. Prepayments

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current
Prepayments relating to purchase of 

property, plant and equipment 45 1,147 – –

Current
Prepayments to trade suppliers 7,334 2,349 – –

Prepaid operating expenses 172 203 59 54

7,506 2,552 59 54



108 ANCHUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

20. Inventories

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Balance sheet:
Raw materials (at cost) 24,183 19,597

Work-in-progress (at cost or net realisable value) 1,916 1,851

Finished goods (at cost or net realisable value) 5,492 6,481

31,591 27,929

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 53,122 49,438

Allowance for inventory obsolescence 24 3,841

21. Trade and other receivables 

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade receivables 14,306 20,984 – –

Bill receivables 47,871 19,117 – –

VAT/GST receivables 6 7 6 7

Amount due from a subsidiary  
(non-trade) – – 38,311 47,221

Other receivables 1,773 1,764 – 29

Total trade and other receivables 63,956 41,872 38,317 47,257

Add:

Contract assets (Note 4) 81,105 87,629 – –

Cash and cash equivalents  
(Note 22) 149,678 112,368 10,349 5,111

Less:

VAT/GST receivables (6) (7) (6) (7)

Total financial assets carried at 
amortised cost 294,733 241,862 48,660 52,361
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21. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

 Trade receivables

 Trade receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled 90 to 180 days’ 
terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on 
initial recognition.

 Trade and other receivables denominated in foreign currency at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Singapore dollar 6 36

 Bill receivables

 Bill receivables are interest-free and have maturity periods of less than 360 days’ term. 

 Amount due from a subsidiary

 The amount is non-trade related, unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to 
be settled in cash.

 Expected credit losses

 The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets 
computed based on lifetime ECL are as follow:

Group
Trade 

receivables
Contract 

assets
Trade 

receivables
Contract 

assets
2021 2021 2020 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Movement in the allowance  

accounts:

At 1 January 29,278 6,975 26,509 6,975

(Reversal)/charge for the year (2,593) 1,683 3,664 –

Written-off (336) – (895) –

At 31 December 26,349 8,658 29,278 6,975
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22. Cash and bank balances

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash at banks and on hand 120,321 91,664 3,251 5,111

Short-term deposits 29,357 20,704 7,098 –

Total 149,678 112,368 10,349 5,111

Less: Short-term deposits  
(Maturity >3 months) (20,000) (20,000) – –

Cash and cash equivalents 129,678 92,368 10,349 5,111

 Cash at banks

 Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

 Short-term deposits 

 Short-term deposits are made for varying periods between one to more than three months (2020: 
one to more than three months) and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates.

 The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31 December 2021 for the Group and the 
Company were 1.9% (2020: 2.6%) and 1.6% (2020: 2.3%) respectively.

 Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currency at 31 December are as follows:

Group and Company
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Singapore dollar 3,251 5,111
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23. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables 18,711 12,071 – –

Amount due to a subsidiary  
(non-trade) – – 12,414 12,228

Other taxes payable 1,378 1,221 – –

VAT payable 5,134 8,573 – –

Other payables 7,208 6,984 – –

32,431 28,849 12,414 12,228

Add:

Other liabilities (Note 24) 17,065 15,740 695 932

Lease liability (Note 16) – 43 – 43

Less:

Other taxes payable (1,378) (1,221) – –

VAT payable (5,134) (8,573) – –

Total financial liabilities carried  
at amortised cost 42,984 34,838 13,109 13,203

 Trade payables

 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 days’ term.

 Bill payables

 Bill payables are non-interest bearing and have maturity period of 90 days’ term.

 Amount due to subsidiary (non-trade)

 These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and to be settled in cash.

 Other payables 

 Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months.

 All trade and other payables balances are denominated in RMB.
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24. Other liabilities

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Accrued salaries and bonuses 7,732 5,445 407 363

Accrued operating expenses 1,433 2,903 288 569

Accrued welfare expenses 7,900 7,392 – –

17,065 15,740 695 932

 Other liabilities denominated in foreign currency at 31 December are as follows:

Group and Company
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Singapore dollar 695 887

25. Provisions

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
At 1 January 38 62

Utilisation for completed contracts – (61)

Write-back of provision (38) (1)

Provision for the year – 38

At 31 December – 38

 Provision for onerous contract is made when the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under 
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. Movement in provision 
for onerous contract is included in the “Cost of sales” line item in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.
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26. Share capital and treasury/employee benefit trust shares

 (a) Share capital

Group and Company
2021 2021 2020 2020

No. of
shares RMB’000

No. of
shares RMB’000

Issued and fully paid  
ordinary shares

At 1 January and  
31 December 50,500,000 149,278 50,500,000 149,278

  The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as 
and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without 
restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

  The Company has employee share awards plan (Note 11) pursuant to which ordinary shares of 
the Company have been granted to the certain employees, which shall vest and be released 
to these employees once they have been in service for a period of three years from the date 
of grant.

 (b) Treasury/employee benefit trust shares

Group and Company
2021 2021 2020 2020

No. of
shares RMB’000

No. of
shares RMB’000

At 1 January (2,318,100) (3,021) (1,835,100) (2,420)

Acquired during the year (500,000) (615) (500,000) (644)

Treasury and EBT shares  
reissued pursuant to vesting  
of PSP 9,000 245 17,000 43

At 31 December (2,809,100) (3,391) (2,318,100) (3,021)

  Treasury shares acquired during the year

  Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that is held by the Company.

  The Company acquired 500,000 (2020: 500,000) shares in the Company through purchases on 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) during the financial year. The 
total amount paid to acquire the shares was RMB615,000 (2020: RMB644,000) and this was 
presented as a component within shareholders’ equity.

  There are no shares issued under the Anchun PSP during the financial year ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020.
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26. Share capital and treasury/employee benefit trust shares (cont’d)

 (b) Treasury/employee benefit trust shares (cont’d)

  EBT shares reissued during the year

  Employee benefit trust (EBT) shares relate to treasury shares which are transferred to an EBT 
managed by a director-related company. 

  On 30 December 2014, the Company had granted an aggregate of 1,700,000 share awards 
under the Anchun PSP to certain employees. The 1,700,000 shares are consolidated to 
170,000 shares following a 10 to 1 share consolidation exercise effective from 26 May 2016.

  On 29 December 2017, 144,000 treasury shares held under the EBT were released to 
employees after fulfilling the three years’ service condition under the Anchun PSP. The 
remaining 26,000 treasury shares held under the EBT were re-allocated and granted to two 
employees of 17,000 shares and 9,000 shares on 29 December 2017 and 13 September 2018 
respectively. 

  In 2020, one employee became beneficially interested in an aggregate of 17,000 EBT shares 
under Anchun PSP after fulfilling three years’ service condition of the awards granted in 
FY2017. 

  In 2021, one employee became beneficially interested in an aggregate of 9,000 EBT shares 
under Anchun PSP after fulfilling three years’ service condition of the awards granted in 
FY2017. 

  There are no EBT shares granted under the Anchun PSP during the financial year ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020.

  Treasury shares reissued during the year

  In 2021, 160,000 treasury shares were released to an employee after fulfilling the three years’ 
service condition under the Anchun PSP. These shares are still held by the Company on behalf 
of the employee as at 31 December 2021and are expected to be transferred to the employee 
during the next financial year.

27. Other reserves

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(a) Statutory reserve fund 42,828 40,843 – –

(b) Statutory reserve fund - safety 
 production expenditure 6,274 5,454 – –

(c) Contribution from shareholder 1,725 1,725 – –

(d) Merger reserve 75,000 75,000 – –

(e) (Loss)/gain on reissuance of  
 EBT shares (10) 71 (10) 71

(f) Anchun PSP reserve – 109 – 109

125,817 123,202 (10) 180
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27. Other reserves (cont’d)

 (a) Statutory reserve fund

  In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law applicable to the subsidiary in PRC, the 
subsidiary is required to make appropriation to a Statutory Reserve Fund (“SRF”). At least 
10% of the statutory after tax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable PRC 
accounting standards and regulations must be allocated to the SRF until the cumulative total 
of the SRF reaches 50% of the subsidiary’s registered capital. Subject to approval from the 
relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any accumulated losses or increase 
the registered capital of the subsidiary. The SRF is not available for dividend distribution to 
shareholders. 

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 40,843 40,807

Transferred from accumulated profits 1,985 36

At 31 December 42,828 40,843

 (b) Statutory reserve fund – safety production expenditure 

  In accordance with the Regulation on Safety Production Expenditures applicable to the 
subsidiary in the PRC, the subsidiary is required to make appropriation ranging from 0.1% to 
2% of the revenue generated to a Statutory Reserve Fund – safety production expenditure. 
The safety production expenditure is recognised in the profit or loss when it is incurred. 

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 5,454 5,710

Transferred from accumulated profits/(utilisation  
during the year), net 820 (256)

At 31 December 6,274 5,454

 (c) Contribution from shareholder

  Contribution from shareholder represents the shares given by a shareholder to employees.

 (d) Merger reserve

  This represents the difference between the consideration paid and the paid-in capital of the 
subsidiary when business combination of entities under common control was accounted for by 
applying the pooling of interest method.
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27. Other reserves (cont’d)

 (e) (Loss)/gain on reissuance of EBT shares

  This represents the (loss)/gain arising from the reissue of EBT shares to employees after 
fulfilling the three years’ service condition under the Anchun PSP.

 (f) Anchun PSP reserve

  This represents the Anchun PSP cumulative expense recognised in profit or loss prior the 
vesting date of the Anchun PSP and is reduced by the release of shares to employees who 
become beneficially interested in the shares after fulfilling the three years’ service condition.

28. Segment information

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 
services, and has three reportable operating segments as follows: 

 (i) Catalyst Business

  The catalyst business segment involves manufacturing of a variety of catalysts for use in the 
process of gas-making, ammonia synthesis and methanol synthesis.  

 (ii) Chemical systems and components (“CSC”) Business

  This segment involves manufacturing of chemical equipment designed by the chemical 
engineering and technology consultancy services department. 

 (iii) Chemical engineering and technology (“CET”) Engineering Services 

  This segment involves providing chemical systems engineering and technology design 
services for the production of ammonia and methanol related products such as agriculture 
fertilisers and biodiesel which are mainly used in the agriculture and energy industries.  

 Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above 
reportable operating segments.

 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is 
evaluated based on gross profit or loss. 

 Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are not regularly provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. 
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28. Segment information (cont’d)

Catalyst 
Business

CSC 
Business

CET 
Engineering 

Services Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
2021
Revenue
External customers 11,884 83,126 14,032 109,042
Total revenue 11,884 83,126 14,032 109,042

Results:
Segment gross profit 4,984 17,847 8,257 31,088
Finance income 1,679
Other income 5,554
Write-back of impairment losses on 

financial assets, net 910
Marketing and distribution expenses  (6,558)
Administrative expenses  (21,759)
Research expenses  (13,223)
Other expenses (67)
Finance costs (4)
Loss before tax (2,380)

Other material non-cash items
Write-back of provision on onerous 

contracts, net 38
Depreciation and amortisation (10,057)
Gain on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment, net 73
Write-off of property, plant and 

equipment (43)
Allowance for inventory obsolescence (24)
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28. Segment information (cont’d)

Catalyst 
Business

CSC 
Business

CET 
Engineering 

Services Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
2020
Revenue
External customers 10,945 76,558 6,417 93,920

Total revenue 10,945 76,558 6,417 93,920

Results:
Segment gross profit 4,708 11,336 3,374 19,418

Finance income 1,726

Other income 5,020

Impairment losses on financial  
assets, net (3,664)

Marketing and distribution expenses (5,186)

Administrative expenses (20,323)

Research expenses (8,322)

Other expenses (110)

Finance costs (10)

Loss before tax (11,451)

Other material non-cash items
Allowance for provision on onerous 

contracts, net (37)

Depreciation and amortisation (9,795)

Gain on disposal of property,  
plant and equipment, net 220

Write-off of property, plant and 
equipment (95)

Allowance for inventory obsolescence (3,841)

 Geographical information

 No geographical information is provided as the principal assets employed by the Group are located 
in the PRC and the Group’s revenue and profits are derived primarily from customers in the PRC. 

 Information about major customers 

 During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, revenue from two (2020: two) major customers 
amount to RMB28,365,000 (2020: RMB20,970,000), arising from sales by the CSC and CET Business 
segment (2019: CSC Business segment). 
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29. Commitments

 (a) Operating lease commitments – as lessor

  The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties. The 
non-cancellable leases have remaining lease terms of between one to five years (2020: one to 
three years). Certain leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on 
an annual basis on prevailing market conditions. 

  Rental income recognised by the Group during the year is RMB2,340,000 (2020: 
RMB2,214,000).

  Future minimum rental receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows: 

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Not later than 1 year 2,621 2,620

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 6,509 7,900

9,130 10,520

30. Fair value of assets and liabilities

 (a) Fair value hierarchy 

  The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent 
on the valuation inputs used as follows:

  Level 1  – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the Group can access at the measurement date;

  Level 2  – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

  Level 3  – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

  Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its 
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant 
to the entire measurement.
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30. Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

 (b) Assets not measured at fair value, for which fair value is disclosed

  The following table shows an analysis of the Group’s assets not measured at fair value, for 
which fair value is disclosed:

Group
RMB’000

Fair value measurements at 
the end of the reporting 

period using

Note

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 3)

Carrying
amount

2021
Investment properties 18

– Xiang Kai Shi Hua Tower 10,106 –
– Lufeng Road, Hi-Tech Industrial  

 Development Zone 6,829 2,162
– Lusong Road, Hi-Tech Industrial  

 Development Zone 2,827 1,586

2020
Investment properties 18

– Xiang Kai Shi Hua Tower 10,106 –

– Lufeng Road, Hi-Tech Industrial  
 Development Zone 8,199 1,710

  Determination of fair value

  Level 3 fair value measurements

  The fair value of investment property in Xiang Kai Shi Hua Tower as disclosed in the table 
above is determined based on comparable market transactions that consider the sales of 
similar properties that have been transacted in the open market.

  Using the discounted cash flow method, fair value of investment properties in Lufeng Road 
and Lusong Road are estimated using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of 
ownership over the asset’s life. This method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on 
an investment property. To this projected cash flow series, a market-derived discount rate is 
applied to establish the present value of the income stream associated with the asset. 

  The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows and outflows are determined 
by events such as rent reviews and lease renewal. The appropriate duration is typically driven 
by market behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of real property. Periodic cash flow is 
estimated as gross cash flow less maintenance cost and other operating and management 
expenses. The series of periodic net operating cash flow is then discounted. Generally, 
a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental value is accompanied by a 
directionally similar change in the rent growth per annum, and an opposite change in the long 
term vacancy rate and discount rate.
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30. Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

 (c) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

  Trade and other receivables (Note 21), cash and cash equivalents (Note 22), trade and other 
payables (Note 23), other liabilities (Note 24) and provisions (Note 25)

  Management has determined that the carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities 
are reasonable approximation of their fair values due to their short-term nature or they 
approximate their fair value based on the market incremental rates for similar types of financial 
instruments at the end of the year. 

31. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 The Group and the Company is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use 
of financial instruments. The key financial risks include interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk 
and foreign currency risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for 
the management of these risks. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the 
effectiveness of the risk management process. It is and has been throughout the current and 
previous financial years, the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives shall be undertaken. The 
Group does not apply hedge accounting.

 There has been no change to the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to these financial risks or the 
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to the 
above-mentioned risks and the objectives, policies, and processes for the management of these 
risks. 

 (a) Interest rate risk

  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The 
Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from its floating rate 
cash at bank balances and deposits. The Group’s and the Company’s policy is to obtain the 
most favourable interest rates available.

  Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

  At the end of the reporting period, if RMB and SGD interest rates had been 100 basis points 
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss before tax would have 
been RMB1,497,000 (2020: RMB1,124,000) higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest income on floating rate cash at bank balances. The assumed movement in 
basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market 
environment.

 (b) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to 
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by 
credit facilities.
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

  Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted repayments 
obligations.

2021
1 year 
or less

1 to 5 
years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables  

(excluding sales tax receivables) 63,950 – 63,950
Cash and cash equivalents 129,678 – 129,678
Short term deposits 20,000 – 20,000
Total undiscounted financial assets 213,628 – 213,628

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  

(excluding sales tax payables) 25,919 – 25,919
Other liabilities 17,065 – 17,065
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 42,984 – 42,984
Total net undiscounted financial assets 170,644 – 170,644

2020
1 year 
or less

1 to 5 
years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables (excluding  

sales tax receivables) 41,865 – 41,865

Cash and cash equivalents 92,368 – 92,368

Short term deposits 20,000 – 20,000

Total undiscounted financial assets 154,233 – 154,233

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  

(excluding sales tax payables) 19,055 – 19,055

Other liabilities 15,740 – 15,740

Lease liability 43 – 43

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 34,838 – 34,838

Total net undiscounted financial assets 119,395 – 119,395
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

  Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (cont’d)

2021
1 year 
or less

1 to 5 
years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Company
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables  

(excluding sales tax receivables) 38,311 – 38,311
Cash and cash equivalents 10,349 – 10,349
Total undiscounted financial assets 48,660 – 48,660

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 12,414 – 12,414
Other liabilities 695 – 695
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 13,109 – 13,109
Total net undiscounted financial assets 35,551 – 35,551

2020
1 year 
or less

1 to 5 
years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Company
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables  

(excluding sales tax receivables) 47,250 – 47,250

Cash and cash equivalents 5,111 – 5,111

Total undiscounted financial assets 52,361 – 52,361

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 12,228 – 12,228

Other liabilities 932 – 932

Lease liability 43 – 43

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 13,203 – 13,203

Total net undiscounted financial assets 39,158 – 39,158
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (c) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Non-cash changes

2021 1 January Cash flows

Vesting of 
performance 

share plan
Translation 
difference 31 December

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Treasury shares (3,021) (615) 245 – (3,391)
Lease liability 43 (43) – – –
Total liabilities under 

financing activities (2,978) (658) 245 – (3,391)

Non-cash changes

2020 1 January Cash flows

Vesting of 
performance 

share plan
Translation 
difference 31 December

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Treasury shares (2,420) (644) 43 – (3,021)

Lease liability 179 (127) – (9) 43

Dividends paid – (5,838) – – (5,838)

Total liabilities under 
financing activities (2,241) (6,609) 43 (9) (8,816)

 (d) Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a 
counterparty default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk 
arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including cash and 
cash equivalents), the Group and the Company minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively 
with high credit rating counterparties.

  The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred 
due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy 
third parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis by the 
Group. 

  The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each 
reporting period.

  The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when the counterparty 
fails to make contractual payments, and when internal or external information indicates that 
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into 
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (d) Credit risk (cont’d)

  To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of 
a default occurring on the asset as at reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of 
initial recognition. 

  The Group considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information and 
significant changes in the payment status and behaviour of debtors.

  Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is 
more than 180 days past due in making contractual payment.

  The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

  - There is significant difficulty of the debtors
  - A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event
  - It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 

  Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as 
a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. Where loans and receivables 
have been written off, the Group continues to engage enforcement activity to attempt to 
recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

  Trade receivables and contract assets

  The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables and contract 
assets using a provision matrix. The provision rates are determined based on the Group’s 
historical observed default rates analysed in accordance to years past due. The loss allowance 
as at 31 December 2021 is determined as follows, the expected credit losses below also 
incorporate forward looking information such as forecast of economic conditions where the 
gross domestic product will deteriorate over the next year, leading to an increased number of 
defaults.

  Summarised below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade 
receivables and contract assets using provision matrix:

31 December 2021

% of 
allowance 
provision

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance 
provision

RMB’000 RMB’000
Contract assets 10 89,763 8,658
Trade receivables:

Within 1 year 18 9,934 1,779
1 year to 2 years 52 7,425 3,849
2 years to 3 years 71 8,957 6,382
More than 3 years 100 14,339 14,339
Total 130,418 35,007
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (d) Credit risk (cont’d)

  Trade receivables and contract assets (cont’d)

31 December 2020

% of 
allowance 
provision

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance 
provision

RMB’000 RMB’000
Contract assets 7 94,604 6,975

Trade receivables:

Within 1 year 20 16,894 3,325

1 year to 2 years 53 14,228 7,557

2 years to 3 years 71 2,536 1,792

More than 3 years 100 16,604 16,604

Total 144,866 36,253

  Information regarding loss allowance movement of trade receivables and contract assets are 
disclosed in Note 21.

  Exposure to credit risk 

  At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised on the balance 
sheets. 

  Credit risk concentration profile

  At the end of the reporting period, approximately 1% (2020: 4%) of the Group’s trade 
receivables were due from 10 (2020: 10) major customers located in the People’s Republic of 
China.

 (e) Foreign currency risk

  The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk as a result of transactions denominated in 
foreign currencies, arising from the normal conduct of operations. The currency giving rise to 
this risk is primarily the Singapore Dollar (“SGD”).

  The Group’s currency exposure to SGD is as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,251 5,111

Trade and other receivables 6 36

Financial liabilities
Other liabilities (695) (887)

Currency exposure 2,562 4,260
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (e) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

  Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk 

  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss before tax to a reasonably 
possible change in the respective foreign currency against the functional currency of the 
Group, with all other variables held constant.

Group
(Increase)/decrease

Loss before tax
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB against SGD

- strengthened 5% (2020: 5%) 128 155

- weakened 5% (2020: 5%) (128) (155)

32. Capital management

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made 
in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. 

 As disclosed in Note 27, the Company’s PRC subsidiary is required by the relevant laws and 
regulations of the PRC to contribute to and maintain non-distributable statutory reserve funds whose 
utilisation is subject to approval by the relevant PRC authorities. This externally imposed capital 
requirement has been complied with by the subsidiary for the financial years ended 31 December 
2021 and 2020. 

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus 
net debt. The Group includes within net debt, trade and other payables and other liabilities, less 
cash and cash equivalents. Capital consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company less the 
above-mentioned reserve fund. 
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32. Capital management (cont’d)

Group
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and other payables (Note 23) 32,431 28,849

Other liabilities (Note 24) 17,065 15,740

Lease liabilities (Note 16) – 43

Less: 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) (129,678) (92,368)

Short term deposits (20,000) (20,000)

Net surplus (100,182) (67,736)

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 273,928 276,599

Less:  

Statutory reserve fund (Note 27) (42,828) (40,843)

Statutory reserve fund – safety production expenditure (Note 27) (6,274) (5,454)

Staff welfare payable (67) (1)

Total capital 224,759 230,301

Gearing ratio NA* NA*

 * Not applicable as the Group is in a net cash position. 

33. Dividends

Group and Company
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000
Paid during the financial year:
- Final dividend of Singapore $0.0236 per share approved at  

the Annual General Meeting held on 27 May 2020 and paid  
on 17 July 2020 – 5,838

34. Impact of Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19”)

 The Group’s main operations are in the People’s Republic of China. The China government’s efforts 
to contain the Covid-19 spread within the country continues to be ongoing. The Covid-19 pandemic 
has affected the Group’s main operations, its customers and suppliers to varying degrees, including 
impact to the area of logistics and supply chain. 

 The Group has considered the market conditions (including the impact of COVID-19) in making 
estimates and judgements on the recoverability of assets as at 31 December 2021. The Group has 
assessed that the going concern basis of preparation for this set of financial statements remains 
appropriate.
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34. Impact of Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19”) (cont’d)

 As the global COVID-19 situation remains fluid as at the date of these financial statements 
authorised for issuance, the Group is unable to reasonably ascertain the full extent of the probable 
impact of the COVID-19 disruptions on its operating and financial performance for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2022.

35. Authorisation of financial statements

 The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for 
issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 31 March 2022.
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Class of Share : Ordinary Share 
Number of Issued Shares (excluding Treasury Shares 
 and Subsidiary Holdings)

: 47,690,900

Issued and fully paid-up capital : S$45,449,200
Voting Rights : One vote per Ordinary Share (“Share”) 
Number of Treasury Shares and Percentage : 2,809,100 (5.56%)
Number of Subsidiary Holdings and Percentage : Nil 

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS 
Based on the information available to the Company as at 14 March 2022, approximately 31.80% of the issued 
ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company are held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, 
the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST which requires that at least 
10% of the issued Shares (excluding preference shares, convertible equity securities and treasury shares) of the 
Company in a class that is listed is at all times held in the hands of the public.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %
1 - 99 6 0.60 380 *
100 - 1,000 404 40.64 209,755 0.44
1,001 - 10,000 429 43.16 1,804,255 3.78
10,001 - 1,000,000 146 14.69 10,172,210 21.33
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 9 0.91 35,504,300 74.45
TOTAL 994 100.00 47,690,900 100.00

* Negligible. 

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %
1. ACE SENSE HOLDINGS LIMITED 10,800,000 22.65
2. ORIENTAL EAGLE HOLDINGS LIMITED 4,882,000 10.24
3. DAWN VITALITY INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 4,144,500 8.69
4. INVENTIVE RESULT ENTERPRISES LIMITED 3,856,700 8.09
5. GIANT YIELD GLOBAL LIMITED 3,760,500 7.89
6. MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (SINGAPORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD 3,255,400 6.83
7. CHINA XLX FERTILISER LTD 1,960,000 4.11
8. ANDREW BEK 1,600,000 3.35
9. ENG KOON HOCK 1,245,200 2.61
10. HUANG BAOJIA 709,100 1.49
11. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 648,000 1.36
12. MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 633,190 1.33
13. LIM POH CHOON 490,360 1.03
14. GO POWER INVESTMENTS LIMITED 405,600 0.85
15. ABN AMRO CLEARING BANK N.V. 390,000 0.82
16. BAO CHEN 344,900 0.72
17. DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 330,000 0.69
18. OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED 310,090 0.65
19. LAU CHUN LEUNG 246,700 0.52
20. ENG KOON HOCK 224,000 0.47

TOTAL 40,236,240 84.39
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 14 MARCH 2022
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

NO. NAME 

DIRECT INTERESTS DEEMED INTERESTS
NO. OF 

SHARES HELD %(1)
NO. OF 

SHARES HELD %(1)

1. Xie Ming(2) – – 10,800,000 22.65

2. Xie Xing(3) – – 10,800,000 22.65

3. Li Chun Yang(4) – – 4,989,500 10.46

4. Liang Gong Zeng(5) – – 3,760,500 7.89

5. Dai Feng Yu(6) – – 3,974,500 8.33

6. Li Bin(7) – – 3,856,700 8.09

7. Ma Ong Kee(8) – – 3,255,400 6.83

8. Ace Sense Holdings Limited 10,800,000 22.65 – –

9. Oriental Eagle Holdings Limited 4,882,000 10.24 – –

10. Giant Yield Global Limited 3,760,500 7.89 – –

11. Dawn Vitality International Limited(9) 4,144,500 8.69 – –

12. Inventive Result Enterprises Limited 3,856,700 8.09 – –

Notes:-

(1) Percentage calculated based on 47,690,900 voting shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) of the Company 
as at 14 March 2022.

(2) Xie Ming is deemed to have an interest in 10,800,000 Shares held by Ace Sense Holdings Limited. 

(3) Xie Xing is deemed to have an interest in 10,800,000 Shares held by Ace Sense Holdings Limited.

(4) Li Chun Yang is deemed to have an interest in 4,882,500 Shares held by Oriental Eagle Holdings Limited and 107,500 Shares 
held in the name of a nominee account.

(5) Liang Gong Zeng is deemed to have an interest in 3,760,500 Shares held by Giant Yield Global Limited.

(6) Dai Feng Yu is deemed to have an interest in 3,974,500 Shares held by Dawn Vitality International Limited, excluding 170,000 
Shares held on trust for certain employees of the Group under Anchun Performance Share Plan 2014.

(7) Li Bin is deemed to have an interest in 3,856,700 Shares held by Inventive Result Enterprises Limited.

(8) Ma Ong Kee is deemed to have an interest in 3,255,400 Shares held by a nominee account. 

(9) Of the 4,144,500 shares that Dawn Vitality International Limited holds, 170,000 shares are held on trust for certain employees 
who are the participants of the Anchun Performance Share Plan 2014. 
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IMPORTANT NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO BE HELD ON MONDAY, 25 APRIL 2022

Dear Shareholders of Anchun International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”),

1. INTRODUCTION 

 The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company refers to: -

 a) the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) Act 2020 (the “Act”) passed by the Singapore 
Parliament on 7 April 2020 which enables the Minister of Law by order to prescribe alternative 
arrangements for listed companies in Singapore to, inter alia, conduct general meetings, 
either wholly or partly, by electronic communication, video conferencing, tele-conferencing or 
other electronic means;

 b) the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meeting for Companies, 
Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020 
(the “Order”) including amended, varied or supplemented from time to time which sets out 
the alternative arrangements in respect of, inter alia, general meetings of companies; and

 
 c) the joint statement by the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority, Monetary 

Authority of Singapore and Singapore Exchange Regulation of 13 April 2020 and 
subsequently updated on 27 April 2020, 22 June 2020 and 1 October 2020 and 4 February 
2022 which provides guidance on the conduct of general meeting amid the evolving 
COVID-19 situation.

 The Company is pleased to announce that pursuant to the Order, the Company has the option 
to hold a virtual meeting, even where the Company is permitted under safe distancing measures 
to hold a physical meeting. Due to the current COVID-19 situation and the Company’s efforts to 
minimize physical interactions that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) in respect of the financial 
year ended 31 December 2021 will be convened and held by way of electronic means on Monday, 
25 April 2022 at 9:30 a.m.

2. NO DESPATCH OF PRINTED COPIES OF ANNUAL REPORT 2021, NOTICE OF AGM, 
PROXY FORM AND LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS IN RELATION TO THE PROPOSED 
RENEWAL OF SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

 No printed copies of the Annual Report 2021, Notice of AGM, proxy form and Letter to 
Shareholders in relation to the Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate in respect of the AGM 
will be despatched to Shareholders.

 Copies of the Annual Report 2021, Notice of AGM, proxy form and Letter to Shareholders in relation 
to the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate have been uploaded on SGXNet  at the 
URL: https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and are now also available on the 
Company’s website at the URL: http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/.

 Shareholders are advised to read the Notice of AGM carefully in order to decide whether they 
should vote in favour of or against the ordinary resolutions, or to abstain from voting on the ordinary 
resolutions, to be tabled at the AGM.
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3. NO PHYSICAL ATTENDANCE AT THE AGM

 As a precautionary measure due to the current COVID-19 situation in Singapore, shareholders will 
NOT be able to attend the AGM in person. 

 Instead, alternative arrangements have been put in place to allow Shareholders to participate at the 
AGM. Please see paragraph 4 below and the Appendix for these alternative arrangements.

4. ALTERNATIVE ARRANGEMENTS FOR PARTICIPATION AT THE AGM

 Shareholders may participate in the AGM by: -

 (a) observing and/or listening to the AGM proceedings via live audio-visual webcast or live  
audio-only stream;

 (b) appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the 
AGM; and/or

 (c) submitting questions in advance prior to the AGM.

 Details of the steps for pre-registration, pre-submission of questions and voting at the AGM 
are set out in the APPENDIX to this Announcement.

5. PERSONS WHO HOLD SHARES THROUGH RELEVANT INTERMEDIARIES

 Persons who hold the Company’s shares through relevant intermediary (as defined in section 181 of 
the Companies Act 1967), including Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme (“CPF”) and/or the 
Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investors”), and who wish to participate in the AGM by:

 (a) observing and/or listening to the AGM proceedings via live audio-visual webcast or live audio-
only stream; and/or

 (b) submitting questions in advance prior to the AGM.

 should contact their relevant intermediary (which would include, in the case of CPF and SRS 
investors, their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators) through which they hold such shares 
as soon as possible in order for the necessary arrangements to be made for their participation in the 
AGM.
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6. KEY DATES/ DEADLINES

 In summary, the key dates/ deadlines which shareholders should take note of are set out in the table 
below: -

Key dates/deadline Details

8 April 2021 (Friday) Shareholders, including CPF and SRS investors, may begin to  
pre-register at the URL: https://septusasia.com/anchunfy2021agm for 
“live” webcast or “live” audio feed of the AGM proceedings; and

Submit questions (if any) in advance on the following manner:-

(i) Together with the pre-registration form at the URL:  
https://septusasia.com/anchunfy2021agm ; or 

(ii) By email to srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com; or

(iii) By post to the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom 
Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 1 Harbourfront 
Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632 

By 12 April 2022 
(Tuesday)

Deadline for CPF and SRS investors who wish to appoint the 
Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to vote on their behalf at the 
AGM to approach their respective CPF Agent Banks and/or SRS 
Operators to submit their votes. 

18 April 2022 (Monday) 
by 5:00 p.m.

Deadline to submit questions in advance for the AGM

By 20 April 2022 
(Wednesday) 

Publication of answers to all substantial and relevant questions 
received from the shareholders on the Company’s website at the 
URL: http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/ and on SGXNet, at 
the URL: https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements/ 
prior to the AGM.

23 April 2022 (Saturday) 
by 9:30 a.m.

Deadline for shareholders to: -

(i) pre-register for the AGM; and

(ii) to submit instrument appointing a proxy(ies).

24 April 2022 (Sunday) 
by 9:30 a.m.

Authenticated Shareholders will receive a confirmation email 
containing instructions on how they may access the “live” webcast 
or “live” audio feed of the AGM proceedings (the “Confirmation 
Email”).

Registrants who do not receive the Confirmation Email by 9:30 a.m. 
on 24 April 2022 (Sunday), but have registered by the deadline 
of 9:30 a.m. on 23 April 2022, should contact our share registrar, 
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte Ltd at +65 6536 
5355 via email at srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com or contact Ms 
Lisa Luo at +65 6202 0594 or via email at info@anchun.com before  
5.30 p.m. on 24 April 2022 (Sunday). 

Date and time of AGM-
25 April 2022 (Monday),  
9:30 a.m. 

Authenticated Shareholders can access the “live” webcast of the 
AGM proceedings by clicking on the URL in the Confirmation Email 
and enter the login details as indicated in the Confirmations Email.
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7. FURTHER INFORMATION

 For further information on the conduct of the AGM and the alternative arrangements, shareholders 
can refer to the Company’s website at the URL: http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/.

 Important reminder: The Company would like to remind Shareholders that, with the constantly 
evolving COVID-19 situation, the Company may be required to change its AGM arrangement 
at short notice. Shareholders should check the above URL and SGXNet for updates on the 
AGM.

 The Company would like to thank all the shareholders for their patience and co-operation in 
enabling us to hold our AGM with the optimum safe management measures amidst the current 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

By Order of the Board
ANCHUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.

ZHENG ZHI ZHONG
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
8 April 2022
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APPENDIX

STEPS FOR PRE-REGISTRATION, PRE-SUBMISSION OF QUESTIONS AND VOTING AT THE AGM

Shareholders will be able to observe and/or listen to the AGM proceedings through a live audio-visual 
webcast or live audio-only stream via their mobile phones, tablets or computers, submit questions in 
advance of the AGM and vote by appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy to attend, speak and vote 
on their behalf, at the AGM.

To do so, the shareholders are required to complete the following steps: -

STEPS ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN
Pre-Registration 1) Shareholders including CPF and SRS investors can pre-

register at the pre-registration website, at the URL:  
https://septusasia.com/anchunfy2021agm from 8 April 2022 
(Friday) up to 9:30 a.m. on 23 April 2022 (Saturday) (“Registration 
Deadline”) to enable the Company to verify their status as 
Shareholders (or the corporate representatives of such shareholders). 

2) Following the verification, authenticated Shareholders will receive a 
confirmation email containing instructions on how they may access 
the “live” webcast or “live” audio feed of the AGM proceedings  
(the “Confirmation Email”).

3) Shareholders who do not receive a Confirmation Email by 9:30 a.m. 
on 24 April 2022 (Sunday), but have registered by the deadline 
of 9:30 a.m. on 23 April 2022, should contact our share registrar, 
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte Ltd at +65 6536 5355 
or via email at srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com or contact Ms 
Lisa Luo at +65 6202 0594 or via email at info@anchun.com before  
5.30 p.m. on 24 April 2022 (Sunday). 

Please be reminded that Shareholders MUST NOT share or disclose the 
login details to those who are not entitled to attend the AGM. This is 
also to avoid any technical disruptions or overload to the live audio-visual 
webcast or live audio-only stream.

Please also note that recording of the AGM in whatever form is also 
STRICTLY prohibited.
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STEPS ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN
Submitting question in 
advance prior to the 
AGM

Shareholders will not be able to ask question at the AGM during 
the live audio-visual webcast or live audio-only stream. Therefore, 
it is important for Shareholders to pre-register and pre-submit their 
questions in advance of the AGM.

Shareholders including CPF and SRS investors, can submit questions related 
to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the AGM to the Chairman of 
the Meeting, in advance of the AGM, in the following manner: -

(a) via the pre-registration website. Shareholders who pre-register 
to observe and/or listen to the AGM proceedings may submit 
their questions via the pre-registration website, at the URL:  
https://septusasia.com/anchunfy2021agm; or

(b) via email to srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com; or

(c) by post to the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & 
Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel 
Bay Tower, Singapore 098632. 

When sending in your questions via email or by post, please also provide 
us with the following details: -

(1) Your full Name;

(2) Your full NRIC / Passport / UEN number;

(3) Your contact number and email address; and 

(4) The manner in which you hold shares in the Company (e.g. via CDP, 
CPF and/or SRS).

Deadline to submit questions. All questions must be submitted by  
5:00 p.m. on 18 April 2022 (Monday). 

Addressing questions. The Company will endeavor to address 
substantial and relevant questions (which are related to the resolutions 
to be tabled for approval at the AGM) received from shareholders 
in advance of the AGM. Answers to substantial and relevant 
questions will be published on the Company’s website at the URL:  
http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/ and on SGXNet, at the URL:  
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements/ by 20 April 
2022 (Wednesday).

Where questions overlap, we may consolidate such questions and 
address them by topics. Consequently, some questions may not be 
individually address. 

Minutes of AGM. The Company will publish the minutes of the AGM on 
the Company’s website and on the SGX website. The minutes will include 
the responses to substantial and relevant questions from shareholders 
which are addressed during the AGM. 
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STEPS ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN
Submit proxy form to 
vote

Shareholders will NOT be able to vote through live audio-visual 
webcast or live audio-only stream.

Appointment of Chairman of the Meeting as proxy. Shareholders 
(whether individual or corporate) who pre-register to observe and/or listen 
to the AGM proceedings and wish to vote on the resolutions to be tabled 
at the AGM must appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as their proxy to 
vote on their behalf, at the AGM, in accordance with the instructions on the 
proxy form.  

Specific voting instructions to be given. Shareholders (whether individual 
or corporate) appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as their proxy, they 
must give specific instructions as to vote “for”, “against” or to “abstain 
from voting”, in respect of a resolution in the proxy form, failing which the 
appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for that resolution 
will be treated as invalid.

Submission of proxy forms. Proxy forms must be completed, signed and 
submitted in the following manner: 

(a) If in hardcopy and sent by post, the proxy form must be deposited 
with the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & 
Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel 
Bay Tower, Singapore 098632; or

(b) If by email, the proxy form must be submitted to the Company’s 
Share Registrar, at srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com.

in either case, by 9:30 a.m. on Saturday, 23 April 2022 (Saturday). 

CPF or SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as 
proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators 
to submit their votes by 12 April 2022 (Tuesday) before the AGM.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy 
or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the 
true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions 
of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. 
In addition, in the case of a shareholder whose shares are entered against 
his/her name in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any 
instrument of proxy lodged if such shareholder, being the appointor, is 
not shown to have shares entered against his/her name in the Depository 
Register 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as 
certified by the Depository to the Company.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Anchun International Holdings 
Ltd. will be held by way of electronic means on Monday, 25 April 2022 at 9:30 a.m. (Singapore time) for 
the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

Ordinary 
Resolution No.

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial 
Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company who retire by rotation in 
accordance with the Article 89 of the Company’s Constitution and who, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

2.1 Xie Ming
2.2 Xie Ding Zhong
2.3 He Ming Yang

(Resolution 2)
(Resolution 3)
(Resolution 4)

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of up to S$346,000 for the financial 
year ending 31 December 2022 (2021: S$346,000). 

(Resolution 5)

4. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company and to 
authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 6)

5. To transact any other ordinary business that may be transacted at an AGM.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS 

6. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary 
Resolutions, with or without modifications:  

6.1 Authority to issue shares

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (the 
“Companies Act”) and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby 
given to the Directors of the Company to: 

(a) (i)  issue shares in the Company (the “Shares”), whether by way of 
rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

 (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, 
“Instruments”) that might or would require Shares to be issued 
during the continuance of such authority or thereafter, including 
but not limited to the creation and issue (as well as adjustments to) 
warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares,

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes 
and to such persons as the Directors of the Company may, in their 
absolute discretion, deem fit; and

(Resolution 7)
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(b) issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the 
Board while such authority was in force (notwithstanding that such issue of 
the Shares pursuant to the Instruments may occur after the expiration of 
the authority contained in this Resolution);

 
provided that: 

(1)  the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution 
(including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or 
granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the total 
number of Shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares 
and subsidiary holdings) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph 
(2) below) of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other 
than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including Shares 
to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this 
Resolution) does not exceed 20% of the total number of Shares (excluding 
treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as 
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2)  (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-
ST) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares 
that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of 
Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) shall be based 
on the total number of Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this 
Resolution, after adjusting for: 

 (a) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any 
convertible securities; 

 (b) new Shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share 
awards, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance 
with the Listing Manual; and 

 (b)  any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares; 

              provided such adjustment in sub-paragraphs (2) (a) and (b) above 
are only to be made in respect of new Shares arising from the 
convertible securities, share options or share awards which were 
issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of 
this Resolution;  

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall 
comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the 
time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-
ST) and the Constitution of the Company; 

(4)  unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such 
authority conferred by this Resolution shall continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the date by which the 
next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the 
earlier.” 
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6.2 Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate (Resolution 8)

“That:

(a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act 1967 of 
Singapore (“Companies Act”) and Rule 882 of the Listing Manual of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the exercise 
by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to 
purchase or otherwise acquire issued ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company (“Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit 
(as hereafter defined), at such price or prices as may be determined by 
the Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter 
defined), whether by way of:

 (i) on-market purchases (“Market Purchases”) transacted on the  
SGX-ST through the ready market trading system through one or 
more duly licensed dealers appointed by the Company for the 
purpose; and/or

 (ii) off-market purchases (“Off-Market Purchases”) effected otherwise 
than on the SGX-ST in accordance with an equal access scheme(s) 
available to all Shareholders, as may be determined or formulated 
by the Directors as they may consider fit, which scheme(s) shall 
satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act,

 and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations, including 
the Companies Act and the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST as may for the 
time being, be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved 
generally and unconditionally, (“Share Purchase Mandate”);

(b) any Share that is purchased or otherwise acquired by the Company 
pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate shall, at the discretion of 
the Directors, either be cancelled or held in treasury and dealt with in 
accordance with the Companies Act;

(c) the Share Purchase Mandate shall, unless varied or revoked by the 
Company in general meeting, continue in force until its expiry on the 
earlier of:

 (i) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company 
is or is required by law to be held;

 (ii) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the 
Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are carried out 
to the full extent mandated; or

 (iii) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Purchase 
Mandate is varied or revoked by ordinary resolution of the 
Company in general meeting; 
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(d)  in this Resolution: 

 “Average Closing Price” means the average of the Closing Market Prices 
of the Shares over the last five (5) Market Days on which the Shares are 
transacted on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the date of the Market 
Purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making 
of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be 
adjusted, in accordance with the rules of the SGX-ST, for any corporate 
action that occurs during the relevant five-day period and the day on 
which the purchases are made;

 “Closing Market Price” means the last dealt price for a Share transacted 
through the SGX-ST’s Central Limit Order Book trading system as shown 
in any publication of the SGX-ST or other sources; 

 
 “Date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the 

Company makes an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from 
holders of Shares, stating therein the relevant terms of the equal access 
scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase;

 “Market Day” means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for securities 
trading; 

 “Maximum Limit” means the number of Shares representing ten per 
cent. (10%) of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of the 
passing of this Resolution (excluding any Shares which are held as treasury 
shares and subsidiary holdings as at that date); and

 “Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, 
means the purchase price (excluding related brokerage, commission, 
applicable goods and services tax, stamp duties, clearance fees and 
other related expenses) to be paid for the Shares as determined by the 
Directors, which shall not exceed (i) in the case of a Market Purchase of 
a Share, one hundred and five per cent. (105%) of the Average Closing 
Price of the Shares; and (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase of a 
Share, one hundred and twenty per cent. (120%) of the Average Closing 
Price of the Shares, in each case, excluding related expenses of the 
purchase or acquisition;

(e)  the Directors and each of them be authorised, empowered to complete 
and do and execute all such things and acts as they or he may think 
necessary or expedient to give effect to this Resolution (including without 
limitation, to execute all such documents as may be required and to 
approve any amendments, alterations or modifications to any documents) 
as they or he shall think fit in the interests of the Company.” 

By Order of the Board

Thum Sook Fun
Company Secretary 

Singapore, 8 April 2022
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Explanatory Notes: 

(i) Ordinary Resolution 2, 3 and 4 in relation to the re-election of Directors
 Detailed information on Ms. Xie Ming, Mr. Xie Ding Zhong and Prof. He Ming Yang (including information as set out 

in Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) Listing Manual) who 
are proposed to be re-elected as Directors of the Company can be found under sections “Board of Directors” and “Key 
Information on Directors seeking Re-election pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST” in the 
Company’s Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

 (a) Ms. Xie Ming will, upon re-election, continue to serve as a Non-Executive Director of the Company and remain as the 
Chairman of the Board and a Member of Remuneration Committee.

 (b) Mr. Xie Ding Zhong will, upon re-election, continue to serve as a Non-Executive Director of the Company and remain as 
a Member of the Nominating Committee.

 (c) Prof. He Ming Yang will, upon re-election, continue to serve as an Independent Director of the Company and remain as 
the Chairman of the Nominating Committee and a Member of the Remuneration Committee respectively.

(ii) Ordinary Resolution 5 in relation to the Directors’ fees
 The Ordinary Resolution 5 is to seek approval for the payment of up to S$346,000 as directors’ fees on a current year basis, 

that is for the financial year ending 31 December 2022. In the event that the amount proposed is insufficient, approval will be 
sought at next year’s AGM for payments to meet the shortfall. 

(iii) Ordinary Resolution 6 in relation to the re-appointment of auditors
 The Ordinary Resolution 6 is to re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors 

to fix their remuneration. 

 The Company has complied with Rule 713 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST by ensuring that the audit partner is not in 
charge of more than 5 consecutive years of audits. The current audit partner, Mr. Andrew Tan Chwee Peng, was appointed 
since the financial year ended 31 December 2021. 

(iv) Ordinary Resolution 7 in relation to the Share Issue Mandate
 The Ordinary Resolution 7 under item 6.1 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the 

conclusion of the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held 
or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or 
grant Instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in 
total, fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital 
of the Company, of which up to twenty per cent. (20%) may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders.

(v) Ordinary Resolution 8 in relation to the Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate
 The Ordinary Resolution 8 under item 6.2 above is to empower the Directors to make purchase (whether by way of Market 

Purchase or Off-Market Purchases on an equal access scheme) from time to time during Relevant Period (as defined in the 
Letter to Shareholders dated 8 April 2022 of up to 10% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and 
subsidiary holdings) at prices up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price. The rationale for, the authority and limitation on, the 
sources of funds to be used for the purchase or acquisition including the amount of financing and the financial effects of the 
purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are set out in greater detail in the 
Letter to Shareholders dated 8 April 2022 accompanying this notice of AGM. 

Notes:

(1) The AGM is being convened, and will be held by electronic means, pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) 
(Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture 
Holders) Order 2020 (the “Order”). Accordingly, the printed copies of this Notice of AGM will not be sent to shareholders. 
Instead, this Notice will be sent to the shareholders via electronic means via publication on the Company’s website at  
http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/ and on the SGXNet at the URL: https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements.

 
(2) Alternative arrangements relating to attendance at the AGM via electronic means (including arrangements by which the 

meeting can be electronically accessed via live audio-visual webcast or live audio-only stream), submission of questions to the 
Chairman of the Meeting in advance of the AGM, addressing of substantial and relevant questions at, or prior to, the AGM 
and voting by appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy at the AGM, are set out in the accompanying Company’s 
announcement dated 8 April 2022  (the “Announcement”), which has been uploaded together with the Notice of this AGM on 
SGXNet at the URL: https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements  on the same day. This Announcement can also 
be accessed at the Company’s website at http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/.
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(3) As a precautionary measure due to the current COVID-19 situation, shareholder will NOT be able to attend the AGM in person. 
Shareholder (whether individual or corporate) may participate in the AGM by: 

 (a)     observing and/or listening to the AGM proceedings via live audio-visual webcast or live audio-only stream; 

 (b)     appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the AGM; and

 (c)     submitting questions prior to the AGM. 

 In order to do so, a shareholder (including Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme (“CPF”) and Supplementary 
Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investor”)), must pre-register at the Company’s pre-registration website at the URL:  
https://septusasia.com/anchunfy2021agm by 9:30 a.m. on Saturday, 23 April 2022 (“Registration Deadline”) for verification 
of their status as shareholders (or the corporate representatives of such shareholders). 

 
(4) Shareholder may also submit questions related to the resolutions to be tabled at the AGM, in advance of the AGM via the 

following manner by the Registration Deadline:- 

 (i) Electronically via the pre-registration website at the URL: https://septusasia.com/anchunfy2021agm;

 (ii) by email to srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com; or

 (iii) by post to the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, 
#14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632.

 The Company will endeavour to address all substantial and relevant questions received from shareholders 
on 20 April 2022 (Wednesday) by publishing the responses to those questions on SGXNet at the URL:  
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements/ and the Company’s website prior to the AGM at the URL:  
http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/. 

 
(5) A shareholder (whether individual or corporate) must submit his/her/its proxy forms in advance and appoint “Chairman of 

the Meeting” to vote on his/her/its behalf if they wish to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the AGM. The Chairman of the 
Meeting, as proxy, need not be a shareholder of the Company. 

 Where shareholder (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy, he/she/it must 
give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in the proxy form, failing which the 
appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid. The accompanying proxy 
form for the AGM may be accessed at the Company’s website at the URL: http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/ and has 
also been made available on SGXNet. 

 CPF and SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent 
Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 12 April 2022 (Tuesday), being 7 working days before the date of the AGM. 

 Shareholder can either choose to submit the completed and signed proxy form by the following manners not less than 48 
hours before the time appointed for the AGM by 9:30 a.m. on Saturday, 23 April 2022:-

 (i) If submitted by post, be deposited at the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. 
at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632; or

 (ii) If submitted electronically, via email to srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com.

 Shareholder who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy must first download, complete and sign the proxy form, before 
submitting it by post to the address provided above, or scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above. 

 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, 
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of shareholder whose shares are entered against his/
her name in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument of proxy lodged if such shareholder, being the 
appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register 72 hours before the time 
appointed for holding the meeting, as certified by the Depository to the Company.

 In view of the current COVID-19 situation and the related safe distancing measures which may take it difficult for 
shareholders to submit completed proxy form by post, shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit completed 
proxy forms electronically via email.

 
(6) The Annual Report 2021 and the Letter to the Shareholders in relation to the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase 

Mandate have been published on the Company’s website at http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/ and may be accessed 
on the SGXNet at the URL: https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements/.  
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Due to the constantly evolving COVID-19 situation in Singapore, the Company may be required to change the arrangements 
for the AGM at short notice. Shareholders are advised to check the announcement on SGXNet for the latest updates on the 
status of the AGM.

Personal Data Privacy

Where shareholder of the Company submits an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote 
at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, shareholder of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the 
shareholder’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company 
(or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and 
compilation of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment 
thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 
(collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the shareholder discloses the personal data of the shareholder’s proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the shareholder has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/
or representative(s) for the Purposes, (iii) undertakes that the shareholder will only use the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/
or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iv) agrees that the shareholder will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, 
liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the shareholder’s breach of warranty. The shareholder’s personal data 
and the proxy’s and/or representative’s personal data may be disclosed or transferred by the Company to its subsidiaries, its share 
registrar and/or other agents or bodies for any of the Purposes, and retained for such period as may be necessary for the Company’s 
verification and record purposes.
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ANCHUN INTERANTIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.
(Registration No. 200920277C)

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(for the financial year ended 31 December 2021)

IMPORTANT:
1. The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is being convened, and will be held, by electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative 

Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020. The Notice will be 
sent to Shareholders by electronic means via publication on (i) SGX-ST’s website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/com-announcements; and (ii) the Company’s 
corporate website at http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/.

2. Alternative arrangements relating to, among others, attendance, submission of questions in advance and/or voting by proxy at the AGM are set out in the 
Company’s announcement dated 8 April 2022 which has been uploaded together with this Notice of AGM accompanying with the Important Notice on SGXNet 
and the Company’s website on the same day. The announcement and this Notice of AGM may also be accessed at http://www.anchun.com/investor-relations/.

3. As a precautionary measure due to the current COVID-19 situation, shareholder will NOT be able to attend the AGM in person. Shareholders (whether individual 
or corporate) who wish to vote must submit their proxy forms in advance and appoint “Chairman of the Meeting” as their proxy by giving the specific 
instruction to vote. 

4. If a CPF or SRS investor who wishes to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy, he/she should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS 
Operators to submit his/her votes by 12 April 2022 (Tuesday), being 7 working days before the date of AGM.

5. Please read the notes overleaf which contain the instruction on, inter alia, the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as a shareholder’s proxy to 
vote on his/her behalf at the AGM.

I/We*,  (Name) NRIC/Company/Passport No.*  

of  (Address)

being a shareholder/shareholders of ANCHUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD. (the “Company”) hereby 
appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our* proxy to attend and to vote for me/us* on my/your* behalf 
at the AGM of the Company to be held via electronic means on Monday, 25 April 2022 at 9:30 a.m. and 
at any adjournment thereof. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter 
arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof, the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as my/
our* proxy will be treated as invalid.

All resolutions put to the vote at the AGM shall be decided by way of poll.

No. Resolutions For Against Abstain
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. Adoption of Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial 

Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
together with the Independent Auditors’ Report thereon

2. Re-election of Xie Ming as Director

3. Re-election of Xie Ding Zhong as Director

4. Re-election of He Ming Yang as Director 

5. Approval of Directors’ fees for the financial year ending 31 
December 2022

6. Re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company 
AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
7. Authority to issue shares

8. Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

(i) Please note that the short descriptions given above of the Resolutions to be passed do not in any way whatsoever reflect the intent 
and purpose of the Resolutions. The short descriptions have been inserted for convenience only. Shareholders are encouraged to 
refer to the Notice of AGM for the full purpose and intent of the Resolutions to be passed.

(ii) Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” or “Abstain” with a tick [P] within the box provided. Alternatively, please indicate the 
number of votes as appropriate. If you mark the abstain box for a particular resolution, you are directing the Chairman not to vote 
on that resolution on a poll and your votes will not be counted in computing the required majority on a poll.

Dated this  day of  2022

    
Signature of Shareholder(s)   
or Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder    
*Delete where inapplicable

Total Number of Shares held

&



THE SHARE REGISTRAR 
ANCHUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.

(Company No. 200920277C)

BOARDROOM CORPORATE & ADVISORY SERVICES PTE. LTD.
1 HARBOURFRONT AVENUE
#14-07 KEPPEL BAY TOWER

SINGAPORE 098632

AFFIX 
STAMP

Notes:
1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in 

Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore), you should insert that number of shares.  If you have shares registered in 
your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number of shares.  If you have shares entered against your 
name in the Depository Register and the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert the aggregate number of shares entered 
against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company. If no number is 
inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate held by you.

2. As a precautionary measure due to the current COVID-19 situation, shareholder will NOT able to attend the AGM in person. Shareholders 
(whether individual or corporate) who wish to vote must submit their proxy forms in advance and appoint “Chairman of the Meeting” as 
their proxy by giving the specific instruction to vote. The Chairman of the Meeting as proxy, need not be a shareholder of the Company.

 In addition, shareholders who hold shares through Relevant Intermediary (as defined in section 181 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967), 
including CPF and SRS investors, and who wish to participate in the AGM and submit their questions are required to pre-register at the URL: 
https://septusasia.com/anchunfy2021agm by 9:30 a.m. on Saturday, 23 April 2022. 

3. Where shareholder (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy form, he/she/it must give 
specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in the proxy form, failing which the appointment of 
the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

 CPF and SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or 
SRS Operators to submit their votes by Tuesday, 12 April 2022 before the AGM. 

 Shareholder can either choose to submit the completed and signed proxy form by the following manners not less than 48 hours before the 
time appointed for the AGM by 9:30 a.m. on Saturday, 23 April 2022:-

 (i) If submitted by post, be deposited at the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at  
1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632; or

 (ii) If submitted electronically, via email to srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com.

 Shareholder who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy must first download, complete and sign the proxy form, before submitting it by 
post to the address provided above, or scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above. 

 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or 
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing 
a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of shareholder whose shares are entered against his/her name in the Depository Register, the 
Company may reject any instrument of proxy lodged if such shareholder, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against 
his/her name in the Depository Register 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as certified by the Depository to the 
Company.

 In view of the current COVID-19 situation and the related safe distancing measures which may make it difficult for shareholders to 
submit completed proxy forms by post, shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit completed proxy forms electronically via 
email. 

4. The instrument appointing Chairman as proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the 
instrument appointing Chairman as proxy is executed by a corporation, it must be either under its common seal or under the hand of any 
duly authorised officer or attorney duly authorised. The power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which the instrument of proxy is 
signed on behalf of the shareholder or duly certified copy of that power of attorney or other authority (failing previous registration with the 
Company), if required by law, be duly stamped and to be deposited based on the above item 3 (i) or (ii), falling which the proxy form may 
be treated as invalid.

Personal Data Privacy:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the shareholder accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy 
terms set out in the Notice of AGM dated 8 April 2022.
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